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DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR  
2022-2023 

 
Dear Members, 
 
The Board of Directors [“Board”] are pleased to present the 17th Annual Report [“Report”] on 
Business and Operations along with the Audited Financial Statements (Standalone and 
Consolidated) of your Company (“the Company” or “DIAL”) for the financial year ended March 
31, 2023 along with Auditors’ Report thereon. This Directors’ Report, read with the 
Management Discussion and Analysis [MDA] report includes the details of company’s 
financials, business & operations performance and initiatives taken by the Company. 
 
STATE OF THE COMPANY’S AFFAIRS: 
 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE ON STANDALONE BASIS: 
 

Particulars 

31-March-23 31-March-23 31-March-22 31-March-22 

(In ₹/crores 
except EPS) 

(USD Mn.) 
(In ₹/crores 
except EPS) 

(USD Mn.) 

Revenue from Operations 3,989.97 485.57  2914.07 384.48 

Other Income 264.30 32.17 143.27 18.90 

Total Revenue 4,254.27 517.74 3057.34 403.38 

Annual fee to AAI 1,857.67  226.08 192.70* 25.42 

Employee benefits expense 251.98   30.67  228.45 30.14 

Depreciation and Amortization 655.79  79.81 588.29 77.62 

Finance Cost 810.32  98.61  862.48 113.79 

Other expenses 896.52 109.11 779.22 102.81 

Total Expenses 4,472.28 544.27 2651.14 349.79 

(Loss) / Profit before exceptional 
items 

(218.01) (26.53) 406.20 53.59 
 

Exceptional items 59.30 7.22 378.43 49.93 

(Loss) / Profit before taxation (277.31) (33.75) 27.77 3.66 

Total tax (credit) 7.55 0.92 10.09 1.33 

(Loss) / Profit after taxation  (284.86) (34.67) 17.68 2.33 

 Other comprehensive income for 
the year 

(311.73) (37.94) (198.97) (26.25) 
 

Total Comprehensive (loss)/ Income  
for the year 

(596.59) (72.60) (181.29) (23.92) 
 

Earnings Per Share[EPS] (in ₹)  
 

  

-       Basic and Diluted (1.16) - 0.07 - 
*Corresponding annual fee to AAI accrued pursuant to Ind AS 116 Lease Equalization income. 
[Note: Exchange Rate for March 31, 2023 is 1 USD = ₹ 82.170 and for March 31, 2022 is 1 USD = ₹ 75.793 (Source: 
Foreign Exchange Dealers' Association of India)] 



        
 

 
 

REVENUE AND PROFIT ON STANDALONE BASIS: 
 
During the financial year ended March 31, 2023, your Company has recorded a total Revenue 
of ₹ 4,254.27 Crore as against ₹ 3,057.34 Crore in the corresponding previous financial year, 
being increase of ~ 39.15%.  
 
Further, your Company has also recorded the Loss after Tax of ₹ 284.86 Crore for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2023, against the Profit after Tax [PAT] of ₹ 17.68 Crore in the 
corresponding previous financial year ended March 31, 2022.  
  
The above said decrease in PAT is mainly due to payment of annual fee to Airports Authority 

of India during the current year. 

 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE ON CONSOLIDATED BASIS: 
 

Particulars 

31-March-23 31-March-23 31-March-22 31-March-22 

(₹/crores 
except EPS) 

(USD Mn.) 
(₹/crores 

except EPS) 
(USD Mn.) 

Revenue from Operations  3,989.97  485.57 2914.07 384.48 

Other Income  129.27  15.73 93.27 12.31 

Total Revenue (I)  4,119.24 501.31 3007.34 396.78 

Annual fee to AAI  1,857.67  226.08 192.70 25.42 

Employee benefits expense 251.98 30.67 228.45 30.14 

Depreciation and 
Amortization 

655.79 79.81  588.29 77.62 
 

Finance Cost 810.32 98.61  862.48 113.79 

Other expenses 896.52 109.11  779.22 102.81 

Total Expense (II) 4,472.28 544.27  2651.14 349.79 

(Loss)/Profit before share of 
profit of associates and joint 
ventures and tax [(I)-(II)] 

(353.04) (42.96) 356.20 47.00 
 

Exceptional Items 54.14 6.59 396.66 52.33 

Loss before share of Profit 
/(loss) of associates and joint 
ventures, exceptional items 
and tax 

(407.18) (49.55) (40.46) (5.34) 
 

Share of profit of associates 
and  joint ventures 

146.89 17.88 116.49 15.37 
 

(Loss)/Profit before taxation (260.29) (31.68) 76.03 10.03 

Total tax expense / (credit) 7.55 0.92 (80.66) (10.64) 

(Loss)/Profit for the year   (267.84) (32.60) 156.69 20.67 

Other Comprehensive 
Income 

    



        
 

 
 

A) Items that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss 
in subsequent periods 

    

Re-measurement loss on 
defined benefit plans 

(1.82) (0.22) (0.12) (0.02) 
 

Income tax effect - - - - 

B) Items that will be 
reclassified to profit or loss 
in subsequent periods 

    

Net movement of cash flow 
hedges 

(309.91) (37.72) (198.85) (26.24) 
 

Income tax effect - -  - - 

Share of other 
comprehensive income of 
associate and joint venture 

(0.15) (0.02) (0.14) (0.02) 
 

Total Other Comprehensive 
Income for the year  
(net of tax) (A+B) 

(311.88) (37.96) (199.11) (26.27) 
 

Total Comprehensive 
income for the year (net of 
tax) 

(579.72) (70.55) (42.42) (5.60) 
 

Earnings Per Share (in ₹)     

-       Basic and Diluted (1.09) -  0.64 - 
[Note: Exchange Rate for March 31, 2023 is 1 USD = ₹ 82.170 and for March 31, 2022 is 1 USD = ₹ 75.793 (Source: 
Foreign Exchange Dealers' Association of India)] 

 
REVENUE AND PROFIT ON CONSOLIDATED BASIS:  
 
The consolidated revenue has increased by ~36.97 %, from ₹ 3,007.34 crores in Financial Year 

2021-2022 to ₹ 4,119.24 in Financial Year 2022-2023. 

 
PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND 
ASSOCIATES: 
 
The following are the highlights of the performance and financial position of the subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates and their contribution to the overall performance of the 
Company during the period of this Report. 
 
(i) SUBSIDIARIES: 

 
Your Company does not have any subsidiary as on March 31, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 



        
 

 
 

(ii) JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES:  
 
Your Company is a Joint Venture (JV) Partner in the Special Purpose Vehicles (SPVs) formed 

by the successful bidders in key business areas like Duty Free, Cargo, Food & Beverage, 

Vehicle Parking Facilities, Fuel Farm, Advertisement and Bridge Mounted Equipment.  

 

The performance and financial position of the JVs and Associates during financial year 

2022-2023 are as follows: 

                                                                                              (₹ Crore) 

S. 
No. 

Name of Joint 
Venture 
Company/ 
Associates 

Total 
Share 
Capital 

Reserves 
and 
Surplus 

Total 
Assets 

Total 
Liabilities 

Turnover

/Total 
Income 

Profit 
Before 
Taxation 

Profit 
after 
Taxation 

% of 
Equity 
Sharehol
ding of 
DIAL 

1 

Celebi Delhi 
Cargo Terminal 
Management 
India Private 
Limited 

112 98.34 628.75 417.16 597.39 113.89 84.72 26.00% 

2 
Delhi Aviation 
Fuel Facility 
Private Limited 

164 95.36 641.85 382.49 106.01 31.15 23.09 26.00% 

3 

Travel Food 
Services (Delhi 
T3) Private 
Limited 

14 13.21 52.79 25.58 173.02 28.57 21.44 40.00% 

4 
Delhi Duty Free 
Services Private 
Limited 

80 492.51 824.45 251.94 1579.21 289.49 266.76 49.90% 

5 

TIM Delhi 
Airport 
Advertisement 
Private Limited 

18.48 83.95 173.83 71.41 303.42 30.07 22.50 49.90% 

6 

Delhi Airport 
Parking 
Services Private 
Limited  

81.44 8.00 336.00 246.56 192.46 33.86 23.88 49.90% 

7 
Delhi Aviation 
Services Private 
Limited 

25 3.96 31.28 2.32 1.39 (7.50) (7.50) 50.00% 

8 
GMR Bajoli Holi 
Hydro Power 
Private Limited 

538 (460.87
) 

3342.43 3265.30 275.64 (266.24
) 

(209.94) 20.14% 

9 
DIGI Yatra 
Foundation 

0.001 (0.87) 0.00 0.87 - (0.10) (0.10) 14.80% 



        
 

 
 

During the year under review, there is no change in the business of the Company, any of its 

above-mentioned Joint Ventures and Associates.  

 
Further, due to inordinate delay in commencement of operation in GMR Bajoli Holi 

Hydropower Private Limited and basis the valuation report of the external valuer as at March 

31, 2023, the Company has created a provision for diminution in its investment in GMR Bajoli 

Holi Private Limited for ₹ 66.06 crores (March 31, 2022: ₹ 51.60 crores).  

 

During the financial year under review, the shareholding of the Company in Digi Yatra 

Foundation (DYF) reduced from 22.20 % to 14.80 % on June 14, 2022.  

 

There are no new companies which have become or ceased to be JV and Associates during the 

financial year under review.   

   

Further, a statement containing the salient features of the Financial Statements of subsidiaries, 

associate companies or joint ventures in the prescribed form AOC–1 under the provisions of 

the Companies Act, 2013 is enclosed as Annexure - A to this Report. 

 
DIVIDEND & APPROPRIATIONS: 
 
Since your Company is in expansion stage, hence, your Company has not proposed any 

dividend and necessary amount has been transferred to reserves. 

 
SENIOR SECURED FOREIGN CURRENCY NOTES 2022, 2026 and 2029 LISTED WITH SINGAPORE 

STOCK EXCHANGE: 

 

Issued on 
Amount 

(US$ Mn.) 
Coupon ISIN Due  Remarks 

October 31, 
2016 

522.60 6.125% USY2R27RAB56 
and 

US246725AB18 
under 

Regulation S 
and Rule 144A 
respectively. 

October 2026 - 

June 04, 2019 350.00 6.45% USY2R40TAB40 
and 

US246724AA69 
under 

Regulation S 
and Rule 144A 
respectively. 

June 2029 - 



        
 

 
 

 

During the financial year under review, the interest (half yearly) on such aforementioned 

Senior Secured Foreign Currency Notes issued by the Company was paid by the Company on 

their determined due dates. 

 
NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES [NCDs]: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

February 25, 
2020 
[Tapping] 

150.00 6.45% Same as above. June 2029 - 

Total 1022.6     

Issued on 
Amount 

(₹) 
Coupon 

ISIN and 
Ratings 

Due 
Listed/ 

Unlisted 
Remarks 

March 30, 2021 3257,09,84,700 10.964% INE657H07011 
 

Unrated. 

October 2025 Unlisted The 
Company is 
in the 
process of 
partial 
redemption 
of these 
NCDs. 

June 22, 2022 1000,00,00,000 9.52% p.a. 
payable 
monthly 
(until 36 

months from 
date of 

allotment) 
and 9.98% 

p.a. payable 
monthly 
(from 37 

months until 
60 months 
from the 
date of 

allotment) 

INE657H08019 
 

A+ with stable 
outlook. 

June 2027 Listed - 

Total 4257,09,84,700      



        
 

 
 

NCDs Issued post closure of the Financial Year: 
 
A. UNSECURED (FOR THE PURPOSES OF COMPANIES ACT, 2013 AND APPLICABLE SEBI 

REGULATIONS), LISTED, RATED, REDEEMABLE, NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES DUE APRIL 
2030: 

 
Post closure of the financial year 2022-2023 till the date of this Report, your Company has 

raised ₹ 1,200 crores in April, 2023 by issuing unsecured (for the purposes of Companies 

Act, 2013 and applicable SEBI regulations), listed, rated, redeemable, Non-Convertible 

Debentures (NCDs), (ISIN: INE657H08027) due in 2030. The coupon rate on the NCDs are 

9.75% per annum, payable quarterly subject to rating linked reset and reset after 5 years 

from April 13, 2023. The NCDs got listed on BSE Limited on April 17, 2023 and were initially 

subscribed by ICICI Bank Limited, Barclays Bank PLC – Mumbai branch, Tata Capital 

Financial Services Limited, The HongKong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited – 

Mumbai, India Infrastructure Finance Company Limited and Aditya Birla Finance Limited. 

The proceeds from the NCDs will be utilized to partly finance the Phase 3A Expansion 

project of the Company.  

The Debentures have been rated “ICRA A+” with Positive outlook by ICRA Limited and “IND 

A+” with Positive outlook by India Ratings and Research (A Fitch Group Company).  

 
REGULATORY:  
 
The Airports Economic Regulatory Authority (AERA) has issued order no. 57/2020-21 for third 

control period on December 30, 2020 allowing your Company to continue with Base Airport 

Charges (BAC) + 10% tariff for the balance period of third control period plus compensatory 

tariff in lieu of Fuel Throughput Charges (FTC). AERA has allowed your Company to levy 

compensatory tariff in lieu of Fuel Throughput Charges on ticket issued on or after February 

01, 2021 at the rate of ₹ 65.98 per embarking passenger up till March 31, 2021 and ₹ 53.00,     

₹ 52.56 and ₹ 51.97 for FY 2022, FY 2023 and FY 2024 respectively. 

 

DIAL had filed appeal before Hon’ble Supreme Court on July 21, 2018 against Telecom Disputes 

Settlement and Appellate Tribunal (TDSAT) order dated April 23, 2018 with respect to First 

Control period. The Judgement was pronounced by Hon’ble Supreme Court on July 11, 2022 

where all appeals were dismissed, except on issue relating to aeronautical tax, where DIAL’s 

contention has been accepted that the Annual Fee paid by DIAL should not be deducted from 

expenses pertaining to aeronautical services before calculating the ‘T’ element in the formula.  

 

The Judgement on DIAL’s appeal related to Cargo handling (CHS) and Ground Handling (GHS) 

was pronounced by TDSAT on January 13, 2023, where TDSAT, referring to its own judgment 

dated April 23, 2018 and Hon’ble Supreme Court’s Order dated July 11, 2022 reiterated that 

CHS and GHS are Non-Aeronautical services in nature as per Operation, Management and 



        
 

 
 

Development Agreement (OMDA). Since, CHS and GHS are non-aeronautical as per the OMDA 

and State Support Agreement (SSA), DIAL also has the power to determine tariff for both the 

services. In view of the order issued by TDSAT, AERA has further appealed before the Hon’ble 

Supreme Court where hearing is scheduled for August 2023. 

 

In respect to CP-2 & CP-3 appeal at TDSAT, arguments have been concluded and the matter 

has been reserved for judgment. 

 
AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REPORT: 
  
M/s. Walker Chandiok & Co. LLP and M/s. K.S. Rao & Co. are the Joint Statutory Auditors of the 

Company. 

 

M/s. K.S. Rao & Co., Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 003109S) were re-appointed 

as one of the Joint Statutory Auditors by the members of the Company in the 16th Annual 

General meeting held on September 05, 2022, for a period of 5 years. 

 

M/s. Walker Chandiok & Co. LLP, Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration No. 

001076N/N500013) was appointed as one of the Joint Statutory Auditors by the members of 

the Company in the 13th Annual General Meeting held on September 25, 2019, for a period of 

5 years. 

 

The Auditors Report and Notes on financial statements referred in the Financial Statements 

are self-explanatory and do not call for any further comments. The Auditors’ Report does not 

contain any qualification, reservation or adverse remark, except the “Emphasis of Matter 

(EOM)” on payment of Monthly Annual Fee to Airport Authority of India (AAI). 

 
REPORTING OF FRAUD BY AUDITORS: 
 
During the financial year under review, neither Statutory Auditors, Internal Auditor, Cost 

Auditor nor Secretarial Auditor has reported to the Audit Committee under section 143 of the 

Companies Act, 2013, any instance of fraud committed against the Company by its officers or 

employees, the details of which needs to be mentioned in the Report. 

 

COST RECORDS AND COST AUDIT: 
 
Maintenance of cost records and requirement of cost audit as prescribed under the provisions 

of Section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Cost Records and 

Audit) Rules, 2014, are applicable on the Company and accordingly, such accounts and records 

are made and maintained by the Company and the said cost records are also required to be 

audited.  

 



        
 

 
 

Your Company is maintaining all the cost records referred above and M/s. Narasimha Murthy 

& Co. - Cost Auditors, have issued a cost audit report for the financial year 2022-2023 which 

does not contain any qualification, reservation, or adverse remark. 

 

The Board, on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, has re-appointed M/s. Narasimha 

Murthy & Co., Cost Accountants (Firm Reg. No. 000042) as Cost Auditors of the Company for 

conducting the audit of cost records of the Company for the financial year 2023-2024. 

 

Accordingly, a resolution seeking ratification of the remuneration to M/s. Narasimha Murthy 

& Co. - Cost Auditors by the members of the Company is included in the Notice of the ensuing 

Annual General Meeting. 

 
SECRETARIAL AUDITORS’ AND AUDIT REPORT: 
 
The Board of Directors had appointed Mr. Maneesh Gupta - Practising Company Secretary, to 

conduct the Secretarial Audit of the Company. The Secretarial Audit Report for the financial 

year ended March 31, 2023 is enclosed as Annexure - C. The Secretarial Audit Report does not 

contain any qualifications, reservations or adverse remarks. 

 
DEPOSITS: 
The Company has not accepted any Deposits during the year under review, therefore, no 

disclosure as per Rule 8(5) of The Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 is required. 

 
ANNUAL RETURN: 
 

Pursuant to Section 92(3) read with Section 134(3)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013, the Annual 

Return as on March 31, 2023, is available on the Company’s website on 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/corporate/our-company.  

   
REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE: 
 
Your Company works towards continuous improvement in governance practices and 

processes, in compliance with the statutory requirements. The Report on Corporate 

Governance as stipulated under relevant provisions of SEBI LODR forms part of the Annual 

Report. The requisite Certificate from the Statutory Auditors confirming compliance with the 

conditions of Corporate Governance is attached to the said Report. 

MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND COMMITTEES: 
 
Details in respect of Meetings of the Board and Committees are provided in Corporate 
Governance report, forming part of the Directors Report.  
 
 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/corporate/our-company


        
 

 
 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR): 
 
As per the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder, 
the annual report on CSR activities and initiatives of the Company for the financial year 2022-
2023 is enclosed as Annexure - B. 
 
DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT: 
 
To the best of their knowledge and belief and according to the information and explanations 

obtained by them, your Directors make the following statements in terms of Section 134(3)(c) 

of the Companies Act, 2013:  

a) that in the preparation of the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 

2023, the applicable accounting standards had been followed along with proper 

explanation relating to material departures, if any;  

 

b) that such accounting policies as mentioned the Notes to the Financial Statements have 

been selected and applied consistently and judgments and estimates have been made that 

are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the 

company as at March 31, 2023 and of the loss of the company for the year ended on that 

date;  

 

c) that proper and sufficient care has been taken for the maintenance of adequate accounting 

records in accordance with the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 for safeguarding the 

assets of the company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;  

 

d) that the Annual Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis;  

 

e) proper internal financial controls to be followed by the Company have been laid down and 

that such internal financial controls are adequate and were operating effectively.  

 

f) that proper systems have been devised to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 

applicable laws and that such systems were adequate and operating effectively.  

 
SECRETARIAL STANDARDS: 
 
Your Company has complied with applicable Secretarial Standards (SS), i.e. SS-1 and SS-2, 

relating to ‘Meetings of the Board of Directors’ and ‘General Meetings’, respectively, issued by 

The Institute of Company Secretaries of India. 

 
 
 
 



        
 

 
 

DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL: 
 
Appointments: 
 

During the financial year under review, following Director(s) were appointed: 

 

1. Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya (DIN: 01976832) was appointed as an Independent Director of the 

Company w.e.f. September 06, 2022. 

2. Ms. Vidya  Vaidyanathan (DIN: 08366688) was appointed as an Additional Director of the 

Company with effect from November 14, 2022, and regularized in the 18th Extraordinary 

General Meeting of the Company held on February 06, 2023; 

 
Further, Mr. Philippe Pascal (DIN: 08903236), Mr. Regis Lacote (DIN: 09135168), Mr. Anil 

Kumar Pathak (DIN: 08213061) and Ms. Rubina Ali (DIN: 08453990) are the Directors liable to 

retire by rotation and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-appointment in the 

ensuing Annual General Meeting. The Board of Directors has recommended their re-

appointment for the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting. 

 
Cessations or Resignations: 
 
During the financial year under review, the following Cessations/ Resignations took place: 

 

1. Mr. Kakatkar Vinayak Rao [DIN: 00074942] has resigned as a Director of the Company with 

effect from October 31, 2022; 

2. Ms. Siva Kameswari Vissa [DIN: 02336249] ceased to be an Independent Director of the 

Company, owing to the expiry of her 2nd term as Independent Director w.e.f. September 

05, 2022. 

 

The Board of Directors places on record its deep appreciation for the services and support 

rendered by Mr. Kakatkar Vinayak Rao and Ms. Siva Kameswari Vissa.  

 

Mr. Videh Kumar Jaipuriar - Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Hari Nagrani - Chief Financial Officer 

and Mr. Abhishek Chawla – Company Secretary & Compliance Officer continues to be Key 

Managerial Personnel (KMPs) of the Company.  

 
NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY: 
 
Details in respect of Nomination and Remuneration Policy are provided in Corporate 
Governance report, forming part of the Directors Report. 
 
STATEMENT REGARDING OPINION OF THE BOARD WITH REGARD TO INTEGRITY, EXPERTISE AND 
EXPERIENCE (INCLUDING THE PROFICIENCY) OF THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS APPOINTED 
DURING THE YEAR: 



        
 

 
 

 
Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya (DIN: 01976832) was appointed as an independent director by the 

Company during the financial year under review. Considering her deep repository of 

knowledge and experience (including the proficiency), integrity, expertise, sharp business 

acumen, and as a strong votary of the highest standards of corporate governance, the Board 

of Directors were of the opinion that it would be in the interest of the Company to appoint her 

as an Independent Director. 

 
DECLARATIONS BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS: 
 
All the independent directors of the Company have submitted their declarations that each of 

them meets the criteria of independence as provided under Section 149(6) of the Companies 

Act, 2013 along with the rules framed thereunder and Regulation 16 of Listing Regulations. 

There has been no change in the circumstances affecting their status as independent directors 

of the Company.  

 

During the financial year under review, the independent directors of the Company had no 

pecuniary relationship or transactions with the Company, except as disclosed in this Report. 

 

Basis the declarations received from the independent directors and the disclosures made by 

them, the Board, acknowledging the veracity of the same, has concluded that the independent 

directors are the persons of integrity and qualify as such and that they are independent of the 

Management of the Company. 

 

In terms of Section 150 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 6 of the Companies 

(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, the names of all the independent 

directors of the Company are forming part of the data bank maintained by the Indian Institute 

of Corporate Affairs. 

 
SEPARATE MEETING OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS: 
 
Details in respect of separate meeting of Independent Directors are provided in Corporate 
Governance report, forming part of the Directors Report. 
 
BOARD EVALUATION: 

 
Details in respect of Board Evaluation are provided in Corporate Governance report, forming 
part of the Directors Report. 
 
PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS AS PER SECTION 186: 
 
Your Company being an Infrastructure Company, the provisions of Section 186 of the 

Companies Act, 2013, except sub-section (1), are not applicable to the Company. 



        
 

 
 

 

The details of Investments already made by the Company form part of the notes to the 

Financial Statements in the Annual Report and there were no other investments made by 

the Company, except Treasury Investments in Deposits, Mutual Funds, Commercial Papers 

etc. 

  
PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES AS PER SECTION 
188 AND SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND 
DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015: 
 
All contracts/arrangements/transactions entered by the Company during the financial year 

2022-2023 with related parties were in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s length 

basis. 

 

However, the approval of the Board of Directors were obtained for all the 

contracts/arrangements entered into with Group Entities during the financial year, pursuant 

to the requirements of the Operation, Management & Development Agreement (OMDA) 

executed by the Company with Airports Authority of India (AAI). As a good corporate 

governance practice, necessary disclosures as required under the provisions of Section 188 of 

the Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made thereunder and the Listing Regulations read 

with applicable SEBI Circulars were made to the Board of Directors at the time of obtaining 

their approval. Although the provisions of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not 

applicable, the details of all such contracts/arrangements are enclosed in the format of AOC-2 

as Annexure - D.  

 

Further, pursuant to the applicable provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 

Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 [“Listing Regulations”], your 

Company has made adequate related party disclosures as specified in Regulation 53 read with 

Para A of Schedule V of the Listing Regulations.  

 
The members may refer Note No. 36 to the Standalone Financial Statement which sets out 

related party disclosure pursuant to Ind AS.  

 
MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS, IF ANY AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL POSITION: 
 
There are no material changes and commitments affecting the financial position of the 
Company after the end of financial year till the date of this Report. 
 
CHANGE IN THE NATURE OF BUSINESS, IF ANY: 
 
During the financial year 2022-2023, there is no change in the nature of business of your 
Company. 
 



        
 

 
 

CHANGE IN THE SHARE CAPITAL, IF ANY: 
 
During the financial year 2022-2023, there is no change in the Share Capital of your Company. 
 
CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
EARNING AND OUTGO: 
 
The particulars relating to conservation of energy, technology absorption, foreign exchange 

earnings and outgo, as required to be disclosed under the Act, are provided in Annexure - E to 

the Report. The details of Foreign Exchange earnings and outgo are given in the Note No. 42 

(d)(i) to (vi) “Other Disclosures” to the Notes to Accounts to the standalone financial 

statements as enclosed. 

 
DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY: 

 

GMR Group’s Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) philosophy is “To integrate the process for 

managing risk across GMR Group and throughout its businesses and lifecycle to enable 

protection and enhancement of stakeholder value.” 

 

Your Company, in line with Group ERM policy, has developed, adopted and implemented its 

Enterprise Risk Management framework to identify risk elements and their potential impact 

which may affect the organization. Your Company continues to monitor and manage risks by 

providing reasonable assurance for achievement of its business objectives. During the 

Organizational Strategy Planning process, all potential risks emerging from environment scan 

discussions and deliberations between your Company’s Senior Management, are captured and 

a consolidated list of top risks is prepared and reviewed periodically. 

 

Further, in order to stay competitive and bring in industry best practices, your Company 

refreshed its existing risk management framework in 2021 and also defined the organizational 

risk policy to proactively counter new and upcoming risks. Your Company has been periodically 

reviewing the enterprise risk library as part of its risk monitoring mechanism. While there were 

no risks perceived to threaten the existence of your Company, following have been identified 

as certain key risks, which are being monitored at regular intervals along with mitigating 

measures: 

1. Strategic Risk such as Reputational Risk, Competition risk, Political risk, Market and credit 

risk, etc. 

2. Operational risks – Physical risk, Technology risk, Project execution risk, Human resource 

risk, Information security etc.  

3. Financial risks – Liquidity risk, financial reporting risk, treasury risk etc. 

4. Governance risks – Legal / Regulatory risk, EHS risk etc. 

5. Force majeure events like pandemic, earthquake disrupting entire aviation value chain and 

the larger economy, 



        
 

 
 

 

Your Company incorporated an agile strategy to create crisis escalation procedures duly 

monitored by the management team on periodic basis. Rather than a ‘wait and see’ approach, 

your Company responded swiftly and acted rapidly on contingencies to ensure business 

continuity. Through extensive outreach and collaboration with all stakeholders and aligning 

ERM within our strategy, your Company positioned itself to reduce business loss and seize 

business opportunities that might otherwise have been missed. 

 

Further, as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations the 

Enterprise Risk Management Policy was approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting held 

on July 29, 2022. 

 
DISCLOSURE OF POLICY ON WHISTLE BLOWER / VIGIL MECHANISM: 
 
Details in respect of disclosure of Policy on Whistle Blower / Vigil Mechanism are provided in 
Corporate Governance report, forming part of the Directors Report. 
 

SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY THE REGULATOR OR COURTS OR TRIBUNALS 
IMPACTING THE GOING CONCERN STATUS AND COMPANY’S OPERATIONS IN FUTURE: 
 
There are no significant and material orders passed by the regulator or courts or tribunals 

impacting the going concern status and Company’s operations in future, except as explained 

in this Report under the Regulatory section. 

 
ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS WITH REFERENCE TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS:   
 
Your Company has adopted policies and procedures including the design, implementation and 

maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for 

ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the 

Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of fraud and 

errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records and the timely preparation 

of reliable financial disclosures under the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations.  

  

These controls are embedded in various business processes and are evaluated across all 

functional areas independently by Management Assurance Group (Internal Auditors) during 

audits.  

 
Mitigation plans are put in place to strengthen the controls where weaknesses have been 

identified during the review and the testing results are reported to the Audit Committee on 

regular basis. 

 



        
 

 
 

During the financial year 2022-2023, no reportable material weakness observed in the design 

or operating effectiveness of the controls except few areas where the risk has been identified 

as low and there is a need to further strengthen the controls. 

 
DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, 
PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013: 
 
Details in respect of disclosure under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 are provided in Corporate Governance 
report, forming part of the Directors Report. 
 
TRANSFERS TO THE INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND: 
 
There is no transfer to the investor education and protection fund during the financial year 
ended March 31, 2023. 
 
INSURANCE: 
 
The Company’s properties including building etc. have been adequately insured against major 
risks. 
 
PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING: 
 
Details in respect of prevention of insider trading are provided in Corporate Governance 
report, forming part of the Directors Report. 
 
FAMILIARISATION PROGRAMME FOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS: 
 
Details in respect of Familiarisation Programme for Independent Directors are provided in 
Corporate Governance report, forming part of the Directors Report. 
 
GREEN INITIATIVE: 
 
Electronic copies of the Annual Report 2022-23 and the Notice of the 17th Annual General 
Meeting are sent to all members whose email addresses are registered with the Company/ 
RTA. The hard copy of Annual Report 2022-23 will be sent only to those shareholders who 
request for the same.  
 
DISCLOSURE UNDER INSOLVENCY AND BANKRUPTCY CODE, 2016: 
 
During the financial year under review, no Corporate Insolvency Resolution Process (CIRP) was 
initiated or pending against your Company, under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 
(IBC) as amended. 
 
 
 



        
 

 
 

BOARD POLICIES: 
 
The details of the policies including Policy on Related Party Transactions (RPT) approved and 

adopted by the Board of Directors as required under the Companies Act, 2013 and Securities 

and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) regulations are available on the Company’s website, at 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/corporate/our-company. 

 
GENERAL: 
 
Your directors further state that no disclosure or reporting is required in respect of various 

items, which are only applicable to Equity listed companies or where there were no 

transactions or event during the financial year under review viz. Issue of Equity Shares with 

differential voting rights, Sweat Equity, ESOP, remuneration details of top ten employees, 

Change in the nature of Business, receipt of commission by Managing Director (MD) or Whole-

time Director (WTD) from Subsidiaries etc. 

 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: 
 
Your Directors take this opportunity to express their sincere thanks and gratitude to the 

Government of India, Government of National Capital Territory of Delhi, Ministry of Civil 

Aviation, Airports Authority of India, BSE Limited, Airports Economic Regulatory Authority of 

India, Directorate General of Civil Aviation, Bureau of Civil Aviation Security, IATA, ACI, Airlines, 

CISF, Delhi Police, various departments/agencies of Central Government State Government, 

other agencies, users, customers of the Airport, Investors, Bankers and Financial Institutions, 

GMR Group and Fraport AG Frankfurt Airport Services Worldwide, for their co-operation. 

 

Your Directors’ place on record their sincere appreciation of the contributions made by the 

employees at all levels through their hard work, dedication, solidarity and support. 

 
 
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Delhi International Airport Limited 
 
Sd/-                                                         Sd/- 
G.B.S. Raju      K. Narayana Rao 
Managing Director  Whole-Time Director 
DIN: 00061686      DIN: 00016262 
Place: New Delhi     Place: New Delhi  
 
Date:  August 14, 2023  
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REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

I. Company’s Philosophy on Code of Governance 

 

Corporate governance involves a set of relationships between a company’s management, its 
board, its shareholders and other stakeholders. Corporate governance also provides the structure 
through which the objectives of the company are set, and the means of attaining those objectives 
and monitoring performance are determined. It helps define the way authority as well as 
responsibilities are allocated and how decisions are taken. Good governance aims at achieving 
high levels of accountability, efficiency, responsibility, transparency, and fairness in all areas of 
operation to increase the confidence of investors and other stakeholders. Your Company has a 
large number of stakeholders in all spheres of business and society. It will be our endeavor to 
constantly promote and enhance the stakeholders’ legitimate interests. 

 

Ethics / Governance Policies 

 

The Company endeavors to conduct its businesses and strengthen relationships in a manner that 

is dignified, distinctive and responsible. The Company adheres to ethical standards to ensure 

integrity, transparency, independence and accountability in dealing with all the stakeholders. 

Therefore, the Company has adopted various codes and policies to carry out its duties in an ethical 

manner. Some of these codes and policies are: 

 

 Code of conduct for Directors and Senior Managerial Personnel.Code of Business Conduct and 

Ethics applicable to all employees. 

 Code of Conduct for Prevention of Insider Trading and Code of Practices and Procedures for 

Fair Disclosures of Unpublished Price Sensitive Information. 

 Corporate Social Responsibility Policy. 

 Nomination and Remuneration Policy. 

 Policy on Whistle Blower. 

 Policy on Related Party Transactions. 

 Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Policy. 

 Documents Preservation and Archival Policy. 

 Policy for determining material subsidiary.  

 Policy against Sexual Harassment.   

 Anti-Bribery and Anti-Corruption Policy. 

 

 

 

 



 
 

II. Board of Directors 

 

a. Board composition and category of Directors 

 

The Company’s policy is to maintain the optimum combination of Executive and Non-Executive 

Directors. The composition of the Board and category of Directors is as follows:  

 

Category Name of the Directors 

Executive Directors Mr. G. M. Rao (Executive Chairman) 

Mr. G.B.S. Raju (Managing Director) 

Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao (Executive Director) 

Mr. Kada Narayana Rao (Whole-time Director) 

Non-Executive & Non-

Independent Directors  

Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar  

Mr. Srinivas Bommidala  

Mr. Philippe Pascal 

Mr. Regis Lacote 

Mr. Anil Kumar Pathak 

Ms. Rubina Ali 

Ms. Vidya Vaidyanathan 

Ms. Denitza Weismantel 

Mr. Matthias Engler (Alternate Director to Ms. Denitza Weismantel) 

Independent Non-Executive 

Directors 

Mr. Subba Rao Amarthaluru 

Dr. Mundayat Ramachandran 

Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao 

Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya 

 

The category of Non-Executive directors who are not independent directors as per the provisions 

of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 16 of SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”), are mentioned as Non-Executive - Non 

Independent Director. However, as per the explanation provided under Regulation 16, In case of 

a ‘high value debt listed entity’: (a) which is a body corporate, mandated to constitute its board of 

directors in a specific manner in accordance with the law under which it is established, the non- 

executive directors on its board shall be treated as independent directors. 

 

Accordingly, the Non-Executive directors of the Company would be considered as Independent 

Directors for the purpose of Listing Regulations. 

 



 
 

Mr. G. M. Rao is the father of Mr. G. B. S. Raju and Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar. Mr. Srinivas 

Bommidala is the son-in-law of Mr. G.M. Rao and, therefore, are deemed to be related to each 

other. None of the other Directors are related to any other Director on the Board. 

 

b. Attendance of Directors at Board Meetings, last Annual General Meeting (AGM) and number of 

other Directorships and Chairmanships / Memberships of Committees of each Director in 

various Companies and shareholding in Delhi International Airport Limited : 

 

Sl. 

No. 

Name of 

Director 

DIN ^ Category 

@ 

Number of 

other 

Directorships 

held in other 

Public Limited 

Companies as 

on March 31, 

2023# 

Number of 

committee 

Chairmanships 

/ memberships 

held in other 

Public Limited 

Companies as 

on March 31, 

2023##  

Board Meetings 

during the period 

from April 01, 2022 

to March 31, 2023 

Whether 

present at 

the 

Previous 

AGM 

held on 

September 

05, 2022 

No. of shares/ 

Convertible 

Instruments 

held as on 

March 31, 

2023$$ 

Chairm

an 

Direc

tor 

Chairm

an 

Mem

ber 

Held 

during the 

tenure 

Attende

d$ 

1.  Mr. G.M. Rao 00574243 EC 8 - - - 7 6 No NIL 

2.  Mr. G. B. S. 

Raju 

00061686 MD 4 4 - -  7 5 No NIL 

3.  Mr. Grandhi 

Kiran Kumar 

00061669 NENID 1 6 - - 7 4 No 1  
(Jointly with 

GMR Airports 

Limited) 

4.  Mr. Srinivas 

Bommidala 

00061464 NENID 2 6 - 1 7 6 No 1  
(Jointly with 

GMR Airports 

Limited ) 

5.  Mr. Kada 

Narayana Rao 

00016262 WTD - 1 - 1 7 6 Yes NIL 

6.  Mr. Indana 

Prabhakara 

Rao 

03482239 ED -  5 - 3 7 7 No NIL 

7.  Mr. Philippe 

Pascal 

08903236 NENID -  1 - 1 7 4 No NIL 

8.  Mr. Regis 

Lacote 

09135168 NENID -  2 - - 7 6 No NIL 

9.  Ms. V. Siva 

Kameswari* 

02336249 NEID - 6 2 3 4 4 No NIL 

10.  Dr. M. 

Ramachandran 

01573258 NEID - 9 3 6 7 7 Yes NIL 



 
 

11.  Mr. Anil Kumar 

Pathak 

08213061 NENID 1 4 - - 7 5 No NIL 

12.  Ms. Rubina Ali 08453990 NENID - 2 1 - 7 5 No NIL 

13.  Mr. Kakatkar 

Vinayak Rao* 

00074942 NENID - 2 - - 4 4 Yes NIL 

14.  Ms. Denitza 

Weismantel 

07466436 NENID - - - - 7 2 No NIL 

15.  Mr. Matthias 

Engler  

 

06363447 Alternate 

to Ms. 

Denitza 

Weisman

tel 

- - - - 7 4 Yes NIL 

16.  Dr. Emandi 

Sankara Rao 

05184747 NEID - 6 - 3 7 7 Yes NIL 

17.  Mr. 

Amarthaluru 

Subba Rao 

00082313 NEID - 4 4 1 7 7 Yes NIL 

18.  Ms. Bijal 

Tushar Ajinkya 

01976832 NEID   - 3   1   2 3 3 N.A. NIL 

19.  Ms. Vidya 

Vaidyanathan 

08366688 NENID   - 2 -   2 3 3 N.A. NIL 

^ DIN – Director Identification Number 
@ EC – Executive Chairman, MD - Managing Director, ED – Executive Director, WTD – Whole time Director, 
NENID - Non-Executive Non-Independent Director, NEID - Non-Executive Independent Director. 
# Other companies include directorship in deemed public companies and do not include directorship(s) of this 
Company, private limited companies, Section 8 companies and companies incorporated outside India. 
## Committee means Audit Committee and Stakeholders' Relationship Committee. 
$ Attendance includes participation through video conference 
$$ No convertible instrument was held by the Directors 
* As on March 31, 2023, ceased to be director. 

 

Seven Board Meetings were held during the Financial Year (FY) ended March 31, 2023, i.e., on 

April 27, 2022, May 27, 2022, July 29, 2022, September 01, 2022, November 14, 2022, February 

14, 2023 and March 24. At least one board meeting was held in each quarter and the gap 

between any two consecutive board meetings did not exceed 120 days. 

 

c. Familiarization programs Independent Directors 

The Independent Directors are provided with necessary documents, viz., Company’s corporate 
profile, its Mission, Vision, Values and Beliefs, Organization Structure, the Company’s history and 
milestones, Annual Reports, a brief background on the business of the Company, Institutional 
Building and highlights of its performance, major policies of the Company, Code of Conduct, fund 
raising history etc. Periodic presentations are made to the Board on business and performance 
updates of the Company, global business environment, risk management, company policies and 

https://www.mca.gov.in/mcafoportal/companyLLPMasterData.do


 
 

changes in the regulatory environment applicable to the corporate sector and to the industry in 
which it operates and other relevant issues. The details of such familiarization programs for 
Independent Directors are posted on the website of the Company and can be accessed at 
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-Familiarization-Programme-for-Independent--
Directors.pdf   

 

d. The following is the list of core skills/expertise/competencies identified by the Board of directors 

required for effective functioning as required in the context of the business(es) and sectors for 

it to function effectively, which are available with the Board. The names of directors who have 

such skills/expertise/competencies as identified by the Board are given below:  

 

Area of 
Skills/ 
Expertise 

Mr. 
G.M. 
Rao 

Mr. 
Grand
hi 
Kiran 
Kuma
r 

Mr 
Sriniv
as 
Bom
midal
a 

Mr. 
G.B.
S 
Raju 

Mr. 
Kada 
Naray
ana 
Rao 

Mr. 
Indan
a 
Prabh
akara 
Rao 

Mr. 
Anil 
Kuma
r 
Patha
k 

Ms. 
Rubin
a Ali 

Ms. 
Vidya 
Vaidy
anath
an 

Mr. 
Phili
ppe 
Pas
cal 

Mr. 
Regis 
Lacot
e 

Ms. 
Denit
za 
Weis
mant
el 

Mr.  
A 
Sub
ba 
Rao 

Dr. 
Ema
ndi 
San
kara 
Rao 

Dr. 
M. 
Ra
mac
han
dra
n 

Ms. 
Bijal 
Ajin
kya 

Project 
Manage
ment 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √  - 

Domain/ 
Industry 
Specialist 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Asset 
Manage
ment/ 
Operatio
nal 
Excellenc
e 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ - √ √ √ √ √ √ √  - 

Business 
Develop
ment & 
Business 
Strategist  

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Organizat
ional 
Learning 
and 
Institutio
nal 
Memory 
and   
Governa
nce 
Consciou
sness 
  

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 
 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-Familiarization-Programme-for-Independent--Directors.pdf
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-Familiarization-Programme-for-Independent--Directors.pdf


 
 

Function
al 
expertise  

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Informati
on 
Technolo
gy 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Finance 
& 
Banking, 
etc.   

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ - √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

Networki
ng 

√ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ 

General 
Attribute
s 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
√ 

Entrepre
neurship 

Understa
nding of   
Domestic
, 
Economi
c, 
Environm
ent, & 
Global 
Issue 

Interpers
onal 
Commun
ication 
skills,  
Leadershi
p Skills 

Soundne
ss of   
Judgmen
t, People 
& 
Process 
Orientati
on 

 

e. Selection of Independent Directors 

 

Taking the requirement of skill sets on the Board into consideration, eminent persons having 

independent standing in their respective field or profession and who can effectively contribute 

to the Company’s business and policy decisions are considered by the Nomination and 



 
 

Remuneration Committee, for appointment, as Independent Directors on the Board. The 

Committee considers qualification, positive attributes, area of expertise, the skillset required for 

Directors of the Company and number of Directorships and Memberships held in various 

committees of other companies by such persons for selection of directors and determining 

directors’ independence. The Board considers the Committee’s recommendations, takes 

appropriate decisions and recommends to the shareholders, the appointment of Independent 

Directors. 

 

The Independent Directors, at the first meeting of the Board in which they participate as 

Directors, thereafter at the first meeting of the Board in every financial year or whenever there 

is any change in the circumstances which may affect their status as an Independent Director, 

give a declaration that they meet the criteria of independence as provided under the Companies 

Act, 2013 and Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (hereinafter referred to as “SEBI LODR”) as amended from 

time to time.  

 

f. Detailed reasons for the resignation of an independent director who resigns before the expiry 

of his/her tenure along with a confirmation by such director that there are no other material 

reasons other than those provided: Not Applicable. 

 
III. Audit Committee 

 

a. Composition of Audit Committee: 

 
Your Company, in compliance with the provisions of Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 
(“Act”) read with rules made thereto and Regulation 18 of the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 [hereinafter 
“Listing Regulations”],  has duly constituted Audit Committee. The composition of the Audit 
Committee of the Board as on March 31, 2023, was as under: 

 

S. No. Name of Members Category of Director Chairman/ Member 

1 Mr. Subba Rao Amarthaluru Independent Director Chairman 

2 Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao Executive Director Member 

3 Ms. Denitza Weismantel  Director Member 

4 Mr. Anil Kumar Pathak Director Member 

5 Dr. M. Ramachandran Independent Director Member 

6 Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya Independent Director Member 

7 Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao Independent Director Member 
- Mr. Philippe Pascal is an Observer in the Audit Committee. 

 



 
 

Mr. Abhishek Chawla- Company Secretary and Compliance Officer, acts as Secretary to the 
Audit Committee. 
 
Mr. Subba Rao Amarthaluru- Chairman of the Audit Committee, had attended the last Annual 
General Meeting held on September 5, 2022 and was available to address the queries of the 
shareholders. 

 
During the financial year under review, the following changes took place in the Audit 
Committee: 

 
1. Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao [DIN: 03482239] ceased to be the Chairman of the Audit 

Committee of the Company with effect from close of business hours of July 29, 2022;  
2. Mr. Subba Rao Amarthaluru [DIN: 00082313] was appointed as Chairman of the Audit 

Committee of the Company with effect from close of business hours of July 29, 2022;  
3. Ms. Siva Kameswari Vissa [DIN: 02336249] ceased to be the member of the Audit 

Committee of the Company with effect from close of business hours of September 5, 2022;  
4. Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya [DIN: 01976832] was appointed as a member of the Audit 

Committee of the Company with effect from close of business hours of September 19, 
2022;  

 
During the financial year under review, the Board of Directors had accepted all the 
recommendations of the Audit Committee. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
b. Meetings and attendance during the year: 

  
During the Financial Year ended March 31, 2023, five meetings of the Audit Committee were 
held i.e., on April 27, 2022, May 27, 2022, July 28, 2022, November 14, 2022 and February 14, 
2023. 
  
The attendance of the Audit Committee members is as under: 

Name of Members No. of the Meetings 

Held during tenure Attended 

Mr. Subba Rao Amarthaluru  5 5 

Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao 5 5 

Dr. M. Ramachandran 5 5 

Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao 5 5 

Mr. Anil Kumar Pathak 5 - 



 
 

   

c. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are as under: 
 

Pursuant to the approval of the Board of Directors of Delhi International Airport Limited [DIAL 
/ Company], and pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”), and the 
applicable provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 [“Listing Regulations”], as applicable, following are 
the Terms of Reference [“ToR”]/ Role of the Audit Committee [“AC”] of the Board of Directors 
of the Company: 

 

S. No. Terms of Reference 

1 oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial 
information to ensure that the financial statement is correct, sufficient and credible;  

2 recommendation for appointment, remuneration and terms of appointment of auditors of 
the Company;  

3 approval of payment to statutory auditors for any other services rendered by the statutory 
auditors; 

4 Reviewing/ examining with the management, the annual financial statements and auditor's 
report thereon before submission to the board for approval, with particular reference to: 

i. matters required to be included in the director’s responsibility statement to be included 
in the board’s report in terms of clause (c) of sub-section (3) of Section 134 of the 
Companies Act, 2013;  

ii. changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices and reasons for the same;  
iii. major accounting entries involving estimates based on the exercise of judgment by 

management;  
iv. significant adjustments made in the financial statements arising out of audit findings;  
v. compliance with listing and other legal requirements relating to financial statements;  

vi. disclosure of any related party transactions;  
vii. modified opinion(s) in the draft audit report;   

5 reviewing, with the management, the quarterly financial statements before submission to 
the board for approval; 

6 reviewing, with the management, the statement of uses / application of funds raised 
through an issue (public issue, rights issue, preferential issue, etc.), the statement of funds 
utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer document / prospectus / notice 
and the report submitted by the monitoring agency monitoring the utilisation of proceeds/ 
end use of funds of a public issue/ offer or rights issue and related matters, and making 
appropriate recommendations to the board to take up steps in this matter; 

Ms. Denitza Weismantel 5 1 

Mr. Matthias Engler  
(Alternate to Ms. Denitza Weismantel) 

5 3 

Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya 2 2 

Ms. V. Siva Kameswari 3 3 



 
 

7 reviewing and monitoring the auditor’s independence and performance, and effectiveness 
of audit process; 

8 approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the Company with related 
parties;  

9 scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;  

10 valuation of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it is necessary;  

11 evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management systems;  

12 reviewing, with the management, performance of statutory and internal auditors, adequacy 
of the internal control systems; 

13 reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, if any, including the structure of the 
internal audit department, staffing and seniority of the official heading the department, 
reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal audit; 

14 discussion with internal auditors of any significant findings and follow up there on;  

15 reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters 
where there is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a 
material nature and reporting the matter to the board;  

16 discussion with statutory auditors before the audit commences, about the nature and scope 
of audit as well as post-audit discussion to ascertain any area of concern;  

17 to look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture 
holders, shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors;  

18 to review the functioning of the Vigil Mechanism/ Whistle Blower policy. 

19 approval of appointment of chief financial officer after assessing the qualifications, 
experience and background, etc. of the candidate;  

20 Carrying out any other function as is mentioned in these terms of reference of the audit 
committee.  

21 reviewing the utilization of loans and/ or advances from/investment by the holding company 
in the subsidiary exceeding rupees 100 crore or 10% of the asset size of the subsidiary, 
whichever is lower including existing loans / advances / investments existing as on the date 
of coming into force of this provision. 

22 consider and comment on rationale, cost-benefits and impact of schemes involving merger, 
demerger, amalgamation etc., on the Company and its shareholders. 



 
 

23 The audit committee shall mandatorily review the following information: 
i. the management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations. 
ii. the management letters / letters of internal control weaknesses issued by the statutory 

auditors. 
iii. the internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses. 
iv. the appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the chief internal auditor shall 

be subject to review by the audit committee. 
v. statement of deviations: 

(a) quarterly statement of deviation(s) including report of monitoring agency, if 
applicable, submitted to stock exchange(s) in terms of Regulation 32(1). 

(b) annual statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer 
document/prospectus/notice in terms of Regulation 32(7). 

24 the Audit Committee may make omnibus approval for related party transactions proposed 
to be entered into by the company subject to such conditions as may be prescribed under 
the provisions of the Act and Listing Regulations. 
In case of transaction, other than transactions referred to in section 188 of the Act, and 
where Audit Committee does not approve the transaction, it shall make its 
recommendations to the Board: 
 
In case any transaction involving any amount not exceeding one crore rupees is entered into 
by a director or officer of the company without obtaining the approval of the Audit 
Committee and it is not ratified by the Audit Committee within three months from the date 
of the transaction, such transaction shall be voidable at the option of the Audit Committee 
and if the transaction is with the related party to any director or is authorised by any other 
director, the director concerned shall indemnify the company against any loss incurred by 
it. 

25 Any other matter as may be referred by the Board from time to time and as may be 
required by the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations, as amended from time to 
time or under any other applicable law or statute. 

26 The Company Secretary shall review compliance under the SEBI (Prohibition of Insider 
Trading) Regulations, 2015 on periodical basis and update the Audit Committee at least once 
in a financial year and Audit committee shall verify that Internal control systems are 
adequate and are operating effectively. 

 
 
 

IV. NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE: 

 
a. Composition of Nomination and Remuneration Committee: 

 
Your Company, in compliance with the provisions of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 
[“Act”] read with rules made thereto and Regulation 19 of Listing Regulations has duly 



 
 

constituted Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The composition of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors as on March 31, 2023, was as under: 

 
Mr. Abhishek Chawla- Company Secretary and Compliance Officer, acts as the Secretary to the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
 
Dr. Mundayat Ramachandran, who was the Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee had attended the last Annual General Meeting held on September 5, 2022 and was 
available to address the queries of the shareholders.   
 
Further, during the financial year under review, the following changes took place in the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee: 

 
1. Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar [DIN: 00061669] ceased to be the Chairman of the Nomination 

and Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from close of business hours of 
July 29, 2022;  

2. Dr. M. Ramachandran [DIN: 01573258] was appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from close of business hours of 
July 29, 2022;  

3. Ms. Siva Kameswari Vissa [DIN: 02336249] ceased to be the member of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from close of business hours of 
September 5, 2022;  

4. Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya [DIN: 01976832] was appointed as member of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from close of business hours of 
September 19, 2022;  

 
 

b. Meetings and attendance during the year: 

  
During the Financial Year ended March 31, 2023, one meeting of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee was held i.e., on July 28, 2022. 
  
The attendance of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee members is as under: 

S. No. Name of Members Category of Director Chairman/ Member 

1 Dr. M. Ramachandran Independent Director   Chairman 

2 Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar Director Member 

3 Ms. Denitza Weismantel Director Member 

4 Ms. Rubina Ali Director Member 

5 Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya Independent Director   Member 

6 Mr.  Amarthaluru Subba Rao  Independent Director   Member 

7 Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao  Independent Director   Member 

8 Mr. Regis Lacote Director Member 



 
 

 
c. The terms of reference of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are as under: 

 
Pursuant to the approval of the Board of Directors of Delhi International Airport Limited [“DIAL 
/ Company”], and pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 [the “Act”], and the 
applicable provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 [“Listing Regulations”], as applicable, following are 
the Terms of Reference [“ToR”]/ Role of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee [“NRC”] 
of the Board of Directors of the Company: 
 

S. No. Terms of Reference 

1 formulation of the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and 
independence of a director and recommend to the board of directors a policy relating to, 
the remuneration of the directors, key managerial personnel and other employees,  after 
taking into consideration the following: 
i. the level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to attract, 

retain and motivate directors of the quality required to run the company successfully. 
ii. relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets appropriate 

performance benchmarks. 
iii. remuneration to directors, key managerial personnel and senior management 

involves a balance between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long-term 
performance objectives appropriate to the working of the company and its goals. 

Name of Members No. of the Meetings 

Held during tenure Attended 

Dr. M. Ramachandran 1 1 
Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar 1 - 
Ms. Rubina Ali 1 1 
Ms. V. Siva Kameswari 1 1 
Mr. Subba Rao Amarthaluru 1 1 
Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao 1 1 
Mr. Regis Lacote 1 1 
Ms. Denitza Weismantel 1 - 
Mr. Matthias Engler  
(Alternate to Ms. Denitza Weismantel) 

1 1 

Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya - - 



 
 

2 For every appointment of an independent director, the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee shall evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board 
and on the basis of such evaluation, prepare a description of the role and capabilities 
required of an independent director. The person recommended to the Board for 
appointment as an independent director shall have the capabilities identified in such 
description. For the purpose of identifying suitable candidates, the Committee may: 
i. use the services of an external agencies, if required; 
ii. consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds, having due regard to diversity; 

and 
iii. consider the time commitments of the candidates. 

3 formulation of criteria/ specify the manner for effective evaluation of performance of  
Board of Directors, its committees and individual directors including independent 
directors to be carried out either by the Board, by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee or by an independent external agency and review its implementation and 
compliance. 

4 devising a policy on diversity of board of directors;  

5 identifying persons who are qualified to become directors/ key managerial personnel and 
who may be appointed in senior management in accordance with the criteria laid down, 
and recommend to the board of directors their appointment and removal.  

6 whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the independent director, on 
the basis of the report of performance evaluation of independent directors.  

7 recommend to the board, all remuneration, in whatever form, payable to senior 
management. 

8 Any other matter as may be referred by the Board from time to time and as may be 
required by the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations, as amended from time to 
time or under any other applicable law or statute. 

 
d. Performance evaluation criteria for Independent Directors and Board  

 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee oversees the annual self-evaluation of the Board 

including committees thereof and of individual directors. It reviews and discusses all matters 

pertaining to the performance of all directors including independent directors, periodically as 

may be necessary on the basis of the detailed performance parameters set forth. The Committee 

also periodically evaluates the usefulness of such performance parameters and makes necessary 

amendments. 

 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has laid down the criteria/questionnaires for 

performance evaluation of Board, Committees and Directors (including Chairman and 

Independent Directors) which is based on certain parameters inter-alia including the following: 

 

 



 
 

i. Frequency of meetings and attendance of Directors. 

ii. Timeliness of circulating Agenda for meetings. 

iii. Quality, quantity and timeliness of flow of information to the Board. 

iv. Promptness with which Minutes of the meetings are drawn and circulated. 

v. Opportunity to discuss matters of critical importance, before decisions are made. 

vi. Familiarity with the objects, operations and other functions of the Company. 

vii. Level of monitoring of Corporate Governance Regulations and compliance. 

viii. Involvement of Board in Strategy evolution and monitoring. 

ix. Performance of the Chairperson of the Company including leadership qualities. 

x. Directors’ contribution for enhancing the governance, regulatory, legal, financial, fiduciary 

and ethical obligations of the Board. 

xi. Directors’ adherence to high standards of integrity, confidentiality and ethics. 

xii. Overall performance and contribution of directors at the meetings. 

xiii. Overall performance of the Board/Committees. 

 
e. Nomination and Remuneration Policy  

 

In terms of the provisions of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 of SEBI 

LODR, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee (NRC) is responsible for formulating the 

criteria for determining qualification, positive attributes and independence of Directors. The 

NRC is also responsible for recommending to the Board, a policy relating to the remuneration of 

the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and Senior Management. In line with this requirement, 

the Board has adopted the Nomination and Remuneration Policy. The Remuneration Policy is 

available on the website of the Company at https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/dial-2206-

Nomination-and-Remuneration-Policy.pdf  

 
V. STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE: 

 
a. Composition of Stakeholders Relationship Committee: 

 
In compliance with Regulation 20 of Listing Regulations, the name of the existing “Share 
Allotment, Transfer & Grievance Committee” of the Company was changed to “Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee”. Further, required changes were also made in the composition of 
Stakeholders Relationship Committee by the Board of Directors in its meeting held on July 29, 
2022. The composition of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee of the Board as on March 
31, 2023, was as under: 
 
 
 
 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/dial-2206-Nomination-and-Remuneration-Policy.pdf
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/dial-2206-Nomination-and-Remuneration-Policy.pdf


 
 

 

S. No. Name of Members Category of Director Chairman/ Member 

1 Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar   Director Chairman 

2 Ms. Denitza Weismantel  Director Member 

3 Mr. Anil Kumar Pathak  Director Member 

4 Mr. G.B.S. Raju  Managing Director Member 

5 Mr. Kada Narayana Rao  Whole-time Director Member 

6 Mr.  Amarthaluru Subba Rao*  Independent Director Member 
 
*Mr. Subba Rao Amarthaluru was appointed as member of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee of the 

Company with effect from close of business hours of July 29, 2022;  
 

Mr. Abhishek Chawla, Company Secretary and Compliance Officer, acts as Secretary to the 
Stakeholders' Relationship Committee. 
 
Mr.  Amarthaluru Subba Rao and Mr. Kada Narayana Rao, who were the members of the 
Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee, had attended the last Annual General Meeting held on 
September 5, 2022 and were available to address the queries of the shareholders.  
 

b. Meetings and attendance during the year: 

  
During the Financial Year ended March 31, 2023, one meeting of the Stakeholders' Relationship 
Committee was held i.e., on March 30, 2023. 
  
The attendance of the Stakeholders' Relationship Committee members is as under: 

 

c. The terms of reference of the Stakeholders' Relationship Committee are as under: 
 

Pursuant to the approval of the Board of Directors of Delhi International Airport Limited [“DIAL 
/ Company”], and pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 [“Act”], and the 
applicable provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 [“Listing Regulations”], as applicable, following are 
the Terms of Reference [“ToR”]/ Role of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee [“SRC”] of 
the Board of Directors of the Company: 

Name of Members No. of the Meetings 

Held during tenure Attended 

Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar   1 - 
Mr. Anil Kumar Pathak  1 - 
Mr. G.B.S. Raju  1 - 
Mr. Kada Narayana Rao  1 1 
Mr.  Amarthaluru Subba Rao  1 1 
Ms. Denitza Weismantel 1 - 
Mr. Matthias Engler  
(Alternate to Ms. Denitza Weismantel) 

1 1 



 
 

 

S. No. Terms of Reference 

1 Resolving the grievances of the security holders of the Company including complaints 
related to transfer/ transposition/ transmission of shares, non-receipt of annual report, 
non-receipt of declared dividends, issue of new/ duplicate certificates, general meetings 
etc. 

2 Review of measures taken for effective exercise of voting rights by shareholders. 

3 Review of adherence to the service standards adopted by the Company in respect of 
various services being rendered by the Registrar & Share Transfer Agent. 

4 Review of the various measures and initiatives taken by the Company for reducing the 
quantum of unclaimed dividends and ensuring timely receipt of dividend warrants/ 
annual reports/ statutory notices by the shareholders of the company. 

5 To perform all functions relating to the interests of shareholders/ security holders/ 
investors of the Company as may be required by the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013, Listing Regulations and guidelines issued by any regulatory authority.  

6 Any other matter as may be referred by the Board from time to time and as may be 
required by the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations, as amended from time to 
time or under any other applicable law or statute. 

 
d. The details of the complaints received during the FY 2022-23 and the status of the same are 

as below: 

 

i) Number of complaints pending as on April 1, 2022                                    :   NIL 

ii) Number of shareholder complaints received       :  NIL 

iii) Number of complaints resolved         :  NIL  

iv) Number of complaints not resolved to the satisfaction of shareholders:  NIL 

v) Number of complaints pending as on March 31, 2023      :  NIL  

 
VI. RISK MANAGEMENT AND ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE (ESG) COMMITTEE: 

 
a. Composition of Risk Management (RM) and Environment, Social & Governance (ESG) 

Committee: 

 
In Compliance with Regulation 21 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 [“Listing Regulations”], a Risk 
Management (RM) and Environment, Social & Governance (ESG) Committee [“RM & ESG 
Committee”] of the Company was constituted by the Board of Directors of the Company in its 
meeting held on July 29, 2022. The composition of the RM & ESG Committee of the Board as 
on March 31, 2023, was as under: 
 
 



 
 

 

S. No. Name Category  Designation 

1 Mr. GBS Raju Managing Director Chairman 

2 Mr. Amarthaluru Subba Rao  Independent Director Member 

3. Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao  Executive Director Member 

4. Ms. Denitza Weismantel  Director  Member 

5. Mr. Videh Kumar Jaipuriar  Chief Executive Officer Member 

 
Mr. Abhishek Chawla- Company Secretary and Compliance Officer, acts as Secretary to the Risk 
Management (RM) and Environment, Social & Governance (ESG) Committee. 
 

b. Meetings and attendance during the year: 

  
During the Financial Year ended March 31, 2023, two meetings of the Risk Management (RM) 
and Environment, Social & Governance (ESG) Committee were held i.e., on October 18, 2022 
and March 30, 2023. 
  
The attendance of the Risk Management (RM) and Environment, Social & Governance (ESG) 
Committee members is as under: 

 

c. The terms of reference of the Risk Management (RM) and Environment, Social & Governance 

(ESG) Committee are as under: 

 
Pursuant to the approval of the Board of Directors of Delhi International Airport Limited [DIAL 
/ Company], and pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 [“Act”], and the 
applicable provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 [“Listing Regulations”], as applicable, following are 
the Terms of Reference [“ToR”]/ Role of the Risk Management (RM) and Environment, Social & 
Governance (ESG) Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company: 
 
 
 

Name of Members No. of the Meetings 

Held during tenure Attended 

Mr. GBS Raju 2 - 

Mr. Amarthaluru Subba Rao  2 2 

Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao  2 2 

Ms. Denitza Weismantel  2 - 

Mr. Videh Kumar Jaipuriar  2 1 

Mr. Matthias Engler  
(Alternate to Ms. Denitza Weismantel) 

2 2 



 
 

S. No. Terms of Reference 

 Under Risk Management 

1 To formulate a detailed risk management policy which shall include: 

i. A framework for identification of internal and external risks specifically faced by the 

Company, in particular including financial, operational, sectoral, sustainability 

(particularly, ESG related risks), information, cyber security risks or any other risk as 

may be determined by the Committee. 

ii. Measures for risk mitigation including systems and processes for internal control of 

identified risks. 

iii. Business continuity plan. 

2 To ensure that appropriate methodology, processes and systems are in place to monitor 

and evaluate risks associated with the business of the Company; 

3 To monitor and oversee/ review implementation of the risk management policy, including 

evaluating the adequacy of risk management systems/ plan; 

4 To periodically review the risk management policy, at least once in two years, including by 

considering the changing industry dynamics and evolving complexity; 

5 To keep the board of directors informed about the nature and content of its discussions, 

recommendations and actions to be taken; 

6 The appointment, removal and terms of remuneration of the Chief Risk Officer (if any) shall 

be subject to review by the Risk Management Committee. 

7 The Risk Management Committee shall coordinate its activities with other committees, in 

instances where there is any overlap with activities of such committees, as per the 

framework laid down by the board of directors. 

8 Any other matter as may be referred by the Board from time to time and as may be 

required by the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations, as amended from time to 

time or under any other applicable law or statute. 

 Under Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) 

1 Oversee the development of and make recommendations to the Board regarding the 

Company’s ESG policies, strategy, initiatives, priorities and best practices.  

2 Oversee the effective implementation and adoption of ESG practices into the business. 

3 Identify the relevant ESG matters that are likely to affect the business, operation, 

performance of the Company.  

4 Identify opportunities related to ESG matters impacting the Company. 

5 Monitor and review current and emerging ESG trends, key risks and stakeholder 

priorities.  



 
 

6 Set appropriate strategic goals/targets related to ESG matters, road map to achieve those 

targets. 

7 Oversee and review the Company’s progress on ESG targets, initiatives and best practices.  

8 Work in conjunction with the Risk Committee to oversee the identification and mitigation 

of risks relating to ESG matters.  

9 Report to the Board on a periodic basis on ESG matters including Committee’s reviews 

and assessments on ESG Matters and make appropriate recommendations.    

10 Perform such other duties, tasks and responsibilities relevant to ESG matters as may be 

requested by the Board of Directors from time to time. 

11 Any other matter as may be referred by the Board from time to time and as may be 

required by under any other applicable law or statute. 

 
VII. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR) COMMITTEE: 

 
a. Composition of Corporate Social Responsibility Committee: 

 
Your Company, in compliance with the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with rules made thereto has a duly constituted Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
Committee. The composition of the CSR Committee of the Board as on March 31, 2023, was as 
under: 

 
Mr. Abhishek Chawla- Company Secretary and Compliance Officer, acts as Secretary to the CSR 
Committee. 
 
The CSR Committee has formulated and recommended to the Board, a Corporate Social 
Responsibility Policy indicating the activities to be undertaken by the Company, which has been 
approved by the Board.  
 
As per the provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder, 
the annual report on CSR activities and initiatives of the Company for the financial year 2022-
2023 is enclosed as Annexure – B of Directors Report. 

 
 
 

S. No. Name of Members Category of Director Chairman/ Member 

1 Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao Independent Director Chairman 

2 Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao Executive Director Member 

3 Mr. K. Narayana Rao Whole-time Director Member 



 
 

b. Meetings and attendance during the year: 

  
During the Financial Year ended March 31, 2023, two meetings of the Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee were held i.e., on April 27, 2022 and October 18, 2022. 
  
The attendance of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee members is as under: 

 

c. The terms of reference of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee are as under: 

 
Pursuant to the approval of the Board of Directors of Delhi International Airport Limited [“DIAL 
/ Company”], and pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 [“Act”], and other 
applicable provisions, following are the Terms of Reference [“ToR”]/ Role of the Corporate 
Social Responsibility Committee  of the Board of Directors of the Company: 
 

S. No. Terms of Reference 

1 Preparation of Corporate Social Responsibility Policy for the Company and to 
recommend the Board for its approval;  

2 Recommendation of projects or programmes relating to activities to be undertaken 
by the Company as specified in Schedule VII of the Companies Act, 2013;  

3 To recommend on CSR activities to be undertaken by the Company on its own or in 
collaboration with any registered trust / society or a company established under 
Section 25 of the Companies Act, 1956 or under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 
2013;  

4 Formulate and recommend to the Board, an annual action plan in pursuance of its 
CSR policy, which shall include the following, namely:  
i. the list of CSR projects or programmes to be undertaken in areas or subjects 

specified in Schedule VII of the Act; 
ii. the manner of execution of such projects or programmes; 
iii. the modalities of utilization of funds and implementation schedules for the 

projects or programmes; 
iv. Monitoring and reporting mechanism for the projects or programmes; and 
v. Details of need and impact assessment, if any, for the projects undertaken by 

the Company; 

5 To institute a transparent monitoring mechanism for implementation of the CSR 
projects or programs or activities undertaken by the Company or trust / society / 
company mentioned in point no (d)(iv);  

6 To report periodically on the CSR activities of the Company to the Board and in the 
Board’s report;  

Name of Members No. of the Meetings 

Held during tenure Attended 

Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao 2 2 
Mr. K. Narayana Rao 2 2 
Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao 2 2 



 
 

7 To seek expert advice on CSR activities of the Company that may be appropriate to 
discharge its responsibilities; and  

8 To take up any other roles and responsibilities delegated by the Board from time to 
time. 

 
VIII. Senior management: 

 
Particulars of senior management including the changes therein since the close of the previous 
financial year: 

 

Details of the Senior Management Personnel as on March 31, 2023 are mentioned below: 
 

S. No. Employee Name Position Text 

1 Lalit Bisht General Manager - Business Integration 

2 Ranjit Narayan Executive Director - Security & Vigilance 

3 Shyam Sundar Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

4 Dr. Deepak Kumar Chief Quality Officer 

5 Sidhant Mood Associate Manager - CEO Office 

6 Sudeep Lakhtakia Executive Director - Security & Vigilance 

7 Varun Narayan Channa Chief Marketing & Passenger Experience Officer 

8 Kartik Sood Vice President - SPG 

9 Harinder Khurana Chief Project & Engineering Officer 

10 Sanjiv Edward Chief Commercial Officer - Aero 

11 Tarun Arora Chief Commercial Officer - Non Aero 

12 Puskar Nath Thakur Chief Commercial Officer(Aero)-Designate 

13 Patrick Muller Chief Operating Officer 

14 Hari Nagrani Chief Finance Officer 

15 Abhishek Chawla Company Secretary  

16 Keshava Murthy T V Chief Human Resource Officer 

17 Amit Gupta Head - Corporate Relations 

18 Aseem Mohan Head Legal - DIAL 

 

          No Change in the senior management from the close of the previous year. 
 

IX. Details of remuneration paid during the FY ended March 31, 2023 to the Directors are furnished 

hereunder: 

 

a. There was no pecuniary relationship or transaction between the Non-Executive Directors and 

the Company during the FY 2022-23. 

 



 
 

b. Criteria for making payments to Non-Executive Directors: - The Independent Directors and Non-
Executive Non-Independent Directors receive remuneration by way of fees for attending 
meetings of Board or Committees thereof. The sitting fee as decided by the Board is reasonable 
and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate Independent Directors and Non-Executive Non-
Independent Directors aligned to the requirements of the Company (taking into consideration 
the challenges faced by the Company and its future growth imperatives). However, it is ensured 
that the amount of such fees does not exceed the amount prescribed by the appropriate 
authority from time to time. 

 
Other than the above, no other payments are made to the Non- Executive Directors of the 
Company. 
 

c. Details of Remuneration to Directors: 

 

S. 

No. 

Name Category  Salary, 

Commission and 

allowance(s) 

(Rs.) 

Perquisites 

(Rs.) 

Sitting Fees 

(Rs.) 

Total (Rs.) 

1 Mr. G.M. Rao EC 5,56,63,660 NIL NIL 5,56,63,660 

2 Mr. G. B. S. Raju MD 4,74,13,659 NIL NIL 4,74,13,659 

3 Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar NENID NIL NIL 60,000 60,000 

4 Mr. Srinivas Bommidala NENID NIL NIL 1,20,000 1,20,000 

5 Mr. Kada Narayana Rao WTD 2,12,20,295 NIL NIL 2,12,20,295 

6 Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao ED 2,79,78,316 NIL NIL 2,79,78,316 

7 Mr. Philippe Pascal NENID NIL NIL NIL NIL 

8 Mr. Regis Lacote NENID NIL NIL NIL NIL 

9 Ms. V. Siva Kameswari NEID NIL NIL 3,00,000 3,00,000 

10 Dr. M. Ramachandran NEID NIL NIL 5,00,000 5,00,000 

11 Mr. Anil Kumar Pathak NENID NIL NIL 1,00,000 1,00,000 

12 Ms. Rubina Ali NENID NIL NIL NIL NIL 

13 Mr. Kakatkar Vinayak Rao NENID NIL NIL 80,000 80,000 

14 Ms. Denitza Weismantel NENID NIL NIL NIL NIL 

15 Mr. Matthias Engler  
 

Alternate to Ms. 

Denitza 

Weismantel 

NIL NIL NIL NIL 

16 Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao NEID NIL NIL 5,40,000 5,40,000 

17 Mr. Amarthaluru Subba Rao NEID NIL NIL 5,60,000 5,60,000 

18 Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya NEID NIL NIL 2,00,000 2,00,000 

19 Ms. Vidya Vaidyanathan NENID NIL NIL 60,000 60,000 

Note: 

 No service contracts, notice period and severance fee are applicable.  

 The Company does not have any stock option plan or performance-linked incentive for the Director(s).  

 



 
 

d. Meeting of Independent Directors 

 

As per the requirement of Regulation 25 of SEBI LODR and Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 

2013, the Independent Directors of the Company meet at least once every financial year without 

the presence of Non-Independent Directors and management personnel. Such meetings enable 

Independent Directors to discuss matters pertaining to the Company’s affairs and the matters 

mentioned in Regulation 25 of SEBI LODR and Schedule IV to the Companies Act, 2013. The 

Independent Directors take appropriate steps to present their views to the Chairman. One 

meeting of the Independent Directors was held during the Financial Year 2022-23 i.e., on July 

21, 2022.  

 

e. Code of Conduct 

 

As per the requirement of Regulation 26(3) of SEBI LODR, the Board has laid down a Code of 

Conduct (“the Code”) for all Board members and Senior Management Personnel of the 

Company. The Code is posted on the website of the Company                                                                                  

(https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/dial-2206-Code-of-onduct-for-Directors-and-Senior-

Managerial-Personnel.pdf). All Board members and Senior Management Personnel affirm 

compliance with the Code on an annual basis and the declaration to that effect by CEO - Mr. 

Videh Kumar Jaipuriar is enclosed to this report. 

 

A Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all the employees of the Group is 

communicated and affirmed by them periodically, which is to be followed in the day to day work 

life and which enables the employees to maintain highest standards of values in their conduct 

to achieve organizational objectives. 

 

The Company recognizes that sexual harassment violates fundamental rights of gender equality, 

right to life and liberty and right to work with human dignity as guaranteed by the Constitution 

of India. To meet this objective, measures have been taken to eliminate any act of sexual 

harassment (which includes unwelcomed sexually determined behavior) and to take necessary 

penal action, if required. The Company has taken initiatives to create wide awareness amongst 

the employees about the policy for prevention of sexual harassment by displaying posters at all 

the prominent places in the offices of the Company and organising awareness sessions. 

 

 

 

 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/dial-2206-Code-of-onduct-for-Directors-and-Senior-Managerial-Personnel.pdf
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/dial-2206-Code-of-onduct-for-Directors-and-Senior-Managerial-Personnel.pdf


 
 

f. Name of the listed entities, other than Delhi International Airport Limited, where a director of the 

Company, is a director: 

 

Sl. 
No. 

Name of Director Directorship in other listed entities as on March 31, 2023 

Name of the listed entities Category 

1. Mr. G.M. Rao GMR Power and Urban Infra Limited  Non-Executive Chairman 

GMR Enterprises Private Limited* Non-Executive Chairman 

GMR Airports Limited* Non-Executive Chairman 

GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited* 

Executive Chairman 

GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
(formerly GMR Infrastructure Limited) 

Non-Executive Chairman 

2. 
 

Mr. Grandhi Kiran 
Kumar 

GMR Enterprises Private Limited* Non-Executive Director 

GMR Power and Urban Infra Limited Non-Executive Director 

GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
(formerly GMR Infrastructure Limited) 

Managing Director & CEO  

GMR Airports Limited*  Joint Managing Director & CEO 

GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited* 

Non-Executive Director 

Delhi International Airport Limited* Non-Executive Director 

3 Mr. Srinivas 
Bommidala 

GMR Enterprises Private Limited* Non-Executive Director 

GMR Power and Urban Infra Limited Managing Director 

GMR Airports Limited* Joint Managing Director  

GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited* 

Non-Executive Director 

GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
(formerly GMR Infrastructure Limited) 

Director  

4 Mr. G.B.S. Raju GMR Enterprises Private Limited* Non-Executive Director 

GMR Airports Limited* Non-Executive Vice Chairman 

GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited* 

Managing Director 

GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
(formerly GMR Infrastructure Limited) 

Director  

 
5. 

Mr. Indana 
Prabhakara Rao 

GMR Airports Limited* Executive Director  

 
6. 

Dr. Emandi Sankara 
Rao  

Coastal Corporation Limited  Non-Executive Independent 
Director 

GMR Power and Urban Infra Limited Non -Executive Independent 
director 

GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
(formerly GMR Infrastructure Limited) 

Non -Executive Independent 
director  

7. Dr. Mundayat 
Ramachandran 

GMR Warora Energy Limited* Non-Executive Independent 
Director 



 
 

  GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
(formerly GMR Infrastructure Limited) 

Non -Executive Independent 
director  

GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited* 

Non-Executive Independent 
Director 

8 
 

Ms. Bijal Tushar 
Ajinkya  

GMR Airports Limited* Non-Executive  Independent 
Director 

GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
(formerly GMR Infrastructure Limited) 

Non-Executive Independent 
director  

GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited* 

Non-Executive  Independent 
Director 

9 

Mr. Subba Rao 
Amarthaluru 

GMR Airports Limited* Non-Executive  Independent 
Director 

GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
(formerly GMR Infrastructure Limited) 

Non -Executive Independent 
director  

GMR Hyderabad International Airport 
Limited* 

Non-Executive  Independent 
Director 

10 Mr. Philippe Pascal GMR Airports Limited* Non-Executive Director 

11 Mr. Regis Lacote NIL N.A. 

12 Mr. Kada Narayana 
Rao 

NIL N.A. 

13 Ms. Rubina Ali NIL N.A. 

14 Ms. Vidya 
Vaidyanathan 

NIL N.A. 

15 Mr. Anil Kumar Pathak NIL N.A. 

16 Ms. Denitza 
Weismantel 

NIL N.A. 

17 Mr. Matthias Engler 
(Alternate Director to 
Ms. Denitza 
Weismantel) 

NIL N.A. 

* Debt listed Company 

 
g. Independent Directors, in the opinion of the Board, fulfill the conditions specified in SEBI LODR 

and are independent of the management. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

X. General Body Meetings 

 

a. Annual General Meetings  

 

The venue, date and time of the Annual General Meetings held during the three years preceding 

the financial year 2022-23 and the Special Resolutions passed thereat are as under: 

 

Year Venue Date and Time Special Resolutions passed 

2021-22 Through Video 

Conferencing (VC) 

Monday, 

September 05, 

2022 at 3.00 

p.m. 

1. Re-appointment of M/S. K. S. Rao & 

Company, Chartered Accountants (Firm 

Registration No. 003109S) as the joint 

Statutory Auditors of the Company and 

authorize Board of Directors to fix their 

remuneration. 

2. Appointment of Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya 

(DIN: 01976832) as an Independent 

Director of the Company. 

3. Issue of Non-Convertible Debentures, 

Bonds on Private Placement basis. 

 

2020-21 Through Video 

Conferencing (VC) 

Friday, 

September 17, 

2021 at 3.00 

p.m. 

1. Re-appointment of Dr. Mundayat 

Ramachandran (DIN: 01573258) as an 

Independent Director of the Company. 

2. Issue of Non-Convertible Debentures, 

Bonds on Private Placement basis. 

2019-20 Through Video 

Conferencing (VC) 

Friday, 

September 25, 

2020 at 11.30 

A.M. 

 

1. Approve the Issue of Non-Convertible 

Debentures, Bonds on Private Placement 

Basis. 

 

 

b. Extraordinary General Meetings 

 

The venue, date and time of the Extraordinary General Meetings held during the three years 

preceding the financial year 2022-23 and the Special Resolutions passed thereat are as under: 

 

 



 
 

Year Venue Date and Time Special Resolutions passed 

2021-22 Through Video 

Conferencing (VC) 

Friday,  

February 25, 

2022,  

at 04.00 P.M. 

(IST) 

1. Re-appointment of Mr. Kada Narayana 

Rao (DIN: 00016262) as a Whole-Time 

Director of the Company. 

 

2020-21 Through Video 

Conferencing (VC) 

Thursday,  

April 29, 2021  

at 04.30 P.M. 

(IST) 

1. Approval for the re-appointment of Mr. 

Grandhi Mallikarjuna Rao as the Executive 

Chairman of the Company and approval 

of his remuneration.  

2. Approval for the re-appointment of Mr. 

G.B.S. Raju as the Managing Director of 

the Company and approval of his 

remuneration. 

3. Approval for the re-appointment of Mr. 

Indana Prabhakara Rao as the Executive 

Director of the Company and approval of 

his remuneration. 

 

 

c. Any special resolution passed last year through postal ballot – details of voting pattern:  

No Resolution passed last year through Postal Ballot. 

d. person who conducted the postal ballot exercise: Not Applicable 

e. whether any special resolution is proposed to be conducted through postal ballot: Not 

applicable 

f. procedure for postal ballot: Not Applicable 

 

XI. Means of Communication  

 

The Company has been sending Annual Reports, Notices and other communications to each 

shareholder through e-mail. However, owing to the COVID-19 Pandemic situation and in 

accordance with the Circulars issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) and Securities and 

Exchange Board of India (SEBI), the Notice and Annual Report for FY 2021-2022 were sent to the 

shareholders only through e-mail. Further, in terms of circulars of the MCA and SEBI, the Notice 

of AGM and Annual Report for FY 2022-23 are also being sent through e-mail only, to all those 

members whose email addresses are registered with the Company/ Depository Participants 

(“DPs”). Notice and Annual Report shall also be available on the website of the Company. 

 



 
 

The quarterly/annual results of the Company as per the requirement of SEBI LODR, are generally 

published in the ‘Hindu Business Line’. Quarterly and Annual Financial Results are posted on the 

Company's website (https://www.newdelhiairport.in/corporate/our-company?q=collapseinvestor-

AccordionTwo#undefined ), and intimated to stock exchange i.e. BSE Limited. All periodical and 

other filings including the price sensitive information etc., are filed electronically through BSE 

Corporate Compliance & Listing Centre (BSE Listing Centre) and are updated on Company’s 

website. Investor complaints are redressed  through SEBI Complaints Redress System (SCORES).  

 

XII. General Shareholder Information 

 

a. 17th Annual General Meeting to be held for the Financial Year 2022-23: 

 

Day    : Thursday   

Date     : September 14, 2023 

Time     : 03.00 P.M. (IST) 

Venue                                     : Through Video conferencing as set out in the Notice 

convening the AGM 

b. Financial Calendar: 

 

The Financial year is 1st April to 31st March every year and for the FY 2023-24, the financial 

results are proposed to be declared as per the following tentative schedule: 

 

Particulars Schedule 

Financial reporting for the quarter ended 

June 30, 2023 

August 14, 2023 

Financial reporting for the quarter / half 

year ending September 30, 2023  

First fortnight of November 2023 

Financial reporting for the quarter / nine 

months ending December 31, 2023 

First fortnight of February 2024 

Financial reporting for the quarter / year 

ending March 31, 2024 

Second fortnight of May 2024 

Annual General Meeting for the year 

ending March 31, 2024 

August / September 2024 

 

c. Dividend Payment Date: 

The Board has not recommended any dividend for the FY 2022-23. 

  

 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/corporate/our-company?q=collapseinvestor-AccordionTwo#undefined
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/corporate/our-company?q=collapseinvestor-AccordionTwo#undefined


 
 

 

 

d.  Listing on Stock Exchanges: 

 

(i) Non-Convertible Debenture: 

 

The Company’s Non-Convertible Debentures are listed on the following Stock Exchange 

with effect from June 23, 2022: 

 

Name of the Stock 

Exchange 

Address Scrip Codes 

BSE Limited Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, Dalal 

Street, Mumbai - 400 001. 

974004 and 974763 

 

      The Company has paid Annual listing fees for the FY 2023-24 to Stock Exchange. 

 

e. Market Price Data – high, low during each month in last financial year relating to Equity Shares 

listed: Since the Company is a High Value Debt Listed entity and its equity shares of the 

Company are not listed on the stock exchange. 

 

f. Performance of the share price of the Company in comparison to BSE Sensex and S & P CNX 

Nifty: Since the Company is a High Value Debt Listed entity and its equity shares of the 

Company are not listed on the stock exchange, therefore performance of the share price of 

the company in comparison to BSE Sensex and S & P CNX Nifty is not applicable. 

 

g. The Company is a High Value Debt Listed entity and the Non-Convertible debentures as 

Listed on BSE Limited, there were no instances of suspension from trading. 

 

h. Share Transfer System: 

 

In terms of SEBI LODR, as amended, no transfer of shares in physical mode is permitted. 

Transfer of shares is permitted only in dematerialized form. The dematerialised shares are 

directly transferred by the depositories to the beneficiaries. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

i. Distribution of equity shareholding as on March 31, 2023: 

 

S. 
No. 

Name of Shareholders No. of Shares 
Percentage 

Holding 

1.  GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited [formerly GMR 
Infrastructure Limited] 

100 - 

2.  GMR Energy Limited 100 - 

3.  GMR Airports Limited (Subsidiary of GMR 
Infrastructure Limited) 

1,567,999,798 64% 

4.  Fraport AG Frankfurt Airport Services Worldwide    245,000,000  10% 

5.  Airports Authority of India   637,000,000  26% 

6.  GMR Airports Limited jointly with Mr. Srinivas 
Bommidala 

1 - 

7.  GMR Airports Limited jointly with Mr. Grandhi Kiran 
Kumar  

1 - 

 TOTAL 2,450,000,000  100% 
 

j. Dematerialization of Shares and Liquidity 

 

All Non-Convertible Debentures and shares of the Company are in dematerialized form as 

on March 31, 2023. 

 

k. Equity Shares in the Suspense Account: Not Applicable 

 

l. Registrar & Share Transfer Agent (RTA) 

 

Integrated Registry Management Services Private Limited (CIN: U74900TN2015PTC101466) 

 Address: No 30 Ramana Residency, 4th Cross Sampige Road,  

Malleswaram, Bengaluru - 560 003 

Tel No. (080) 23460815-818, Fax No: (080) 23460819 

Email: alpha123information@gmail.com  

Contact Person: Mr. S Giridhar 

SEBI Registration Number: INR000000544 

Website: www.integratedindia.in 

 

m. Outstanding GDRs / ADRs / Warrants or any convertible instruments, conversion date and 

likely impact on equity: 

 

 

 

mailto:alpha123information@gmail.com
http://www.integratedindia.in/


 
 

i. GDRs / ADRs: 

The Company has not issued any GDRs / ADRs in the past and hence as on March 31, 2023, 

the Company does not have any outstanding GDRs / ADRs. 

 

ii. Warrant:  

During the year under review, the Company has not issued any warrant and there is no 

warrant outstanding for conversion which is likely to impact on equity. 

 

iii. Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds (FCCBs): 

During the year under review, the Company has not issued any Foreign Currency 

Convertible Bonds and there are no Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds outstanding for 

conversion which is likely to impact on equity. 

 

n. Commodity Price Risk/ Foreign Exchange Risk and Hedging activities: 

 

The details of foreign currency exposure and hedging are disclosed in note no. 40 to the 

standalone financial statements. 

 

o.  Plant locations:   

 

In view of the nature of the Company’s business, the Company operates at Indira Gandhi 

International Airport, New Delhi - 110037. 

 

p. Address for correspondence: 

 

Delhi International Airport Limited 

CIN: U63033DL2006PLC146936 

Company Secretary and Compliance Officer 

(Corporate Secretarial Department) 

Registered Office: New Udaan Bhawan, Opposite Terminal-3,  

Indira Gandhi International Airport, New Delhi – 110037 

T +91 11 4719 7000 

E-mail: DIAL-CS@gmrgroup.in  

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:DIAL-CS@gmrgroup.in


 
 

q. List of all credit rating obtained for debt: 
 
Credit rating was obtained during the Financial Year ended March 31, 2023 for debt instrument.  
  

Name of the Credit Rating 
Agency 

Credit Rating 
Date of Credit 
Rating 

Rating 
Outlook 

Date of 
Rating 
Change 

ICRA LIMITED ICRA A+ MARCH 20, 2023  POSITIVE N.A. 

INDIA RATINGS AND 
RESEARCH 

IND A+ MARCH 21, 2023  POSITIVE N.A. 

 
r. Prevention of Insider Trading: 
 

In accordance with the requirements of SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015, 
as amended, the Company has instituted a comprehensive Code of Conduct for prevention of 
insider trading, in the Company’s shares and Code of practices and procedures for fair disclosure 
of unpublished price sensitive information. The Code is available on the website 
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/Code-of-Conduct-for-Prevention-of-Insider-Trading-and-
Code-of-Practices-Procedures-for-Fair-Disclosure-of-UPSI.pdf . 

 
s. Equity Shares in the Suspense Account: Not Applicable. 
 

XIII. Disclosure of certain types of agreements binding listed entities:  
Information disclosed under clause 5A of paragraph A of Part A of Schedule III of these regulations: 
Not Applicable, Since the Company is a High Value Debt listed entity. 
 

XIV. Other Disclosures 
 
a. Disclosures on materially significant related party transactions i.e., transactions of  the  Company  

of  material  nature,  with its promoters, Directors or their relatives, management, its subsidiaries 
etc., that may have potential conflict with the interests of the Company at large: 
 
None of the transactions with related parties was in conflict with the interests of the Company 
at large. The transactions with related parties are mentioned in note no. 36 to the Standalone 
Financial Statement. 
 

b. Details of non-compliance by the Company, penalties and strictures imposed on the Company by 
the Stock Exchanges or SEBI or any statutory authority, on any matter related to capital markets 
during the last three years: 

 
There has been no instance of non-compliance by the Company on any matter related to capital 
markets during the last three years and hence, no penalty or stricture was imposed by the Stock 
Exchanges or SEBI or any statutory authority.  
 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/Code-of-Conduct-for-Prevention-of-Insider-Trading-and-Code-of-Practices-Procedures-for-Fair-Disclosure-of-UPSI.pdf
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/Code-of-Conduct-for-Prevention-of-Insider-Trading-and-Code-of-Practices-Procedures-for-Fair-Disclosure-of-UPSI.pdf


 
 

Due to technical issue, there was a delay of one day in furnishing prior notice of record date 
under Regulation 60 (2) of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015 and Company has paid a fine of Rs. 
10,000 to BSE Limited for the said delay. 
 

c. Whistle Blower Policy/ Vigil Mechanism: 
 
To maintain high level of legal, ethical and moral standards and to provide a gateway for 
employees to voice concern in a responsible and effective manner about serious malpractice, 
impropriety, abuse or wrongdoing within the organization, the Company has a Whistle Blower 
Policy/Vigil Mechanism in place, applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries. 
 
This mechanism has been communicated to all concerned and posted on the Company’s website  
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/dial-2206-Policy-on-Whistle-Blower-Vigil-Mechanism.pdf  
 
The Company has set up an “Ethics Helpline”, with a toll free number and entrusted the running 
of the said helpline to an external agency so as to address issues relating to protection of 
confidentiality of information and identity of the whistle blower. 
 
We affirm that during the year under review, no one has been denied access to the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee under the Whistle Blower Policy. 
 

d. The Company has complied with the mandatory requirements of listing regulations. Further, the 
Company has also put its best endeavor to comply with non-mandatory requirement(s). 
 

e. The Company has framed a Material Subsidiary Policy and the same is placed on the Company’s 
website and the web link for the same is https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-Policy-for-
determining-Material-Subsidiaries.pdf  
 

f. The Company has framed  Related  Party  Transaction  Policy,  and the same is placed on the 
Company’s website and the web link  for  the  same  is  https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-
Policy-on-Related-Party-Transactions.pdf   
 

g. During the Financial Year ended March 31, 2023, the Company did not engage in commodity price 
risk and commodity hedging activity. Not Applicable 
 

h. Details of utilization of funds raised through preferential allotment or qualified institutional 
placement as specified under Regulation 32(7A): Regulation 32(7A): Not Applicable 
 
During the year under review, there were no funds raised through preferential allotment or 
qualified institutions placement. Funds were raised through private placement and there was no 
deviation in utilization of such funds.  
 

i. Certificate from Company Secretary in practice that none of the directors on the board of the 
Company have been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as directors of 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/dial-2206-Policy-on-Whistle-Blower-Vigil-Mechanism.pdf
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-Policy-for-determining-Material-Subsidiaries.pdf
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-Policy-for-determining-Material-Subsidiaries.pdf
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-Policy-on-Related-Party-Transactions.pdf
https://www.newdelhiairport.in/pdf/DIAL-Policy-on-Related-Party-Transactions.pdf


 
 

companies by the Board/ Ministry of  
Corporate Affairs or any such statutory authority: Certificate is enclosed and part of Corporate 
Governance Report. 
 

j. Declaration signed by the chief executive officer stating that the members of board of directors 
and senior management personnel have affirmed compliance with the code of conduct of board 
of directors and senior management:  Declaration signed by the chief executive officer is enclosed 
and part of Corporate Governance Report. 

 
k. Compliance certificate from either the auditors or practicing company secretaries regarding 

compliance of conditions of corporate governance shall be annexed with the directors’ report: 
Certificate from Statutory Auditors is enclosed and part of Corporate Governance Report. 

 
l. Compliance certificate issued by Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to the board 

of directors as specified in Part B of Schedule II is enclosed and part of Corporate Governance 
Report. 
 

m. The Board has accepted all recommendations of the Board committees which are mandatorily 
required in the relevant financial year. 
 

n. Total fees for all services paid by the listed entity, to the statutory auditors and all entities in the 
network firm/ network entity of which the statutory auditors are a part, is Rs. 1.08 Crore. 
 

o. Disclosure in relation to the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (prevention, prohibition, 
& redressal) Act, 2013: 
a. Number of complaints filed during the financial year       : 1 
b. Number of complaints disposed of during the financial year      : 1  
c. Number of complaints pending as on end of the financial year : Nil  

 
p. Loans and advances in the nature of loans to firms/companies in which directors are interested.  

During the FY 2022-23, no loans/advances was given to firms/companies in which directors are 
interested.  

 
q. Details of material subsidiaries of the listed entity: Not Applicable 

 
r.  Request To Investors: 

(a) Investors are requested to communicate change of address, if any, directly to the registrar 
and share transfer agent of the Company. 

(b) As required by SEBI, investors shall furnish details of their respective bank account number 
and name & address of the bank for incorporating in the dividend warrants to reduce the risk 
to them of fraudulent encashment. 

(c) Investors holding shares in electronic form are requested to deal only with their respective 
depository participant or change of address, nomination facility, bank account number etc. 

(d) Electronic Clearing Service (ECS) helps in quick remittance of dividend without possible 



 
 

loss/delay in postal transit. Shareholders, who have not earlier availed this facility, are 
requested to register their ECS details with the share transfer agent or their respective 
Depository Participants. 

(e) Shareholders who have multiple folios in identical names, are requested to apply for 
consolidation of such folios and send the relevant share certificates to the Company. 
 

s. Detailed reasons for the resignation of an independent director who resigns before the expiry of 
his /her tenure along with a confirmation by such director that there are no other material reasons 
other than those provided: Not Applicable 

 
XV. There has been no instance of non-compliance of any requirement of Corporate Governance Report as 

prescribed under SEBI LODR. 
 

XVI. Adoption of Non-Mandatory Requirements as stipulated in Part E of Schedule II of SEBI LODR: 
 
Reporting of Internal Auditor: 
The Head, Management Assurance Group, Internal Auditor of the Company is a permanent 
invitee to the Audit Committee Meetings and regularly attends the Meetings and reports the 
findings of the internal audit, directly to the Audit Committee. 

 
XVII. THE COMPANY HAS FULLY COMPLIED WITH THE APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS SPECIFIED IN 

REGULATION 17 TO 27 AND CLAUSE B TO CLAUSE I OF SUB-REGULATION 2 OF REGULATION 62 OF 
THE SEBI LODR.  

 
 
 
 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
of Delhi International Airport Limited 

 
Sd/- Sd/- 

G.B.S. Raju      K. Narayana Rao 
Managing Director  Whole-Time Director 
DIN: 00061686      DIN: 00016262 
Place: New Delhi     Place: New Delhi  

 
 Date:  August 14, 2023  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 

CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS 
(Pursuant to Schedule V Para C clause (10) (i) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations, 2015) 
 
 
To,  
The Members of    
Delhi International Airport Limited  
New Udaan Bhawan, opposite Terminal -3,  
IGI Airport, New Delhi - 110037 

 
We have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from 
the Directors of Delhi International Airport Limited having CIN: U63033DL2006PLC146936 and 
having registered office at New Udaan Bhawan, opposite Terminal -3, IGI Airport, New Delhi - 
110037. (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’), produced before us by the Company for the 
purpose of issuing this Certificate, in accordance with Schedule V Para-C clause 10(i) of the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015.  
 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the verifications [including 
Directors Identification Number (DIN) status] at the portal www.mca.gov.in as considered 
necessary and the explanations furnished to us by the Company & its officers, we hereby certify 
that none of the Directors on the Board of the Company (as stated below) for the Financial Year 
ended March 31, 2023 has been debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as 
Director of companies by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) and Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs (MCA) or any such statutory authority. 
 
Details of Directors: 
 

Sl. 
No.  

Name of the Director  Designation Director 
Identification 
Number (DIN)  

Initial Date of 
appointment in the 
Company  

1.  Mr. G.M. Rao Director (Executive 
Chairman) 

00574243 19-04-2006 

2.  Mr. G. B. S. Raju Managing Director 00061686 19-04-2006 

3.  Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar Director 00061669 19-04-2006 

4.  Mr. Srinivas Bommidala Director 00061464 19-04-2006 

5.  Mr. Kada Narayana Rao Whole-time Director 00016262 17-04-2007 

6.  Mr. Indana Prabhakara Rao Wholetime Director     
(Executive Director) 

03482239 01-04-2018 

7.  Mr. Philippe Pascal Director 08903236 24-05-2021 

8.  Mr. Regis Sebastien Lacote Director 09135168 24-05-2021 

http://www.mca.gov.in/


 
 

9.  Dr. M. Ramachandran Independent Director 01573258 13-10-2016 

10.  Mr. Anil Kumar Pathak Director  08213061 29-01-2019 

11.  Ms. Rubina Ali Director  08453990 06-06-2019 

12.  Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao Independent Director 05184747 20-09-2021 

13.  Mr. Amarthaluru Subba Rao Independent Director 00082313 20-09-2021 

14.  Ms. Bijal Tushar Ajinkya Independent Director 01976832 06-09-2022 

15.  Ms. Vidya Vaidyanathan Director 08366688 14-11-2022 

16.  Ms. Denitza Weismantel Director 07466436 28-04-2016 

17.  Mr. Matthias Engler  
 

Alternate Director to 
Ms. Denitza 
Weismantel 

06363447 16-10-2012 

 
Ensuring the eligibility for the appointment / continuity of every Director on the Board is the 
responsibility of the management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
based on our verification. This certificate is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the 
Company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the 
affairs of the Company.    
 
 

  Sd/- 
Place: New Delhi                                                   Maneesh Gupta 
Date: August 14, 2023             FCS No. 4982 
                                                                                                                            CP No. 2945 
                                                                                      PR No.: 2314/2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://www.mca.gov.in/mcafoportal/companyLLPMasterData.do


 
 

 
 

DECLARATION ON COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF CONDUCT 

 

To, 

 

The Members of Delhi International Airport Limited 

 

Sub: Declaration by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) under Para D of Schedule V of Securities and 

Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 

         

I, Videh Kumar Jaipuriar, CEO of Delhi International Airport Limited, to the best of my knowledge 

and belief, declare that all the members of the Board of Directors and Senior Management 

Personnel of the Company have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct of the Company 

for the financial year ended March 31, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

Place: New Delhi  

Date : May 26, 2023 

 

                  Sd/- 

                                                Videh Kumar Jaipuriar 

Chief Executive Officer 

  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

[Pursuant to Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the Certificate from Auditors on Corporate 
Governance] 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S CERTIFICATE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

To 
The Members of 
Delhi International Airport Limited 
New Udaan Bhavan, Opp: Terminal 3,  
IGI Airport, New Delhi - 110037 
 
1. We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by M/s. Delhi 

International Airport Limited (“the Company”), for the year ended on March 31, 2023, as per 
Regulations 17 to 27 and paragraphs C, D and E of Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘Listing 
Regulations’). 

 
2. The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Management. 

Our examination was limited to a review of the procedures and implementation thereof, adopted 
by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance. It is 
neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company. 

 
3. We have examined the relevant records of the Company in accordance with the Generally 

Accepted Auditing Standards in India, to the extent relevant, and as per the Guidance Note on 
Certification of Corporate Governance issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

 
4. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to our examination of the relevant 

records and the explanations given to us and the representations made by the Directors and the 
Management, we certify that the Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate 
Governance as stipulated in Regulations 17 to 27 and paragraphs C, D and E of Schedule V of the 
SEBI Listing Regulations during the year ended March 31,2023. 

 
5. We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company 

nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of 
the Company. 

 
For M/s K. S. Rao & Co  
Firm Reg. No: 003109S  
Chartered Accountants 
 
Sd/- 
Sudarshana Gupta M S, Membership No.223060 
UDIN: 23223060BGXITN2168 
Place: New Delhi 
Date: August 14, 2023 



 
 

CEO AND CFO CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO REGULATION 17(8) READ WITH PART B OF SCHEDULE 
II OF SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE 
REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015 
 
In terms of the provisions of Regulation 17(8) read with Part B of Schedule II of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and based on the report of Legatrix 
Software and Certificates issued by the Functional Heads, we certify that for the quarter and 
financial year ended March 31, 2023, there has been due compliance of all applicable laws, orders, 
regulations and other legal requirements of the central, state and other Government and local 
authorities concerning the business and affairs of the Company and in particular to the following: 

 
A. That all returns and forms have been filed and particulars furnished to the Tax Authorities 

under Income Tax Act 1961, Finance Act, 2017, Goods and Services Tax (GST), Delhi VAT Act, 
Registrar of Companies, BSE Limited, Reserve Bank of India and / or Authorities as required by 
the Companies Act, 2013, SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015, FEMA Regulations and other applicable laws/ regulations and the rules made there 
under. 
 

B. That all sums required to be deducted in accordance with the provisions of the Income-Tax 
Act, 1961 have been properly deducted and further certified that all the sums so deducted 
have been paid or will be paid within the prescribed time to the credit of the Central 
Government as per the provisions of the Income-Tax Act, 1961. 

 

C. That the financial statements and the cash flow statement for the quarter and Financial Year 
are reviewed and that to the best of our knowledge and belief: 
i. these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact 

or contain statements that might be misleading; 
ii. these statements together present a true and fair view of the listed entity’s affairs and are 

in compliance with existing accounting standards, applicable laws and regulations. 
 

D. To the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during 
the quarter and financial year which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code 
of conduct. 
 

E. Internal controls for financial reporting are maintained and its effectiveness have been 
evaluated and we have disclosed to the Auditors and the Audit Committee, deficiencies in the 
design or operation of such internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps they 
have taken or propose to take to rectify these deficiencies.  
 

F. The following has been indicated to the Auditors and the Audit committee: 
i. significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the quarter and 

financial year, if any; 



 
 

ii. significant changes in accounting policies during the quarter and financial year and that 
the same have been disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, if any; and 

iii. there are no instances of significant fraud of which we have become aware and the 
involvement therein, of the management or an employee having a significant role in the 
Company’s internal control system over financial reporting. 

 
This Certificate is given by the undersigned with full knowledge that, on its faith and strength, 
full reliance is placed by the Board of Directors of the Company. 
     
     Sd/- Sd/- 

Hari Nagrani                             
Chief Financial Officer  

Videh Kumar Jaipuriar 
Chief Executive Officer 

 
Date: May 18, 2023 

 



        
 

 
 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MDA) REPORT 
 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS: 
 
This document contains statements about expected future events, financial and operating 

performance of Delhi International Airport Limited [“DIAL/ Company”], which are forward-

looking. By their nature, forward-looking statements require the Company to make 

assumptions and are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties. There is significant risk that 

the assumptions, predictions and other forward-looking statements will not prove to be 

accurate. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as 

a number of factors could cause assumptions, actual future results and events to differ 

materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements. Accordingly, this 

document is subject to the disclaimer which is qualified in its entirety by the assumptions, and 

risk factors that are referred in the management’s discussion and analysis of the Delhi 

International Airport Limited’s Annual Report for financial year 2022-2023. 

 
Financial year 2022-2023 and Impact of COVID-19 on Indian Aviation: 
 
Since the onset of COVID-19 in India, air travel has been significantly impacted. However, 

financial year 2022-2023 marked a significant recovery in the overall traffic levels as India 

experienced an entire financial year without the adversities of any ‘Wave’ of COVID-19 

infections. The year started on a positive note with the restart of scheduled international 

operations. Domestic operations continued without any restrictions on capacity.  

Indira Gandhi International Airport, New Delhi [IGIA] witnessed 49.7 million of domestic traffic 

in financial year 2022-2023 which was marginally higher than the pre-pandemic period. This 

was on the back of revival in traffic across all travel segments such as Leisure, Visiting Friends 

& Relatives (VFR) as well as Business. International traffic had a restrained recovery in the initial 

quarters, but slowly picked up to reach 80% of pre-covid level by March 2023. Europe and 

North America had much quicker recovery than expected. Asia Pacific recovery remained low, 

primarily due to the restricted frequency with China and Hong Kong.  

Cargo business, which had shown significant resilience during the pandemic impacted period 

of financial year 2020-2021 and financial year 2021-2022, faced significant challenges 

throughout the year. Overall, at an annual level, Cargo business contracted by 3.1 %. Similar 

trends were observed in the global cargo market which was majorly impacted by two events, 

first the Russia-Ukraine war which triggered inflation across North America and Europe due to 

high energy prices. This had an impact on Exports for India. Secondly, due to sudden outbreak 

of COVID in China, supply chain for key commodities was significantly impacted which led to 

impact on Import as well as Domestic cargo movement for some commodities. 

DIAL has continued its efforts to enhance the passenger experience at IGIA throughout 

financial year 2022-2023. It continued its progress on completion of its capacity expansion at 



        
 

 
 

Terminal 1 while the construction of 4th runway and the eastern cross taxi way has been 

completed. DIAL implemented the facial recognition based passenger journey technology 

under the aegis of Digi Yatra. Digi Yatra has significantly eased the time and effort taken by 

passengers to cross various touch points at the IGIA and provides a seamless and hassle-free 

journey to passengers. 

Future Growth Potential: 

In financial year 2022-2023, IGIA handled 65.3 million passengers and 0.90 million metric 

tonnes (MMT) of cargo volume. It recorded a 66% increase in passenger traffic and 3% 

decrease in cargo volume over previous year. During the year, IGIA passenger and cargo market 

share was 20.0% and 28.4% respectively amongst Indian airports. DIAL was once again 

recognized as the ‘Best Airport’ for service quality in the region by ACI and ‘Best Airport in 

South Asia’ by Skytrax. IGI Airport continues to be the leading Airport among all Indian airports 

in both passenger traffic and cargo handled.  

With overall domestic traffic reaching pre-pandemic levels and international traffic also 

showing strong signs of recovery, DIAL expects demand to grow further over the next 5 years. 

The veracity of the demand is evident from the addition of new international destinations at 

IGIA. In both the domestic and international segments, traffic numbers continue to grow even 

with relatively higher air travel price levels compared to pre-pandemic period. 

As per a recent estimate from ICRA, India’s domestic passenger traffic is expected to grow from 

8-13% in the next fiscal year. Passenger surveys have shown that number of first time 

passengers has significantly increased over the past year, which will result into stronger 

demand in coming years. The positive outlook of growth has been further re-enforced by the 

large fleet orders by major Indian carriers. 

DIAL continues to work with all stakeholders including the airlines to further establish IGIA as 

an international hub airport for passengers and cargo. In line with this goal, DIAL will continue 

to work towards connecting new international destinations and enhancing frequencies on 

existing destinations. DIAL will continue to work with international carriers to boost long haul 

flights as well as dedicated freighters coming into Delhi.  

Operational Performance - Delhi Airport: 

During the financial year 2022-2023, IGIA was able to enhance the domestic connectivity within 

India by connecting to a number of new destinations. As government had removed restrictions 

on operation of scheduled international flights, International passenger traffic has also 

witnessed robust recovery barring countries such as China and Hong Kong. 



        
 

 
 

 

DIAL witnessed significant growth of traffic at IGIA in financial year 2022-2023. Passenger 
traffic at IGIA was 65.3 million in financial year 2022-2023, a growth of 66.1% over previous 
year with 140.0% growth in international traffic and 51.4% growth in domestic traffic. During 
the financial year 2022-2023, IGIA handled 429,964 Air Traffic Movements (ATMs) and clocked 
0.90 MMT cargo volume.  

 

 

Hon’ble Minister of Civil Aviation kicked off Digi Yatra (a contactless biometric passenger 

processing platform) at IGIA on December 01, 2022. DIAL has deployed Digi Yatra infrastructure 

across all the touch points in Terminal 3 & Terminal 2 of IGIA.  
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DIAL’s focus on operational excellence and customer experience backed by a strong 

organizational culture has helped sustain its leadership position in Airport Service Quality. As a 

result, DIAL was once again recognized as the Best Airport for service quality in the region by 

Airports Council International (ACI) and Best Airport in South Asia by Skytrax. IGIA has improved 

its world ranking to 36 and is the only airport in India among top 40 airports in the world Skytrax 

ranking. 

Awards and Accolades of Financial Year 2022-2023  

 Delhi Airport has once again emerged as Best Airport in the over 40 million passengers per 

annum (MPPA) category in Asia Pacific region by ACI in the Airport Service Quality 

Programme (ASQ) for the 5th time in a row in 2022 rankings. 

 In the newest category in ACI ASQ award, DIAL has been bestowed with ‘Cleanest Airport’ 

in the Asia Pacific region award 

 IGI Airport has been voted as Best Airport in India / South Asia for 5th consecutive years in 

Skytrax ranking.   

 In terms of Skytrax world airports ranking, Delhi airport jumped from rank 50 in 2020 to 45th 

in 2021 and further to current rank of 36. 

 IGI Airport was conferred ‘Best Airport’ in the country in the ASSOCHAM’s 14th  International 

Conference cum Awards on Civil Aviation 

Sustainability Focus 

DIAL has always had a strong focus on Sustainability, and has received various awards and 

accolades in this regard for many years now. In FY 2022-2023: 

 DIAL has won the Silver Recognition in the Green Airports Recognition run by ACI Asia 

Pacific in over 35 million passenger category. This is the 6th consecutive year where DIAL 

has been appreciated and awarded for it’s sustainable initiatives.  

 DIAL was declared the prestigious ‘Energy Excellent Unit’ and bestowed with ‘National 

Energy Leader Award - 2022 by CII – Green Business Centre based on the consistent 

performance of the highest level in the last four years. 

 In Wings India 2022, organized by Ministry of Civil Aviation, IGI Airport was bestowed with 

“Aviation Sustainability and Environment Award”. 

 Environment Policy of the company has been updated focusing Environment and 

Sustainability (dated 1st November, 2023) and disclosed in the website.  

Financial Performance Overview: 
 
For the financial year ended March 31, 2023, the Company had total income of ₹ 42,542.75 

million (US$ 517.74 million) and EBITDA of ₹ 12,480.97 million (US$ 151.89 million), an increase 

of 39% and decrease of 33% respectively from the total income of ₹ 30,573.46 million (US$ 



        
 

 
 

372.08 million) and EBITDA of ₹ 18,569.93 million (US$ 225.99 million) for financial year ended 

March 31, 2022.  

 

The revenue of the Company is primarily derived from aeronautical services, which includes 

domestic and international landing and parking & housing fees, user development fees, 

baggage x-ray charges, fuel farm charges; and non-aeronautical services, which are derived 

primarily from commercial and other activities at the Airport. The former is regulated by AERA 

under the terms of Operation, Management and Development Agreement (OMDA) and State 

Support Agreement (SSA) whereas the latter is unregulated. The Company also earn lease 

rental revenue from license fees in connection with certain commercial property development 

activities at the Airport. 

   (₹ in Millions except percentages) 

 Year ended March 31  

 Particulars 2023 2022 

Revenue from Operations        

Revenue from Aeronautical Operations 9,376.32 22% 6,274.04 21% 

Revenue from Non-Aeronautical Operations 24,772.55 58% 16,579.86 54% 

Other operating revenue (Commercial Property 
Development) 

5,750.86 14% 6,286.87 21% 

Total Revenue from Operations 39,899.72 94% 29,140.76 95% 

Other Income 2,643.03 6% 1,432.70 5% 

Total Income 42,542.75 100% 30,573.46 100% 

Total of Non-Aeronautical Revenue and Revenue 
from Commercial Property Development 

30,523.41 72% 22,866.73 75% 

 
Revenue from Aeronautical operations:  
 
Revenues from aeronautical operations were ₹ 9,376.32 million in financial year 2023 as against ₹ 

6,274.04 million in financial year 2022, accounting for 22% and 21% of total income in those periods. 

The table below sets forth the amount of revenue from each type of aeronautical service for the 

given period.  

     (₹ in Millions except percentages) 

Year ended March 31 

Particulars 2023 2022 

Revenue From Aeronautical Operations         

Landing and Parking Charges 5,048.14 54% 3,863.17 62% 

Fuel Farm 32.55 0% 22.65 0% 

Baggage X-Ray Charges 724.85 8% 374.55 6% 

PSF Facilitation 2,226.88 24% 1,237.87 20% 

User Development Fee 1,343.90 14% 775.80 12% 

Total 9,376.32 100% 6,274.04 100% 

 
Revenue from Non-Aeronautical operations:  



        
 

 
 

 
Revenue from non-aeronautical operations were ₹ 24,772.45 million in the financial year 2022-2023 

as compared to ₹ 16,579.86 million in the financial year 2021-2022, accounting for 58% and 54% of 

total income in those years. The table below sets forth the amount of revenue from certain types 

of our non-aeronautical services for the given year. 

 

Year ended March 31 

  (₹ in Millions except percentages) 

Particulars 2023 2022 

Revenue From Non-Aeronautical Operations         

Duty Free 5072.20 20% 2117.55 13% 

Retail 1791.72 7% 926.70 6% 

Advertisement 1665.26 7% 952.81 6% 

Food and Beverages 2130.77 9% 1101.27 7% 

Cargo 3360.83 14% 3314.32 20% 

Ground Handling 1611.22 7% 946.22 6% 

Parking 730.83 3% 347.68 2% 

Land and Space Rentals 5372.10 22% 4970.30 30% 

Others* 3037.51 12% 1903.02 11% 

Total 24772.45 100% 16579.86 100% 

*Others primarily include revenue from IT services, including maintenance, management, 
upgrades and modernization of IT resources at the IGIA received from one of the joint ventures, 
income from foreign exchange counters and flight catering charges. 

 
Diversified revenue sources: 
 
Your company has a well-diversified revenue mix comprising aeronautical, non-aeronautical and 

commercial property development. The aeronautical revenues comprise of landing fees, parking 

and housing fees, user development fee and baggage x-ray charges. The non-aeronautical 

revenues comprise of income from food and beverages, duty-free shops, advertisement/hoarding 

and display, car park, cargo, bridge mounted equipment, ground handling, car rental, flight 

catering, fuel throughput charges, transit hotel, land and space, hangar rent and ATM/lounges 

rent. The revenue from commercial property development comprises of lease income. 

 

With post lockdown relaxations on the air traffic movement, the company saw an increase in 

passenger traffic by 66% as compared to previous financial year. The cargo business has seen a 

considerable growth at the domestic level with an increase of 8% as compared to previous 

financial year, however, the cargo business at the international level witnessed a decline of 9% as 

compared to previous financial year. Your Company also maintained a stable stream of income 

from commercial property development, which highlights the pay-off of diverse concession 

models. 

 
 



        
 

 
 

The details of last five years financial parameters are as follows: 
 

Gross Revenue                                                                                                 (₹ in Millions) 

 

Net Worth                                           (₹ in Millions) 

 

EBITDA                                                                               (₹ in Millions) 
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CSR Initiatives 
 

BRIEF REPORT ON DIAL- CSR (2022-2023): 
 
The Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Unit of Delhi International Airport Limited (DIAL) has 
been working with the communities neighboring Indira Gandhi International (IGI) Airport, since 
June 2006 in collaboration with GMR Varalakshmi Foundation. Currently DIAL CSR is working 
with six communities namely Savda Ghevra JJ Colony, Mehram Nagar East located near IGI 
Airport, Shahabad Mohammadpur village, Dwarka and Samalkha in the periphery of the IGI 
Airport. During the financial year 2022-2023, DIAL CSR extended its services to Najafgarh & 
Palam. DIAL CSR is working with an approximate population of 50,000 in these locations. Apart 
from running a vocational training centre for dropout youth from disadvantaged communities, 
DIAL is also running different activities under the thrust areas of Education, Health, Hygiene & 
Sanitation and Empowerment & Livelihoods in the target community. During the financial year 
2022-2023, the following activities/initiatives were taken up under Preventive Health Care & 
Sanitation; Promoting Education including Vocational Skills and Gender Equality through 
Women Empowerment as per  CSR policy of the Company.  
 
Preventive Health Care and Sanitation: 
 
Recognizing that health is integral to a good quality of life, DIAL CSR works on preventing 
healthcare services and emphasis on health education and awareness. To make quality 
healthcare accessible to community, many initiatives like Mobile Medicare Units (MMU), 
Health Clinic, Health Camp and Nutrition Centre were running in the communities. The whole 
objective was to take healthcare to the doorstep of populations, particularly vulnerable and 
under-privileged community.  In this financial year 2022-23, more than 31000 people were 
directly reached through these healthcare services.  
 
Two Mobile Medical units operated in association with Help Age India with an outreach in 25 
sites in the periphery of the airport benefitted about 30,000 community members. The Multi 
Activity center for elderly at Palam, Dwarka reaching out to around 150 elderlies through 
physiotherapy & recreational activities in partnership with Help Age India. Beneficiaries were 
also provided Digital Literacy. The nutrition centre that provides nutrition support to pregnant 
and lactating mothers and sensitize them to maintain proper nutrition and childcare practices 
benefitted 100 women through delivery of Nutrition supplements & awareness sessions. In 
Samarth, we provide care and support to persons with disabilities, supported around 100 
people through aids and appliances like wheel chair, walking stick, walker, crutches etc. and 
Special education and desired therapy was provided to 35 mentally retarded and hearing-
impaired children. Eye check-up camps in collaboration with Chetak Foundation for Taxi drivers 
were conducted at IGI Airport reaching out to more than 500 taxi drivers. In the winter season, 
more than 1500 blankets and woolen mufflers were distributed at the time of cold waves 
among people on street & living in shelter homes. 
 
Preventive health care services to more than 4000 people were supported through GMRVF in 
Vizianagram distt. (AP) and three districts of UP.  
 Promoting Education including Vocational Skills: 



        
 

 
 

 
Enhancing Quality of Education: Recognizing the importance of Early Childhood Education in 
the holistic development of children, DIAL-CSR runs 3 Balabadis (Pre-schools for the children 
of 3-5-year age group) covering 100 under-privileged children. The CSR unit also runs After 
School Learning Center (ASLC) for students of Std. VI to X benefiting 233 children at Savda 
Ghevra, which provides tuition support to the slow learners. DIAL-CSR continued intervention 
named as Minimum Learning Standard (MLS) program with 271 students, which is based on 
the NCERT given Minimum Learning Levels that emphasizes on learner’s focused age 
appropriate learning. During the year, DIAL CSR supported Govt. School at Shahbad for Mission 
Buniyaad through which 100 students achieved age appropriate learning levels. Pratibha 
Library was re-established at Najafgarh, which provides opportunities to youth from 
disadvantaged background to access resources and study material to grow in their career and 
compete in competitive exams. Around 120 youth were benefitted. Under Gifted Children 
Scheme, continued supporting 30 students from previous years. Under this program, the prime 
focus is to support academic expenditure of children from underprivileged community. 
Children were selected at a very young age (5-6 years) and nurtured by admitting them into 
good English medium schools identified by GMRVF.  
 
DIAL-CSR has contributed to GMRVF for improving learning levels of 2500 students through 
remedial classes, coaching & para teachers in 6 districts of 3 states. 
  
Skill Development: DIAL- CSR is implementing various initiatives for empowering youth and 
women, including vocational training for drop out youth & promotion of entrepreneurial skills 
among women. 
 
Centre for Empowerment and Livelihoods-Delhi (CEL-D): Started in September 2009, the center 
is engaged in imparting vocational skill trainings for under-privileged dropout youth. Since 
inception, above 9000 youth have been trained, with a settlement rate of more than 80%. 
During the year, training was provided in various trades like Basic Computers; Basic Electrical; 
Refrigeration and Air Conditioning; B. Cargo Management; Excavator Operator; Business 
Banking Associate, Food Production & Service, Beautician etc. All the courses are being run in 
partnership with leading industries like, Volvo, Scheineder, Voltas, ATDC, VDMA, CELEBI, TFS 
etc. A total of 1,252 under-privileged youth were trained in 13 trades with settlement rate of 
86%. Guest Service Associate course was initiated during the year. Around 50 trainees from 
Beautician course are promoted as Beautipreneurs. In order to strengthen the soft skill training 
delivery, center joined hands with Brahma Kumaris for delivery of PD program. DIAL CSR 
sponsored vocational training of 50 differently youth by providing grant support to Sarthak 
Education Society in Delhi & NCR. 
 
As part of its support to the Skill India Initiative, besides running CEL-D, DIAL CSR has supported 
GMRVF to impart employability training to around 1,000 youth & women with settlement rate 
of 70% through vocational training centers in Gujarat & Andhra Pradesh. 
 
 
 
 
Promoting Gender Equality and Empowerment of Women: 



        
 

 
 

 
DIAL-CSR is running a craft production center at CEL-D. 40 women were trained on fabric/ jute 
based product making during the year. Average monthly income of 8 women was enhanced to 
₹ 10,000 / month. Provided push carts to 35 new beneficiaries, lights and weighing machines 
to 200 beneficiaries and vending certificates & linkages with PM Savnidhi Yojna to 250 
beneficiaries under project SMILE (Supporting Marginalized Individuals with Livelihood & 
Empowerment) 
 
Employee Volunteering:  
 
DIAL-CSR believes in effective partnership and participation of corporate employees in 
community services. During the period 2022-23, 55 employee involvement programs were 
organized to create opportunities for employee involvement, and 750 employees and family 
members were involved and invested 1,260 hours in community services. DIAL colleagues 
implemented two Social Volunteering Projects and ISR initiative was launched through 
installation of gullak in the workstations. 
  
Photo Gallery: 
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Human Resource 
 
DIAL continued to maintain a conducive and cordial Industrial relation climate during the 

financial year 2022-23. The year passed off as yet another year with zero-man day’s loss on 

account of labour disputes and labour unrest. In spite of transition of major contracts including 

Housekeeping, Engineering & Horticulture, we were able to manage Zero-man day’s loss. We 

ensured coordinal Industrial relation through participative management and active 

involvement with various stake holders of IGI Ecosystem. Compliance of applicable Labour 

Laws, adherence to Government Guidelines and consultative decision making, continued to 

remain the core strengths in dealing with employee benefits and welfare issues. As always, 

zero tolerance to indiscipline continued to remain the hallmark of your Company’s philosophy. 

 

DIAL uphold the best Global and Indian labour standards pertaining to wage determination, 

allocation of tasks, shifts & working hours, provision of training, incentive & reward schemes 

and occupational health & safety standards. Both workmen and management complemented 

each other’s efforts in furthering the interest of Company as well as its stakeholders, signifying 

and highlighting overall harmony and cordial employee relations prevalent in DIAL. 

 

Periodic vendor representative meets were conducted where HR Compliance team made 

presentations on new development, new initiative taken addressing queries. These meetings 

are aimed at identifying the areas for enhancing workforce engagement, improving critical 

processes and developing leadership potential. The outcome of this model is identification of 

organizational strengths, opportunities for improvement, issues of concern and best practices. 

DIAL PF trust which came to in existence with rules vide deed of Provident Fund Trust dated 

28th February, 2007 has been changed from exemption to non-exemption in its status.  

 

Successful implementation of “Vendor Suvidha Portal” for digitization of documents and 

paperless processes has not only helped us in saving tons of paper but also resulted in faster 

decision making, transparency and improved efficiency. As part of extending the benefits of 

digitalization, a comprehensive vendor portal has been launched for submission of e-invoices 

and its tracking status. 

 

Handholding employees, standing tall with their family members is an inherit part of value 

system of DIAL. Moreover, DIAL promotes an environment of continuous learning, growth and 

personal achievement. The learning and development activities in DIAL focus on adding new 

skill sets desired and enhancing existing skills as per business needs, strategic challenges and 

as per core competencies of the organization. DIAL provides learning and development 

opportunities based on the training need identified through the role based need identification 

approach, business requirement of core competency, leadership development and strategic 

challenges.  



        
 

 
 

 

 Validation of existing functions and roles in organization unit. 

 Finalization of technical competency dictionary based on the theories and function in the 

organization unit. 

 Identifying skill sets for a role based on the competency dictionary and departmental 

strategy planning. 

 Finalizing training need for the role. 

 Finalizing training needs for the individual based on the proficiency level in the particular 

role. 

 

Brand Transition Programs and Development of Internal Talent:  

 

To reinforce new knowledge and skills on the job and to enable managers in transitioning from 

an individual contributor to a people manager, first time manager intervention has been 

conducted in 2019-2020, 2021-2022 & 2022-2023. The intervention includes a 2-day workshop 

that addressed various competencies of effective manager through interactive activities and 

discussions. Post the workshop, 3 Group Coaching Sessions were conducted with a certified 

coach to reinforce and facilitate the application of the overall learnings.  

 

As part of the Multi-Tier Leadership Development Program, Leadership Excellence for Airport 

Professionals (LEAP) is an intervention the Company created with an objective of developing 

internal talent to its optimum potential for the purpose of organization and personal growth. 

The intervention will focus on competencies around Leading Self, Leading Teams, Financial 

Analysis and Planning, Data based decision making, Strategic Orientation and Managing 

Change in the VUCA environment, supported with strategic initiatives and social responsibility 

projects.Accredited Airport Executive program by American Association of Airport Executives 

(A.A.A.E) and International Association of Airport Executives (IAAE), AAAE’s sister organization. 

The accreditation process is made up of four modules, Airport Finance and Administration; 

Airport Planning, Construction and Environmental; Airport Operations, Safety, Security and 

Maintenance; Airport Marketing, Communications and Community Relations.  

 

Focus on Customer Service and Passenger Experience:  

 

In order to enable our front-end employees to provide exceptional service to passengers and 

other stakeholders which reflects our GMR Values in true sense Being GMR, a training 

intervention was undertaken at Delhi Airport. Based on the results achieved and feedback 

received for the Being GMR program in 2018-2019, Being GMR was conducted in 2019-2020 

for the Terminal Operations team. The intervention was conducted for the Customer Service 

Executives and the Terminal managers also. To strengthen the intervention, Human Job 

analysis was conducted for each of the above-mentioned roles and each participant underwent 

a personal profile analysis to understand the gap in the behavioural traits that are required for 



        
 

 
 

their roles. The efforts resulted in sustaining our global leadership positions in both ACI and 

SKYTRAX and bringing in more recognition. 

 

Focus on Knowledge Management and Engagement:  

 

Wins over Worries campaign was launched to capture the new developed capabilities, 

knowledge and dispositions developed.  The session aims to make the employees be aware 

about some of the best practices. During these sessions, one SCM every month, speaks about 

the challenges faced by the team and the solutions developed to overcome them. The session 

highlights new capability, knowledge, initiatives, processes, strategies and systems, which have 

been implemented to deal with evolving scenario. 

 

Focus on developmental and Behavioural growth:  

 

Trainings such as Execution Effectiveness, Empathy, Personal Effectiveness, Frugality, Conflict 

Management, Presentation Skills, Negotiation & Influencing skills, Emotional Intelligence, 

Financial Modelling, and Advanced MS Excel etc. are the behavioural trainings that were 

conducted to upskill and empower our employees. 

 

Trainings such as, Handling of Hazmat Emergencies, Fire Extinguishing Training, Basic Fire 

Safety Training, R/T Phraseology, Annex-14, AIS, AIP, NOTAM, DGR Training, etc. are the 

technical training aligned to our aim of having safe and smooth aircraft operations at the 

Company. 

 

The Company also conducts program for creating awareness on gender sensitivity. Programs 

such as ALL women workshop on gender sensitivity, HARMONY- a gender sensitivity dialogue 

and Soaring High - A women in transition, were conducted to facilitate gender sensitive 

approach.  

 

People practices and policies of rewarding, listening and celebrating:  

 

The Company is having robust people practice and policy to reward, connect with employees 

and recognize their contribution towards the organization. There are multiple forums to hear 

out employee voice and address their issues, starting from Leadership Connect, CHRO 

Interaction and HR –Business Partner Connect on different forum like: 

 

Employee Engagement Survey – An annual engagement survey based on Great Place to Work 

model where employee feedback is sought in and action plans are devised around low scoring 

responses. 

  



        
 

 
 

Living GMR Values - An initiative wherein employees have an opportunity to imbibe and 

practices GMR Values and Beliefs and assess the maturity level of demonstration for each 

value. 

 

Indradhanush - An initiative to provide opportunity to all employees to present revenue 

generation proposals to contribute to top line and also execute them post evaluation.   

 

SKIP level meetings - Meetings where employees interact with the manager of immediate 

manager or HOD, in absence of the immediate manager in hierarchy. 

 

HR Dialogues (monthly / Quarterly) - HR Business partner with CHRO attend dialogue sessions 

with departments. Employees attending the meeting can share feedback on how things are 

working and share their grievances as well. 

 

CEO Communication - A quarterly activity where the CEO of DIAL interacts directly with the 

employees and briefs them on the changes that are about to take place in the organization. 

The CEO communication is also aimed at taking and providing feedback from employees on 

what went well and what didn’t go well. 

 

Idea factory - DIAL’s Idea factory has a well-structured process of screening every idea and 

taking it to a logical conclusion. These ideas are implemented & are leveraged for process 

improvement.  

 

HR DIAL email communications for all users - HR has a designated email ID from which all 

communication flows to employees related to policy changes, important information related 

to employees etc. 

 

Umang- Quarterly HR Magazine - Quarterly Employee engagement magazine that showcases 

employee achievements, experience, recreational activities undertaken, cooking recipes, fun 

at work including kids section. 

 

Pratibha - An Annual Cultural show which is driven by the employees for the employees. 

Participants take part in programmes like poetry, painting, singing, dancing etc. to not only 

showcase their talent but to rejuvenate and deliver higher productivity. 

 

Harmony- A Gender Sensitivity program for men and women at the workplace which talk about 

how men and women can work, collaboratively and learn from each other at the workplace. 

 

Insights- Sharing of experience and learning by senior leaders.  

 



        
 

 
 

Skylympics- After a hiatus of 3 years’ DIAL organised sports extravaganza ‘Skylympics’.  The 

whole event comprises various sports disciplines like Football, Volleyball, Badminton, Kabaddi, 

Arm Wrestling, Carrom & Cycling etc. Teams from various stakeholders had participated in this 

event. 

 

Kids Carnival: - DIAL conducted Kids Carnival on yearly basis to engage family of our employees.  

The Company has always ensured, nurtured, and rewarded the association of employees with 

the organization and all the employees having 10 years or more of association with Company 

have been awarded under the category of long service award. Other than celebrating the 

association of employees, Company focuses on career progression of internal talent to 

augment sense of belongingness, ensuring retention and providing a career path to employees 

in cross functional areas too. The Company is having a robust practice and policy of internal 

Job posting through which the first priority is given to internal talent for any vacant position 

and it is a matter of pride that more than 40% of the vacant position are closed through internal 

job postings. Moreover, Company is committed to provide equal opportunities to all 

employees and treat them with dignity. All decisions pertaining to eligibility, qualification and 

selection of applicants in all matters is solely based on merit. As an organization, focus is on 

providing equal opportunities to all employees without any prejudice of region, religion, race 

or gender as per policy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



        
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT HEALTH AND SAFETY & SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT 
 

Your Company is committed to conduct its business in an environment friendly and sustainable 

manner by minimizing the impact of its activities on the environment with necessary pollution 

control systems and safeguards. Your Company addresses Environment, Health and Safety 

(EHS) and sustainability by effective business aspect and associated impact analysis with 

necessary action plans and controls as per the framework of ISO 14001:2015 Environment 

Management Systems (EMS) and by Sustainability Management Framework based on GRI 

Standard. 

 

EHS and Sustainability Management is an integral part of Company’s business strategy. Some 

of the key initiatives by your Company are as follows: 

 

 Adoption of Greenhouse Gas Accounting and Management System at Indira Gandhi 

International Airport, New Delhi (IGIA). The Company has also adopted Airport Carbon 

Accreditation (ACA) program of Airports Council International (ACI). IGIA is the first Airport 

in Asia-Pacific region and only the second airport globally to achieve level 4+ “Transition” 

accreditation under this program. ACA is the only globally recognised program for airports to 

manage and reduce their emissions along with the stakeholders. 

 The Company is working towards becoming “Net Zero Carbon Emission” Airport by 2030 by 

following various Government of India initiatives and in line with the ACA guidelines. 

 Implementation of EMS and certification under ISO 14001:2015. The current EMS certificate 

is valid till April 08, 2024. DIAL has also adopted Energy Management System (EnMS) and the 

EnMS is certified under ISO 50001:2018.  

 Adoption of green building standards (LEED & IGBC) in all existing and upcoming 

infrastructures of IGIA. IGIA’s Terminal 3 is a LEED India Gold certified green building under 

“New Construction” category and Platinum rated under Indian Green Building Council (IGBC) 

Existing Building” category. Currently, Company is developing Terminal 1 as a LEED Gold 

certified building with energy efficient design and has obtained LEED Platinum rating pre-

certification. 

 Installation of 7.84 MW solar photovoltaic (PV) plant in the airside premises of IGIA and is 

the first airport in the country to have megawatt scale solar plant in the airside. The Company 

also uses additional renewable energy based electricity from offsite sources through open 

access to achieve 100% renewable energy use. 

 The Company has adopted operational measures such as Airport Collaborative Decision 

Making (A-CDM) to improve operational efficiency and reduce the aircraft emissions through 

better planning and utilization of resources during operation. 



        
 

 
 

 Implementation of water management system that includes, water efficiency measures, 

waste water treatment and recycling through 16.6 MLD Zero Liquid Discharge (ZLD) Sewage 

Treatment Plant and efficient water treatment plant of 5 MLD to provide good quality water. 

 The Company has constructed more than 350 rain water harvesting structures across the 

airport and further as a part of expansion, additional more than 300 structures are being 

added. DIAL has also developed two rain water storage facilities having combined capacity 

approximately 9 ML. 

 Implementation of aircraft noise management system and environmental compliance 

management system. 

 Use of alternative and green fuel vehicles such as CNG and electric vehicle. DIAL has deployed 

57 Electric Vehicles (EVs) in the IGIA. Electric vehicle charging stations have also been set up 

to support users, passengers and electric taxi service providers.  

 More than 120 acres of landscape area which is maintained entirely by supplying Sewage 

Treatment Plant (STP) treated recycled water by drip irrigation and automatic water efficient 

water dispensing system. 

 

Sustainability initiatives of the Company has brought many accolades to IGIA. Some of the key 

awards and achievements are:  

 

 IGIA continues to be the first airport in Asia-Pacific region and only the second airport 

globally to achieve Level 4+ “Transition” accreditation under ACI’s Airport Carbon 

Accreditation framework.  

 DIAL has achieved Confederation of Indian Industry (CII) National Award for Excellence in 

Energy Management and National Energy Leader (September 2022). 

 DIAL successfully completed the external audit for ISO 14001:2015 re-certification. The 

audit was conducted by DNV-GL (March 2023). 

 
 
 
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
of Delhi International Airport Limited 
 
 
Sd/-                                                                                      Sd/- 
G.B.S. Raju      K. Narayana Rao 
Managing Director  Whole-Time Director 
DIN: 00061686      DIN: 00016262 
Place: New Delhi     Place: New Delhi  
 
Date:  August 14, 2023  

 
 
 



        
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNEXURE’S OF DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 

Annexure – A 
Delhi International Airport Limited 

CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
 

Form AOC-1 
(Pursuant to first proviso to sub section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of 

Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014) 
 
Part "A" - Subsidiaries: 
 
Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries or associate 
companies or Joint Ventures: 
 
Your Company does not have any subsidiary as on March 31, 2023. 
 
Part "B" - Associates and Joint ventures: 
 
Statement pursuant to Section 129(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 related to Associate 
Companies and Joint Ventures: 
 

Name of 
Associates
/ 
Joint 
Ventures 

Delhi 
Aviation 
Services 
Private 
Limited  
(DASPL) 

GMR 
Bajoli 
Holi 
Hydropo
wer 
Private 
Limited 
(GBHHPL) 

TIM Delhi 
Airport 
Advertisin
g Private 
Limited 
(TIMDAA) 

Delhi 
Aviation 
Fuel 
Facility 
Private 
Limited  
(DAFFPL
) 

Delhi Airport 
Parking 
Services 
Private 
Limited 
(DAPSPL) 

Travel 
Food 
Services 
(Delhi 
Terminal 
3) Private 
Limited 
(TFS) 

Delhi 
Duty Free 
Services 
Private 
Limited 
(DDFSPL) 

Celebi 
Delhi 
Cargo 
Terminal 
Manage
ment 
India 
Private 
Limited 
(Celebi) 

Digi 
Yatra 
Found
ation 
(DYF) 

1. Latest 
audited 
Balance 
Sheet date 

March 31, 2023 



        
 

 
 

2. Share of 
Associate/
Joint 
Ventures 
was 
associated 
or 
acquired 

Not Applicable 

3. No. of 
Shares of 
Associate 
or Joint 
Ventures 
held by 
the 
Company 
on the 
year end  

1,25,00,
000 

10,83,33,
334 

92,22,505 
4,26,40,
000 

4,06,38,560 56,00,000 
3,99,20,0
00 

2,91,20,0
00 

148 

Amount 
(in ₹) of 
investmen
t in 
Associates
/Joint 
Venture 
(Cash 
value) 

12,50,0
0,000 

1,08,33,3
3,340 

9,22,25,0
50 

42,64,0
0,000 

40,63,85,60
0 

5,60,00,0
00 

39,92,00,
000 

29,12,00,
000 

1480 

Extent of 
Holding % 

50.00% 20.14% 49.90% 26.00% 49.90% 40.00% 49.90% 26.00% 
14.80
% 

4. 
Descriptio
n of how 
there is 
significant 
influence 

Holding more than 20% Capital and further participation in policy making. 

5. Reason 
why the 
associate/j
oint 
venture is 
not 
consolidat
ed  

Not Applicable 



        
 

 
 

6. Net 
worth 
attributabl
e to 
Shareholdi
ng as per 
latest 
audited 
Balance 
Sheet (₹ in 
crore) 

14.48 15.53 51.14 67.43 44.63 10.88 285.69 54.69 (0.13) 

7.Profit/Lo
ss for the 
year (₹ in 
crores) 

(7.50) (209.94) 22.50 23.09 23.88 21.44 266.76 84.72 (0.10) 

i.Consider
ed in 
Consolidat
ion (₹ in 
crores) 

(3.75) (42.28) 11.23 (6.00) 11.92 8.58   133.11 22.03 (0.02) 

ii. Not 
considere
d in 
Consolidat
ion (₹ in 
crores) 

(3.75) (167.67) 11.27 (17.09) 11.96 12.87 133.64 62.69 (0.08) 

 
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors  
of Delhi International Airport Limited 
    

Place: New Delhi 
 
Date: August 14, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Sd/- 
 

 
Sd/- 
 

 
Sd/- 
 

 
Sd/- 
 

G.B.S. Raju K. Narayana Rao Hari Nagrani Abhishek Chawla 
Managing Director Whole-Time Director Chief Financial Officer Company secretary 
DIN-00061686 DIN-00016262  

  



        
 

 
 

 

Annexure – B 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Annual Report of Delhi International Airport Limited for 

the Financial Year 2022-23 

  

1. Brief outline on CSR Policy of the Company: 

The Company has adopted CSR Policy as recommended by its CSR Committee and the Board 

which covers mainly (I) Preamble; (II) Guiding Principles for Selection & Implementation of 

Projects/ Programs under CSR Policy; (III) Expenditure incurred for certain activities shall not 

be treated as CSR activity by the Company; (IV) Surplus from CSR activities; (V) Monitoring 

of CSR activities; (VI) Annual Action Plan; and (VII) Amendment.   

2. Composition of CSR Committee: 

 

Sl. 

No.  

Name of the 

Director  

Designation / Nature of 

Directorship  

Number of 

meetings of CSR 

Committee held 

during the year  

Number of 

meetings of CSR 

Committee 

attended during 

the year  

1. Dr. Emandi 

Sankara Rao 

Independent Director  

(Chairman of the CSR Committee) 

Two (2) Two (2) 

2. Mr. Indana 

Prabhakara Rao 

Executive Director  (Member of 

the CSR Committee) 

Two (2) Two (2) 

3. Mr. Narayana Rao 

Kada 

Whole-time Director (Member of 

the CSR Committee) 

Two (2) Two (2) 

 

3. Web-link where Composition of CSR committee, CSR Policy and CSR projects approved by the 

Board are disclosed on the website of the Company: 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/corporate/our-company    

4. Details of Impact assessment of CSR projects carried out in pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 

8 of the Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014:  Not Applicable   

5. Details of the amount available for set off in pursuance of sub-rule (3) of rule 7 of the 

Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014 and amount required for set 

off for the financial year, if any:  

 

Sl. 

No.  

Financial Year  Amount available for set-off from 

preceding financial years (in ₹)  

Amount required to be set-off 

for the financial year, if any (in 

₹)  

1. 2022-23 8,71,93,000/- 4,73,78,000/- 

https://www.newdelhiairport.in/corporate/our-company


        
 

 
 

  

 

6. Average net profit of the company as per section 135(5): 
Amount (₹ in Crore) 

Financial Year Net Profits/ (Loss) 

2019-20 (55,72,21,443) 

2020-21 (4,76,25,63,433) 

2021-22 (45,57,31,315) 

Total Net Profit / (Loss) for 3 years (577,55,16,191) 

Average Net Profit / (Loss)  (192,51,72,063.66) 

 

7. Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 135(5): NIL   

(a) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the previous 

financial years:  NIL 

(b) Amount required to be set off for the financial year, if any:  ₹.4,73,78,000/- 

(c) Total CSR obligation for the financial year (7a+7b-7c):   NIL 

8. (a) CSR amount spent or unspent for the financial year:   

 

Total Amount Spent 
for the 
Financial Year (in ₹)  

  

 Amount Unspent (in Rs.)  

 Total Amount transferred to 

Unspent CSR Account as per section 

135(6) 

 

 Amount transferred to any fund 

specified under Schedule VII as per 

second proviso to section 135(5) 

 Amount  Date of transfer Name 

of the 

Fund  

Amount Date of transfer 

 4,73,78,000/- NIL   NIL  

   

b) Details of CSR amount spent against ongoing projects for the financial year:  

 

(1

) 

 (2)  (3)  (4)  (5)  (6)  (7)  (8)  (9)  (10)  (11)  

Sl

. 

N

o 

Item from 
the list of 
activities 

in 

Local 

area   

(Yes/

No) 

Location 

of the 

project 

Project 
duratio

n(in  

Amount 
allocate

d for 

the 
project 

Amount 
spent in 

the 
current 
financial 

Amount 

Transfer
red to 

Unspent 
CSR 

Mode  of 

Implement
ation - 

Mode  of  

Implementatio

n - Through 

Implementing  

Agency 



        
 

 
 

Name of the 
Project 

Schedule 
VII to the 

Act 

Sta

te 

Distr

ict 

months
) 

(in ₹) Year (in 

₹) 

Account 
for the 
project 
as per 

Section 
135(6) 
(in ₹) 

Direct 
(Yes/No). 

Nam
e 

CSR 

Registrati
on 

number 

1. Preventive 

health care 

services at 

door step 

through 

MMUs 

 

 

Preventiv

e health 

care & 

sanitation 

 

 

Yes Delhi 
/SW 
Delhi 

slums/JJ 
clusters 

in 
peripher
y of IGI 
airport 

12 

months 

50,00,0

00 

50,00,0

00 

NA No 

Help 

Age 

India 

 

 

CSR0000

0901 

 

 

 

2. Educational 

Support to 

30 Gifted 

Children 

 

 

Promotin

g 

Education 

including 

vocational 

skills 

Yes Delhi; 

SW 

Delhi 

12 

months 

6,00,00

0 

5,67,00

0 

NA No 

 

GMR

VF 

 

CSR0000

0851 

 

3. Vocational 

training to 

more than 

800 

school/colle

ge dropout 

youth 

Promotin

g 

Education 

including 

vocational 

skills 

Yes 

Delhi; 

SW 

Delhi 

 

 

12 

months 

1,90,00,

000 

1,65,61,

000 

NA No 

GMR

VF 

 

 

CSR0000

0851 

 

 

4 Entreprene

urship 

training for 

200 women 

Gender 

Equality 

through 

women 

Empower

ment 

Yes Delhi 

slums in 

peripher

y of IGI 

Airport 

 

12 

months 

4,00,00

0 

2,50,00

0 

NA No 

GMR

VF 

 

 

CSR0000

0851 

 

 

 Total 

Amount in 

Lakh (Rs.) 

    2,50,00,

000 

2,23,78,

000 

    

   

 

 



        
 

 
 

C) Details of CSR amount spent against other than ongoing projects for the financial year:  
  

(1
)  

(2)  (3)  (4) (5)  (6)  (7)  (8)  

Sl. 
N
o. 

Name of 
the Project 

 

Item  
from 

the  list 
 of 

activitie
s 
in 

schedul
e 

VII to 
the Act. 

Loc
al 

are
a 

(Yes
/ 

No)
. 
 
 

Location of the project. Amount 
spent 

for the 
project 
in the 

Financial 
Year 
(in ₹) 

 

Mode of 
implementa

tion 
- 

 Direct 
(Yes/No). 

 

Mode  of 
Implementation 

through 
implementing 

agency. 

State 
 

District Nam
e. 
 

CSR 
registratio

n 
Number 

1 Employabil
ity training 
to affected 
youths/wo

men 

Promoti
ng 

Educati
on 

includin
g 

vocatio
nal 

skills 

No Andhra 
Pradesh 

Tamilnad
u 
Karnatka 
Gujarat 

Krishna, 
Vijiyanagram 

 
Salem 

Banglore 
Narmada 

1,08,38,
000 

No GMR
VF 

CSR00000
851 

 

2 Improving 
learning 
levels of 
affected 

kids 

Promoti
ng 

Educati
on 

includin
g 

vocatio
nal 

skills 

Yes 
No 
No 
No 
No 
No 

Delhi 
UP 

Uttarakh
and 

Himachal 
P 

Tamilnad
u 

Andhra 
Pradesh 

South West 
Kanpur, 

Kosambi,pray
agraj 

Chamoli 
Chamba 
Chennai 

Vijiyanagram 
 
 

75,98,00
0 

No GMR
VF 

CSR00000
851 

 

3 Preventive 
Health care 

services 

Prevent
ive 

health 
care & 
sanitati

on 

No 
 

UP 
Uttarakh

and 
Himachal 

P 
Andhra 
Pradesh 

Kanpur, 
Kosambi,Pray

agraj 
Chamoli 
Chamba 

 
Vijiyanagram 

65,64,00
0 

No GMR
VF 

CSR00000
851 

 

     Total Amount 
in Rs. 

2,50,00,
000 

2,50,00,000   

 

d) Amount spent in Administrative Overheads: NIL 



        
 

 
 

 

e) Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable: NIL 

 

f) Total amount spent for the Financial Year (8b+8c+8d+8e) = ₹ 4,73,78,000/- 

 

g) Excess amount for set off, if any: ₹ 4,73,78,000/- 

 

Sl. 

No.  

Particulars  Amount (in ₹)    

(i)  Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 

135(5)  NIL 

(ii)  Total amount spent for the Financial Year  4,73,78,000/- 

(iii)  Excess amount spent for the financial year [(ii)-(i)]  4,73,78,000/- 

(iv)  Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of 

the previous financial years, if any  

NIL 

(v)  Amount available for set off in succeeding financial years [(iii)-(iv)] 4,73,78,000/- 

 

9. (a) Details of Unspent CSR amount for the preceding three financial years: NIL 

   

Sl. 
No. 

 Preceding Financial Year 

  

Amount  
transferred  
to Unspent 
CSR Account 
under section 
135 (6) (in 
₹)  

  

Amount spent in 
the reporting 
Financial Year (in 
₹) 
  

  

Amount 
transferred to 
any fund 
specified under 
Schedule VII as 
per section 
135(6) if any 

 Amount  
remaining  to be 
spent in  
succeeding 
financial years (in  
₹)  
  

Name of 
the  
Fund  
  

 
Amount 
(in ₹) 

  

Date of 
transfer 

  

 

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL 

   

b. Details of CSR amount spent in the financial year for ongoing projects of the preceding 

financial year(s): NIL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



        
 

 
 

(1)  (2)  (3)  (4)  (5)  (6)  (7)  (8)  (9)  

Sl. 

No. 

Project ID. Name of 
the 

Project. 

Financial 

Year in 
which the 

project was 
commenced 

Project 
duration 

 

 

 

Total  
amount 

allocated 
for 
 the 

project 
(in Rs) 

Amount 
spent on 

the  
project 
in the 

reporting 
Financial 

Year 

(in ₹) 

Cumulative  
amount 

spent at the 
end  of  
reporting 
Financial 

Year 

(in ₹) 

Status of 
the project 

- 

Completed 
/Ongoing 

 

NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL 

   

10. In case of creation or acquisition of capital asset, furnish the details relating to the asset 

so created or acquired through CSR spent in the financial year (asset-wise details): Not 

applicable 

 

              Date of creation or acquisition of the capital asset(s).  

(a) Amount of CSR spent for creation or acquisition of capital asset.  
(b) Details of the entity or public authority or beneficiary under whose name such capital 

asset is registered 
(c) Provide details of the capital asset(s) created or acquired (including complete 

address and location of the capital asset).  
     

11. Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net 

profit as per section 135(5): Not Applicable  

            

 

 
Date: May 25, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sd/- 
 
Dr. Emandi Sankara Rao 
Independent Director 

 (Chairman CSR Committee) 
 DIN: 05184747 

Sd/- 
 
K. Narayana Rao 
Whole Time Director 
(Member of CSR Committee) 
DIN: 00016262 



        
 

 
 

Annexure – C 
Delhi International Airport Limited 

CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
 

Form No. MR-3 
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT 

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2023 
[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 

No.9 of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration Personnel) 
Rules, 2014] 

 
To, 
The Members, 
Delhi International Airport Limited 
New Udaan Bhawan, Opposite Terminal-3,  
Indira Gandhi International Airport, 
New Delhi-110 037 
 
I was appointed by Delhi International Airport Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Company”) to conduct Secretarial Audit as per the provisions of Section 204 of Companies Act, 
2013, for the financial year ended March 31, 2023. 
 
I have conducted the Secretarial Audit in respect of compliances as per applicable statutory 
provisions and adherence to good corporate practices by the Company. Secretarial Audit was 
conducted in a manner that provided me/us with a reasonable basis for evaluating the 
corporate conducts/ statutory compliances and expressing my opinion thereon. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for Secretarial Compliances 
 
The Company’s management is responsible for preparation and maintenance of secretarial 
records and for devising proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of applicable 
laws and regulations. 
 
Auditors Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records, standards and 
procedures followed by the Company with respect to secretarial compliances, based on our 
audit. 
 
We believe that audit evidence and information obtained from the Company’s management is 
adequate and appropriate for us to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable 
assurance about the correctness of the contents of the secretarial records. The verification was 
done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in secretarial records. We believe 
that the processes and practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  
 



        
 

 
 

We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and books of 
accounts of the company. 
 
Wherever required, we have obtained the management representation about the compliance 
of laws, rules and regulations and happening of events etc. 
The secretarial audit report is neither an assurance to the future viability of the Company nor 
of the efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the 
Company. 
 
Opinion 
 
I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by the Company for the financial year ended on March 31, 2023 according to the 
provisions of:  
 
(i)  The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder; 
 
(ii)  The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder, 

as may be applicable; 
 
(iii)  The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder, as may 

be applicable; 
 
(iv)  Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made 

thereunder to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, and External Commercial 
Borrowings; 

 
(v)  The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange 

Board of India Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):- 
 

(a)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011 – Not applicable to the Company during the year under 
review, 

(b)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 
Regulations, 2015 , 

(c)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2018 – Not applicable to the Company during the year 
under review; 

(d)  Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat 
Equity) Regulations, 2021 – Not applicable to the Company during the year under 
review; 

(e)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) 
Regulations, 2008, 

(f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible 
Securities) Regulations, 2021 



        
 

 
 

(g)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer 
Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with client – Not 
applicable to the Company during the year under review; 

(h)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 
2021 – Not applicable to the Company during the year under review; and 

(i)  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 2018 
– Not applicable to the Company during the year under review; 

(j) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participants) 
Regulations, 2018 

 
I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following: 
 
(i) Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India.  
(ii) SEBI (Listing Obligation and Disclosure Requirements), Regulations, 2015  

 
Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers, minutes books, forms and returns 
filed and other records maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the 
Company, its officers, agents and authorised representatives during the conduct of Secretarial 
Audit, we hereby report that in our opinion, the Company has, during the financial year ended 
March 31, 2023, complied with the aforesaid laws, material compliances are listed in the 
Annexure attached to this report. 
 
We also confirmed that the Company is in compliance with the requirements of maintaining 
Structured Digital Database (SDD) as per the Regulations 3(5) and 3(6) of SEBI (PIT) Regulations, 
2015. 
 
AERA has issued tariff order no 57/2020-21 for third control period (“CP3”) starting from April 
1, 2019 to March 31, 2024 on December 30, 2020 allowing the Company to continue with 
BAC+10% tariff for the balance period of third control period. AERA has also allowed 
compensatory tariff in lieu of Fuel Throughput Charges w.e.f. February 01, 2021 for the balance 
period of third control period. The Company had also filed an appeal against some of AERA’s 
decision in third control period order on January 29, 2021 with TDSAT. 
 
The Company’s appeal against the second control period (“CP2”) is pending before the TDSAT 
and the same is still to be heard which shall be heard in due course. Also, the Company in 
respect of the Company order against first Control period appeal dated April 23, 2018 has filed 
a limited appeal in the Hon’ble Supreme Court of India on July 21, 2018 and same is still to be 
heard. 
 
TDSAT at the request of AERA and concurred by the Company has agreed and tagged CP2 
appeal with CP3 appeal. The matter is being sub judice at TDSAT. 
 
Based on information received and records maintained, we further report that: 
 
1. The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive 

Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors.  
 



        
 

 
 

2. Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the Board Meetings. Agenda and 
detailed notes on agenda were sent in compliance of the Secretarial Standards, and a 
system exists for seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda 
items before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the meeting. 

 
3. Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting members’ views are captured and 

recorded as part of the minutes. 
 
4. The Company has proper Board processes. 
 
I further report that during the Audit period there were following Specific events/actions 
having a major bearing on Company’s affairs in pursuance of the above referred Laws, Rules, 
Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. which are : 
 
1. Pursuant to the issue of listed Non-Convertible Debentures (NCDs), the Company had got 

listed on June 23, 2022. 
 

Based on the compliance mechanism established by the Company in the form of Legatrix 
Software and Compliance Certificate(s) issued by the Function Head(s) of all the Departments 
to the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the Company and on 
the basis of said certificate(s) the Compliance Certificate(s) signed by Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) taken on records by the Board of Directors at their 
meeting(s), we are of the opinion that the management has adequate systems and processes 
in the company commensurate with the size and operations of the Company to monitor and 
ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines. 
 
 Sd/- 
Place: New Delhi  
Date:17/05/2023 
UDIN: F004982E000323795  

 
Maneesh Gupta 

FCS No. 4982 
C P No. 2945 

PR No.- 2314/2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



        
 

 
 

ANNEXURE TO SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT 
 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the examinations carried 
out by us and explanations furnished, and representations made to us by the Company, its 
officers and agents, we report that the Company has during the financial year under review, 
complied with the provisions of the Acts, Rules made thereunder and the Memorandum and 
Articles of Association of the Company with regard to: 
 

1. Maintenance of various statutory registers and documents and making necessary 
entries therein: 
 

2. Contracts, Common Seal and Registered Office and publication of name of the 
Company; 
 

3. Forms, returns, documents and resolutions wherever required to be filed with the 
Registrar of Companies, Regional Director, Central Government, National Company 
Law Tribunal (NCLT) or such other authorities; 
 

4. Service of documents by the Company on its Members, Directors, Auditors and 
Registrar of Companies; 
 

5. Re-constitution of the Board of Directors, Audit Committee, Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, Stakeholders Relationship Committee and Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee; 
 

6. Constitution of Risk Management and Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) 
Committee. 
 

7. Appointment, re-appointment and Retirement of Directors and payment of 
remuneration to them; 
 

8. Disclosure of interest and concerns in contracts and arrangements, shareholdings and 
directorships in other companies and interest in other entities by Directors; 
 

9. Disclosure requirements in respect to their eligibility for appointment, declaration of 
their independence, 
 

10. All transactions with related parties were in the ordinary course of business and arms 
length and were placed before the Audit Committee periodically; 
 

11. Establishing a vigil mechanism and providing to complainants, if any, unhindered access 
to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 

 
12. Constituting the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee formulating and adopting 

Corporate Social Responsibility Policy indicating the activities to be undertaken by the 
Company; 
 



        
 

 
 

13. Appointment of persons as Key Managerial Personnel; 
 

14. Appointment and remuneration of Statutory Auditor and Cost Auditor; 
 

15. Appointment of Internal Auditor; 
 

16. Notice of meetings of the Board and Committee thereof; 
 

17. Minutes of meetings of the Board and Committees thereof including passing of 
resolutions by circulations; 
 

18. Notice convening Annual General Meeting held on September 05, 2022 and 
Extraordinary General Meeting held on February 06, 2023, and holding of the meetings 
on that dates; 
 

19. Minutes of General meeting; 
 

20. Approval of members, Board of Directors, Committee of Directors and government 
authorities, wherever required; 
 

21. Form of balance sheet as at March 31, 2022 as prescribed under Schedule III Part I of 
the Companies Act, 2013; 
 

22. Report of the Board of Directors for the financial year ended March 31, 2022; 
 

23. Borrowings and registration of charges; 
 

24. Investment of the Company’s funds including inter corporate loans and investments. 
 
 
 
 

Place: New Delhi Sd/- 
Date:17/05/2023 
UDIN: F004982E000323795  

 
Maneesh Gupta 

FCS No. 4982 
C P No. 2945 

PR No.- 2314/2022 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



        
 

 
 

Annexure – D 
Delhi International Airport Limited 

CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
 

FORM No. – AOC 2 
(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the 

Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014) 
 
Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with 
related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including 
certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso thereto. 
 
1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis:  
 
All the contracts or arrangements or transactions with the related parties are on arm’s length 
basis. So, the information below is not applicable. 
 
(a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship 
(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transactions 
(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions 
(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including the value, if any 
(e) Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or transactions 
(f) Date(s) of approval by the Board 
(g) Amount paid as advances, if any: 
(h) Date on which the special resolution was passed in general meeting as required under 

first proviso to section 188 
 
2. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis  
 
As per details given below in Annexure – D (I)  
 
(a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship 
(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transactions 
(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions 
(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including the value, if any: 
(e) Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any: 
(f) Amount paid as advances, if any:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



        
 

 
 

ANNEXURE – D (I)   
 

S. 
No. 

Name(s) of 
the related 
party  

Nature of 
contracts/ 
arrangements 
/transactions 

Duration of 
the contracts 
/ 
arrangement
s 
/transactions 

Salient terms 
of the 
contracts or 
arrangements 
or 
transactions 
including the 
value, if any. 

Date(s) of 
approval 
by the 
Board, if 
any. 

Amount paid as 
advances, if 
any. 

1 

GMR Airport 
Developers 
Limited* 

Internal and 
External 
Landscaping 
management 
services at IGI 
Airport, New Delhi. 

3 years As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

April 27, 
2022 

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable. 

2 Allotment of office 
and Shed space at 
IGI Airport, New 
Delhi.  

From May 
01, 2022 till 
March 31, 
2036. 

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement.  

April 27, 
2022 

None  
 

3 Delhi Duty 
Free 
Services 
Private 
Limited# 

Extension of 
Existing 
Agreement(s) with 
DDFS for operating 
duty free outlets at 
IGI Airport, New 
Delhi. 

Till July 27, 
2025. 

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement.  

April 27, 
2022 

None  

4 

Raxa 
Security 
Services 
Limited* 

Providing non-core 
aviation security 
functions at IGI 
Airport, New Delhi. 

3 years As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

June 28, 
2022 

None 

5 Allotment of space 
of 90 sq. mtr. at 
Wing-D, First 
Floor, Building No. 
301, New Udaan 
Bhawan, Opp. 
Terminal-3, IGI 
Airport, New Delhi. 

Till March 31, 
2028. 

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

February 
14, 2023 

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable. 

6 GMR Air 
Cargo and 
Aerospace 
Engineering 
Limited#  

Allotment of space 
of 110 sq. Mtr. 
space at IPA – A09  
& 22 sq. mtr. 
space at IPA – A15, 

Till March 31, 
2028.  

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

February 
14, 2023 

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable. 



        
 

 
 

Apron Level, 
Terminal-3, IGI 
Airport, New Delhi. 

7 GMR 
Aviation 
Private 
Limited*  

Allotment of space 
of 15 sq. mtr. 
space at Room No. 
10, Ground Floor, 
Terminal-1D, IGI 
Airport, New Delhi. 

Till March 31, 
2028.  

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

February 
14, 2023 

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable. 

8 GMR 
Airports 
Infrastructur
e Limited 
[Including its 
subsidiaries, 
Holding 
Company, 
Fellow 
Subsidiaries 
and 
associates] 

** 

Allotment of space 
of upto 800 sq. 
mtr. space at City 
Side of Terminal – 
2, IGI Airport, New 
Delhi. 

Till March 31, 
2028. 

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

February 
14, 2023 

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable. 

9 Allotment of upto 
400 sq. mtr. space 
at Ground Floor, 
New Udaan 
Bhawan, Opposite 
Terminal-3, IGI 
Airport, New Delhi. 

Till March 31, 
2028. 

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

February 
14, 2023 

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable. 

10 Delhi Duty 
Free 
Services 
Private 
Limited# 

Allotment of 600 
sq. mtr. space at 
Building No. 301, 
Ground Floor, New 
Udaan Bhawan, 
Opposite Terminal-
3, IGI Airport, New 
Delhi. 

Till Sept. 30, 
2023.  

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

February 
14, 2023  

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable.  

11 

TIM Delhi 
Airport 
Advertising 
Private 
Limited#  

Allotment of 160 
sq. mtr. Office 
space at Wing B, 
First Floor, 
Building no. 301, 
New Udaan 
Bhawan, Opposite 
Terminal-3, IGI 
Airport, New Delhi. 

Till March 31, 
2028. 

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement. 

N.A. 
 
Approved 
by the 
Audit 
Committe
e on 
February 
14, 2023. 

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable. 

12 Allotment of 160 
sq. mtr. Office 
space at Wing B, 
First Floor, 
Building no. 301, 
New Udaan 
Bhawan, Opposite 

Till March 31, 
2024. 

As explained 
in the Probity 
Audit Report 
and the 
Agreement.  

As per the 
terms of the 
Agreement, if 
applicable. 



        
 

 
 

Terminal-3, IGI 
Airport, New Delhi. 

Nature of Relationship:  
*GMR Group Entity and Fellow Subsidiary of DIAL. 
#Associate and Fellow Subsidiary of DIAL. 
** Step up Holding Company of DIAL. 

 
 
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
of Delhi International Airport Limited 
 
 
Sd/-                                                         Sd/- 
G.B.S. Raju      K. Narayana Rao 
Managing Director  Whole-Time Director 
DIN: 00061686      DIN: 00016262 
Place: New Delhi     Place: New Delhi  
 
Date:  August 14, 2023  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



        
 

 
 

Annexure – E 
Delhi International Airport Limited 

CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
 

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION 
 
A) Conservation of Energy: 
(i) The steps taken or impact on conservation of energy: 

 Automation of break down maintenance performance tracking. 

 Achieved GreenCo Platinum Level under Green Company Framework by CII-GBC. The 
Company has been accredited highest rating for Energy category in service industry. 

 Street light and all T3 High Mast control has been fitted with Astronomical timers and 
seasonal control. 

 Overall Terminal lighting control at T3 has been improved through LCMS logic change. 

 BMA area of Terminal 3 is fully converted to LED. 

 Street lights around Terminal 3 converted into LED. 

 Terminal 2 lights fully converted to LED. 

 All street lights of IGI has been converted into LED. 

 All signage lights at Terminal 3 has been changed to LED. 

 Check-in, SHA, Retail area of T3 completely converted to LED. 

 100% of Apron high mast at T3 has been changed to LED. 

 All T-3 conventional lights including back-of-house lighting converted to LED. 

 100% of Apron high mast at T1, T2 and Cargo has been changed to LED. 

  More than 90% of power requirement is through renewable source. 

 Extending UPS supply from Substation to minimize the inventory of UPS and AC at the 
Perimeter Intrusion Detection System. 

 LED conversion of AGL Sign Boards. 100% completed. 

 LED conversion of AGL lights. One RWY(09/27) completed. 

 Use of Sine wave CCR instead of Thyristor controller CCR. 

 Conversion of Dual lamps light fixtures to single lamp fixtures to minimize the spares as 
well as energy. 

 Solar Power operated traffic blinkers are installed at airside with three days back up 
without sun. 

 Conversion of 100% perimeter lighting to LEDs from Conventional light fixtures. 

 Conversion of Halogen based Light Fixture to LED Light Fixture for Taxi Lanes. 

 Conversion of HPSV high mast light fixture to LEDs light fixture in Cargo Apron area. 

 Conversion of 100% LEDs in Ancillary buildings at the airside. 

 Conversion of Dual lamps light fixtures to single lamp fixtures to minimize the spares as 
well as energy. 

  
(ii) The steps taken by the company for utilizing alternate sources of energy: 

 Entire power generated from the 7.84 MWp Solar power plants is being consumed.  

 Purchased electricity through renewable source under open access. 
 

(iii) The Capital Investment on Energy Conservation Equipment’s : NIL 



        
 

 
 

 
B) Technology Absorption:  

 
(i) The efforts made towards technology absorption: New Protection relay - REF615 installed, 

Logic Merging and integration with existing Electrical CMS system. 
(ii) Upgradation of  Conventional UPS with Modular UPS and VRLA (Valve-Regulated Lead-

Acid) Batteries with Lithium-Ion  
(iii) Adoption of mechanized cleaning of Airfield Ground Lighting  
(iv) Deployment of candela measurement tool  
(v) Implementation of ILCMS (Individual Lamp  Control & Monitoring System) for all AGL lights 
(vi) IOT based Control and Monitoring of Apron Flood Lighting system at Airside  
(vii) First Indian Airport certified for ISO 55001-2014 Asset Management System for AGL & 

Electrical System 
(viii) Use of BSES power source as primary power supply through ONLINE UPS during Low 

Visibility Operations to reduce diesel consumption and CO2 emission. 
(ix) Deployment of Direction control for RWY 11/29 for Energy Conservation  
(x) the benefits derived like product improvement, cost reduction, product development or 

import substitution; Cost reduction and Product improvement. 
(xi) in case of imported technology (imported during the last three years reckoned from the 

beginning of the financial year): NIL 
 

a. the details of technology imported; 
b. the year of import; 
c. whether the technology been fully absorbed; 
d. if not fully absorbed, areas where absorption has not taken place, and the reasons 

thereof; and 
(xii) The expenditure incurred on Research and Development. N.A. 
 
C) FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO 
Information regarding the Foreign Exchange Earned in terms of actual inflows during the year 
and the Foreign Exchange Outflow during the year in terms of actual outflow is given in the 
Note No. 42 (d)(i) to (vi) of the Notes to Accounts of Financial Statements for the year ended 
March 31, 2023. 
 
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
of Delhi International Airport Limited 
Sd/-                                                                                     Sd/- 
G.B.S. Raju      K. Narayana Rao 
Managing Director  Whole-Time Director 
DIN: 00061686      DIN: 00016262 
Place: New Delhi     Place: New Delhi  
Date:  August 14, 2023 



















































































































































































































Walker Chandiok & Co LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
21st Floor, DLF Square, 
Jacaranda Marg, DLF Phase II, 
Gurugram 122002, India 

Independent Auditor's Report 

To the Members of Delhi International Airport Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 1012 Khivraj 
Mansion, Kasturba Road 
Bengaluru - 560001,lndia 

1. We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Delhi International Airport 
Limited ('the Holding Company'), its associates and joint ventures, as listed in Annexure 1, which 
comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2023, the Consolidated Statement of Profit 
and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

2. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and 
based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements and on 
the other financial information of the associates and joint ventures, the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 ('the Ac!') in the manner so 
required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards ('Ind AS') 
specified under section 133 of the Act, read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India of the consolidated state of affairs of 
the Holding Company, its associates and joint ventures, as at 31 March 2023, and their consolidated 
loss (including other comprehensive income), consolidated cash flows and the consolidated changes 
in equity for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

3. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified under section 143(10) 
of the Act. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Holding Company, its associates and joint ventures in accordance with the Code of 
Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (,ICAI') together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements under the provisions 
of the Act and the rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
together with the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in 
paragraph 15 of the Other Matter section below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

4. Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment and based on the consideration 
of the reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements of the associates and joint ventures, 
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

5. 
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Walker Chandiok & Co LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
21st Floor, DLF Square, 
Jacaranda Marg, DLF Phase II, 
Gurugram 122002, India 

Kev audit matters 

K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 1012 Khivraj 
Mansion, Kasturba Road 
Bengaluru - 560001 ,India 

How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Valuation of Derivative 
Instruments 

Financial Our audit procedures to test the valuation of the 
derivative financial instruments included but were not 
limited to the following: 

Refer note 3(r) for the accounting policy and 
note 7, 39 and 40 for the financial 
disclosures in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements 

• Assessed and tested the design and operating 
effectiveness of Holding Company's key internal 
controls over derivative financial instruments and 
the related hedge accounting; 

• Reviewed the management's documentation for The Holding company has entered into 
derivative financial instruments i.e., call 
spread options and coupon only hedge, to 
hedge its foreign currency risks in relation to • 
the long-term bonds issued in foreign 

the designated hedge instrument which defines the 
nature of hedge relationship; 
Considered the consistent application of the 

accounting policies and assessed the hedge 
currency. 

Management has designated these 
derivative financial instruments and the 
aforesaid debt at initial recognition as cash 
flow hedge relationship as per Ind AS 109, 
Financial Instruments. 

The valuation of hedging instrument is 
complex and necessitates a sophisticated 
system to record and track each contract 
and calculate the related valuations at each 
financial reporting date. Since valuation of 
hedging instruments and consideration of 
hedge effectiveness involves both significant 
assumptions and judgements such as 
market observable inputs and involvement of 
management's valuation specialist, and 
therefore, is subject to an inherent risk of 
error. 

We have identified valuation of hedging 
instruments as a key audit matter in view the 
aforesaid significant judgements, 
assumptions and complexitv involved. 
Capitalisation for airport expansion 

Refer note 3(t) for the accounting policy and 
Note 44(0) for the financial disclosures in the 

accounting methodologies applied; and compared 
these to the requirements of Ind AS 109, Financial 
Instruments; 

• Evaluated the management's valuation specialist's 
professional competence, expertise and objectivity; 

• Tested the accuracy of input data provided by the 
management to the external valuation specialist 
and assessed the reasonability of the assum ptions 
used, while valuing the hedging instruments; 

• Involved our valuation specialist to test the fair 
values of derivative financial instruments and 
compared the results to the management's results; 

• Assessed the appropriateness and adequacy of 
the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the 
applicable Ind AS. 

Our audit procedures to assess appropriate 
capitalization of such expenditure included, but were 
not limited to the following: 

accompanying consolidated financial. Assessed the design and implementation and 
tested the operating effectiveness of key controls 
surrounding the capitalization of costs. 

statements. 

The Holding Company is in the process of • 
expansion of the Indira Gandhi International 
Airport ('Delhi Airport') with a plan to incur an 
amount of INR 11,550.00 crores. Till 31 
March 2023, the Holding Company has • 
incurred ~ 9,457.81 crores (excluding capital 
advances) as capital expenditure towards • 
such capital expansion. 

• 

Reviewed management's capitalization policy, 
including application of the aforesaid policy, to 
assess consistency with the requirements set out 
by Ind AS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment. 
Compared the additions with the budgets and the 
orders given to the vendors. 
Ensured that the borrowing cost capitalized is a~ \'lAO 
per Ind AS 23 Borrowing Costs. 1''-84 

(> 

Tested the additions on a sample basis for tt] iri CIJ~ed '? 
nature and puroose to ensure that t e\ ccol!ID1lIs * 
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Chartered Accountants 
21st Floor, DLF Square, 
Jacaranda Marg, DLF Phase II, 
Gurugram 122002, India 

Key audit matters 
Determining whether expenditure meets the 
capitalization criteria, specifically with regard 

K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 10/2 Khivraj 
Mansion, Kasturba Road 
Bengaluru - 560001,lndia 

How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
capitalization is as per Holding company's 
accounting policy. 

to whether they are operational or capital in • 
nature, involves significant management 
judgement in assessing whether 
capitalization is in line with Ind AS 16, 
Property, Plant and Equipment and the 
Holding Company's accounting policy. 

Assessed the appropriateness and adequacy of 
the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the 
applicable Ind AS. 

Further, the tariff determination by Airport 
Economic Regulatory Authority ('AERA') for 
control periods for the aeronautical services 
is linked to the Regulated Asset Base, which 
is based on the fixed asset balance and 
considering these additions are significant to 
the regulated asset base of the Holding 
Company, we have assessed inappropriate 
capitalization as a significant risk as part of 
our audit strategy. 

Such, the aforementioned capital 
expenditure has been funded from the 
specific borrowings raised. Accordingly, the 
borrowing cost incurred on such borrowings 
have been included as a capital expenditure 
in accordance with the provisions of Ind AS 
23, Borrowing Costs. 

Owing to the above factors, we have 
identified this as a key audit matter due to 
the significance of the capital expenditure 
incurred durinq the year. 
Monthly Annual Fee to Airport Authority 
of India (AAI) 

Refer note 36(I)(h) for the financial 
disclosures in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Holding Company has ongoing litigation 
1 arbitration proceedings with Airport 
Authority of India (AAI) in respect of Monthly 
Annual Fee (MAF) for the period 1 April 2020 
to 31 March 2022 for which the Holding 
Com pany has sought to be excused from 
making payment to AAI as triggered from a 
force majeure event, which could have a 
significant impact on the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements, if the 
potential exposure were to materialize. 
Further, the application of Ind AS to 
determine the amount, if any, to be provided 
as a liability or disclosed as a contingent 

. liability, is inherently subjective. 
. ," \, 
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Our audit procedures for the assessment of ongoing 
litigation I arbitration proceedings in relation to MAF 
fee included but were not limited to the following: 

• Obtained an understanding of management's 
process and evaluated design, implementation and 
operating effectiveness of management's key 
internal controls over assessment of litigationl 
arbitration proceedings and determination of 
appropriate accounting treatment in accordance 
with the requirements of Ind AS 37, Provisions, 
Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

• Obtained and read the summary of litigation involved 
in respect of MAF payable, the supporting 
documentation including communications 
exchanged between the parties, and held 
discussions with the management of the Holding 
Company to understand management's 
assessment of the matter; 

• Evaluated the legal opinions obtained by the­
management from its internal and external ~~ 
expert on the likelihood of the outcome of t~~ ~O~o 
contingencies and potential impact of n ofitl!!r.t red . ,I 
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Chartered Accountants 
21st Floor, DlF Square, 
Jacaranda Marg, DlF Phase II, 
Gurugram 122002, India 

Key audit matters 
The outcome of such litigation larbitration 
proceedings is currently uncertain and the 
aforesaid assessment requires significant 
judgement by the management including 
interpretation of legal rights and obligations 
arising out of the underlying Operation, 
Management and Development Agreement 
dated 4 April 2006 entered with AAI, which 
required involvement of both management's 
and auditor's experts. Accordingly, this 
matter has been determined as a key audit 
matter for current year audit. 

The above matter is also considered 
fundamental to the understanding of the 
users of the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements on account of the 
uncertainties relating to the future outcome 
of the proceedings/litigation. 

K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 1012 Khivraj 
Mansion, Kasturba Road 
Bengaluru - 560001,lndia 

How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
litigation/ arbitration proceedings and amount paid 
under protest, basis our understanding of the matter 
obtained as above, and held further discussions, as 
required, with such experts to seek clarity of their 
legal assessments. 

• Involved our independent expert to validate the 
assessment of the likelihood of the outcome of 
contingencies and potential impact of ongoing 
litigation/ arbitration proceedings and amount paid 
under protest in order to assess the basis used for 
determination of appropriateness of the accounting 
treatment and resulting disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with the requirements of applicable Ind AS. 

Information other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor's Report thereon 

6. The Holding Company's Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to 
be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

7. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Holding Company's 
Board of Directors. The Holding Company's Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated 
in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the preparation and presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated 
financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity and 
consolidated cash flows of the Holding Company including its associates and jOint ventures in 
accordance with the Ind AS specified under section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The 
respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company and its associates and joint ventures are 
responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Holding Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and 

, '?ther irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments ~"'''''''A':''O'''<i''''-I' ! es.timates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of ade ,;,-' 09 
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Chartered Accountants 
21st Floor, DLF Square, 
Jacaranda Marg, DLF Phase II, 
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K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 10/2 Khivraj 
Mansion, Kasturba Road 
Bengaluru - 560001 ,India 

internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the financial statements that 
give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which 
have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Board of 
Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid. 

S. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the Holding 
Company and of its associates and joint ventures are responsible for assessing the ability of the Holding 
Company and of its associates and joint ventures to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Board of Directors either intend to liquidate the Holding Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 

9. Those respective Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process 
of the Holding Company and of its associates and joint ventures. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

10. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Standards on Auditing will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

11. As part of an audit in accordance with Standards on Auditing specified under section 143(10) of the Act 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control; 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act we are also 
responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Holding Company has adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls.; 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management; 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of Board of Directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Holding Company 
and its associates and joint ventures to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Holding Company and its associates and joint 

:4;//L\ ::;~:~~:entures to cease to continue as a going concern; and 
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K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 10/2 Khivraj 
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a man ner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information/ financial 
statements of the entities or business activities within the Holding Company, and its associates 
and joint ventures, to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of financial statements of 
such entities included in the financial statements, of which we are the independent auditors. For 
the other entities included in the financial statements, which have been audited by the other 
auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

12. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

13. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

14. From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine 
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Other Matter 

15. The consolidated financial statements include the Holding Company's share of net loss after tax of Rs. 
(14.23) crores and other comprehensive income of Rs. (0.05) crores for the year ended 31 March 2023, 
in respect of 2 associate and 2 joint ventures, whose financial statements have not been audited by us. 
These annual financial statements have been audited by other auditors whose audit reports have been 
furnished to us by the management, and our opinion in so far as it relates to the amounts and 
disclosures included in respect of these associates and joint ventures is based solely on the audit 
reports of such other auditors. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Holding Company's share of net profit after tax of Rs. 
8.18 crores and other comprehensive income of Rs 0.00 crores for the year ended 31 March 2023, in 
respect of 1 associate and 1 joint venture, whose annual financial statements have been audited solely 
by K. S. Rao & Co, one of the joint auditors and Walker Chandiok & Co LLP's jOint audit in so far as it 
relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of aforesaid associate and joint venture is 
based solely on the audit reports issued by K. S. Rao & Co on aforementioned financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2023. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Holding Company's share of net profit after tax of Rs. 
152.94 crores and other comprehensive income of Rs (0.10) crores for the year ended 31 March 2023 
in respect of 2 associates and 1 joint venture, whose annual financial statements have been audited 
solely by Walker Chandiok & Co LLP, one of the joint auditors and K. S. Rao & Co's joint audit in so far 
as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of aforesaid associates and joint venture 
is based solely on the audit reports issued by Walker Chandiok & Co LLP on aforementioned financial 
I>latC;)ments for the year ended 31 March 2023. 
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Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements below, are not modified in respect of these matters with respect to our reliance on the 
work done by and the reports of the other auditors. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

16. As required by section 197(16) of the Act based on our audit and on the consideration of the reports of 
the other auditors, referred to in paragraph 15, on separate financial statements of the associates and 
joint ventures, we report that the Holding Company incorporated in India whose financial statements 
have been audited under the Act have paid remuneration to their respective directors during the year 
in accordance with the provisions of and limits laid down under section 197 read with Schedule V to the 
Act. Further, we report that the provisions of section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act are not 
applicable to 5 associate companies and 4 joint venture companies incorporated in India whose 
financial statements have been audited under the Act, since none of such companies is a public 
company as defined under section 2(71) of the Act. 

17. As required by clause (xxi) of paragraph 3 of Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2020 ('the Order') 
issued by the Central Government of India in terms of section 143(11) of the Act based on the 
consideration of the Order reports issued till date by us and by the respective other auditors as 
mentioned in paragraph 15 above, of companies included in the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2023 and covered under the Act we report that: 

A) Following are the qualifications/adverse remarks reported by the other auditors in the Order reports 
of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2023 for which such Order reports have been issued till date and made available to us' 

S.No Name CIN Holding Company / Clause number of 
subsidiary I Associate / the CARO report 
Joint Venture which is qualified 

or adverse 
1. Delhi International U63033DL2006PLC146936 Holding Company 3(vii)(a) 

Airport Limited 
2. GMR Bajoli Holi U40101HP2008PTC030971 Joint Venture 3(ix) 

Hydropower 
Private Limited 

3. Delhi Airport U63030DL2010PTC198985 Associate 3(iii)(c) 
Parking Services 
Private Limited 

18. As required by section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of the reports of 
the other auditors on separate financial statements and other financial information of the associates 
and joint ventures incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act, 
we report, to the extent applicable, that: 

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements; 

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of 
those books and the reports of the other auditors, 

c) The consolidated financial statements dealt with by this report are in agreement with the relevant 
books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
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d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with Ind AS specified under 
section 133 of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015; 

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company, 
its associate companies and joint venture companies and taken on record by the Board of Directors 
of the Holding Company, associate companies and joint venture companies, respectively, and the 
reports of the statutory auditors of its associate companies and joint venture companies, covered 
under the Act, none of the directors of the Holding company, its associate companies and joint 
venture companies, are disqualified as on 31 March 2023 from being appointed as a director in 
terms of section 164(2) of the Act. 

f) With respecl to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
of the Holding Company its associate companies and joint venture companies covered under the 
Act, and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate report in 'Annexure 2' 
wherein we have expressed an unmodified opinion; and 

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor's Report in accordance with rule 11 
of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our opinion and to the best 
of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration 
of the report of the other auditors on separate financial statements and other financial information 
of the associates and joint ventures incorporated in India whose financial statements have been 
audited under the Act: 

i. the consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the 
consolidated financial position of the Holding Company, its associates and joint ventures as 
detailed in note 36, 42(2) and 43(2) to the consolidated financial statements; 

ii. the Holding Company, its associate companies and joint venture companies did not have any 
long-term contracts including derivative contracts for which there were any material 
foreseeable losses as at 31 March 2023; 

iii. there has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company, and its associate companies and 
joint venture companies during the year ended 31 March 2023; 

iv. 
a. The respective managements of the Holding Company, its associate companies and joint 

venture companies incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under 
the Act have represented to us and the other auditors of such associates and joint ventures 
respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, no funds have been advanced or 
loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or securities premium or any other sources or 
kind of funds) by the Holding Company or its associate companies or its joinl venture 
companies to or in any persons or entities, including foreign entities ('the intermediaries'), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the intermediary shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Holding Company, or any such associate companies or its 
joint venture companies ('the Ultimate Beneficiaries') or provide any guarantee, security or 
the like on behalf the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

b. The respective managements of the Holding Company and its associate companies and joint 
venture companies incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under 
the Act have represented to us and the other auditors of such associates and joint ventures 

',:' " respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, no funds have been received by 
the Holding Company or its associate companies or its joint venture companies from any 
persons or entities, including foreign entities ('the Funding Parties'), with the unders " 
whether recorded in writing or otherwise. that the Holding Company, or any such " ,,~1ibi'a,~ 

\~~. 
J[tf,2/ ,-,::,'1' 



Walker Chandiok & Co LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
21st Floor, DLF Square, 
Jacaranda Marg, DLF Phase II, 
Gurugram 122002, India 

K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 10/2 Khivraj 
Mansion, Kasturba Road 
Bengaluru - 560001 ,India 

companies or its joint venture companies shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest in 
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding 
Party ('Ultimate Beneficiaries') or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries; and 

c. Based on such audit procedures performed by us and that performed by the auditors of the 
associates and joint ventures, as considered reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances, nothing has come to our or other auditor's notice that has caused us or the 
other auditor's to believe that the management representations under sub-clauses (a) and (b) 
above contain any material misstatement. 

v. The interim dividend declared and paid by the associate companies and joint venture 
companies during the year ended 31 March 2023 and until the date of this audit report is in 
compliance with section 123 of the Act. Further, final dividend paid by the joint venture 
company during the year ended 31 March 2023 in respect of such dividend declared for the 
previous year is in accordance with section 123 of the Act to the extent it applies to payment of 
dividend. 

vi. Proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 requires all companies which 
use accounting software for maintaining their books of account, to use such an accounting 
software which has a feature of audit trail, with effect from the financial year beginning on 1 
April 2023 and accordingly, reporting under Rule 11(g) of Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014 (as amended) is not applicable for the current financial year. 

For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Registration No.: 001076N/N500013 

y~~ 
Danish Ahmed 
Partner 
Membership No: 522144 
UDIN: 23522144BGZHNC7934 

Place: New Delhi 
Date: 26 May 2023 

For K.S. Rao & Co., 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration Number: 0031098 

Sudarshana Gupta M S 
Partner 
Membership No: 223060 
UDIN: 23223060BGXIQX3924 

Place: New Delhi 
Date: 26 May 2023 

Page 9 oElO 



Walker Chandiok & Co llP 
Chartered Accountants 
21st Floor, DlF Square, 
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Gurugram 122002, India 

Annexure 1 

List of entities included in the consolidated financial statements 

S. No. Name of the entity 

K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 1012 Khivraj 
Mansion, Kasturba Road 
Bengaluru - 560001 ,India 

Relation 
1 Celebi Delhi Cargo Terminal Management India Private Limited Associate 
2 Delhi Airport Parking Services Private Limited Associate 
3 Travel Food Services (Delhi Terminal 3) Private Limited Associate 
4 TIM Delhi Airport Advertising Private Limited Associate 
5 Digi Yatra Foundation Associate 
6 GMR Bajoli Holi Hydropower Private Limited Joint Venture 
7 Delhi Aviation Fuel Facility Private Limited Joint Venture 
8 Delhi Aviation Services Private Limited Joint Venture 
9 Delhi Duty Free Services Private Limited Joint Venture 

Page 10 oflO 
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Chartered Accountants 
21st Floor, DLF Square, 
Jacaranda Marg, DLF Phase II, 
Gurugram 122002, India 

K. S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
2nd Floor, 1012 Khivraj 
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Annexure 2 to the Independent Auditor's Report of even date to the members of Delhi 
International Airport Limited on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
March 2023 

Annexure 2 

Independent Auditor's Report on the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 ('the 
Act') 

1. In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Delhi International Airport 
Limited (,the Holding Company') and its associates and joint ventures as at and for the year ended 
31 March 2023, we have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
of the Holding Company, its associate companies and joint venture companies, which are companies 
covered under the Act, as at that date. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for Internal Financial 
Controls 

2. The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its associate companies and joint venture 
companies, which are companies covered under the Act, are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of 
internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial 
Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ('ICAI'). These responsibilities 
include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of the Company's business, 
including adherence to the Company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and 
detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the 
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act. 

Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of the Internal Financial Controls with Reference to 
Financial Statements 

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements of the Holding Company, its associate companies and joint venture companies, as 
aforesaid, based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 
issued by the ICAI prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit 
of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, and the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting ('the Guidance Note') issued by the ICAI. 
Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements were established and maintained and if such controls 
operated effectively in all material respects. 

4. Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit 
of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements includes obtaining an 
understanding of such internal financial controls, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, 
and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
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Annexure 2 to the Independent Auditor's Report of even date to the members of Delhi 
International Airport Limited on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
March 2023 (Cont'd) 

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other 
auditors in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Maller paragraph below, is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements of the Holding Company, its associate companies and joint venture companies 
as aforesaid. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements 

6. A com pany's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements include those 
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the com pany's assets 
that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements 

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements to future periods 
are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion 

8. In our opinion and based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors on internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements of the associate companies and joint 
venture companies, the Holding Company, its associate companies and joint venture companies, 
which are companies covered under the Act, have in all material respects, adequate internal financial 
controls with reference to financial statements and such controls were operating effectively as at 31 
March 2023, based on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements criteria 
established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India. 

Other Matter 

1. The consolidated financial statements include the Holding Company's share of net loss after tax of 
Rs. (14.23) crores and other comprehensive income of Rs. (0.05) crores for the year ended 31 March 
2023, in respect of 2 associate and 2 joint ventures, which are companies covered under the Act, 
whose internal financial controls with reference to financial statements have not been audited by us. 
These internal financial controls with reference to financial statements have been audited by other 
auditors whose audit reports have been furnished to us by the management, and our opinio' 0 

J,.',/ '" far as it relates to the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial cont!p' «0 
(\S,\ J L~eference to financial statements in respect of these associates and joint ventures as dfJ ~j~\)red '? 
~(~ /9.:~ ,: i * 1\c(;O~IItS 
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Annexure 2 to the Independent Auditor's Report of even date to the members of Delhi 
International Airport Limited on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
March 2023 (Cont'd) 

under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act in so far as it relates to such associate companies and joint venture 
companies is based solely on the reports of the auditors of such companies. 

The consolidated financial statements includes the Holding Company's share of net profit after tax 
of Rs. 8.18 crores and other comprehensive income of Rs 0.00 crores for the year ended 31 March 
2023, in respect of 1 associate and 1 joint venture, which are companies covered under the Act, 
whose internal financial controls with reference to financial statements have been audited solely by 
K. S. Rao & Co, one of the joint auditors and Walker Chandiok & Co LLP's joint audit in so far as it 
relates to the adequacy and operating effectiveness of the internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements in respect of these associate and joint venture as aforesaid, under Section 
143(3)(i) of the Act is based solely on the audit reports issued by K. S. Rao & Co. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Holding Company's share of net profit after tax of 
Rs. 152.94 crores and other comprehensive income of Rs (0.10) crores for the year ended 31 March 
2023 in respect of 2 associates and 1 joint venture, which are companies covered under the Act, 
whose annual financial statements have been audited solely by Walker Chandiok & Co LLP, one of 
the joint auditors and K. S. Rao & Co's joint audit in so far as it relates to the adequacy and operating 
effectiveness of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in respect of 
these associates and joint venture as aforesaid, under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act is based solely on 
the audit reports issued by Walker Chandiok & Co LLP. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter with respect to our reliance on the work done by 
and on the reports of the other auditors. 

For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Registration No.: 001076N/N500013 

yr/~ 
Danish Ahmed 
Partner 
Membership No: 522144 
UDIN: 23522144BGZHNC7934 

Place: New Delhi 
Date: 26 May 2023 

For K. S. Rao & Co., 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No: 003109S 

Sudarshana Gupta M 5 
Partner 
Membership No: 223060 
UDIN: 23223060BGXIQX3924 

Place: New Delhi 
Date: 26 May 2023 



Delhi International Airport Limited 
CIN. U63033DL20D6PLCI46936 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as II.t Man:h 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees Crore, except otherwise stated) 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 

Capital work in progress 
Intangible assets 
Right·of·use asset 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 
Financial assets 

(i) Investment 
(ii) Other financial assets 

Other non·current assets 
Non-current tax assets 

Current assets 
Inventories 
Financial assets 

(i) Investments 
(ii) Trade receiVllbles 
(iii) Cash and cash equivalents 
(iv) Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 
(v) Other financial assets 

Other current assets 

Total Assets 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Equity 
Equity share capital 
Other equity 

(i) Retained earnings 
(ii) Cash flow hedge reserve 

Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

(i) Borrowings 
(il) Lease liabilities 
(iii) Other financial liabilities 

Deferred revenue 
Provisions 
Deferred tax liabilities (net) 
Other non-current liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

(i) Borrowings 
(ii) Lease liabilities 
(iii) Trade payables 

Notes 

4 
44(0) 

5 

44(1) 
42 and 43 

6.1 

10 

6.2 

11 
12 
13 

14 

15 
15 

16 
44(1) 

17 
18 
22 

19 

20 
44(1) 

21 
-Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 

-Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises 
and amall enterprises 
(iv) Other financial liabilities 

Deferred revenue 
Other current liabilities 
Provisions 

Total Liabilities 

Total Equity and Liabilities 

Summary of significant accounting policieB 

17 
18 
19 

22 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financials statements 

As per our report of even date 
For Walker Chandiok& Co LLP 

Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registration No. : 00l076NIN500013 

)~~ 
Danish Ahmed 
Partner 
Membership no: 522144 
Place: New Delhi 
Date May 26, 2023 

As per our report of even date 
For K.S. Rao & Co. 

Chartered Accountants 
Firm Registrntion No. : 0031095 

Sudal"9haoa Gupta M S 
Partner 
Membership no: 223060 
Place: New Delhi 
Date: May 26, 2023 

March 31. 20ll Mareh 31, 2022 

6,453.31 6,142.50 
8,082,88 5,537.69 

355,25 364.19 
10,80 12.26 

544.34 532.65 

0,01 0.01 
1,257.41 1,134.43 
2,163,65 2,860.71 

10,48 5.06 
18,878,13 16,589.50 

5,53 7.23 

914,25 775.65 
76.80 158.98 

279,09 1,282.93 
47,27 216.63 

590,16 238.42 
177.06 220.23 

2,090,15 2,900,07 

20,968,29 19,489,57 

2,450.00 2,450.00 

3.32 273,14 

(382.89) (72,98) 

2,070,41 1,650.16 

12,614.18 10,960,76 

8.59 1{l.51 
1,305.09 1,168.65 
2,130.44 2,210.41 

3.06 6.59 

185.45 177.89 
16,246.81 14,534.81 

22.00 
3.99 3.89 

36.02 37.43 

410,02 269.21 

1,561.10 1,434.76 
190.70 192.04 
296,65 192.28 
152.58 152.99 

2,651.06 2,30-1.60 

18,897,87 16,839.41 

20,968.29 19,489.57 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Delhi International Airport Limited 

~ 
G,B,SRaju 
Managing Director 
DlN-00061686 

Videh Kumar Jaipuriar uffi,,, 
_A6n::~ 

Company Secretary 
Place: NIl\>I Delhi 
Date: May 26, 2023 

Executive Director 
DlN-03482239 



Delhi International Airport Limited 
CIN. U6J033DL2006PLC146936 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees Crore, except otherwis! stated) 

Revenue 

Revenue from operations 

Other income 
Total revenue 

II Expenses 
ArulUai fee to Airports Authority of India (AAI) 

Employee benefits expense 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 

Finance costs 

Other expenses 

Total expenses 

m (Loss)! profit before exceptional items and share of profit of associates and joint ventures [(1)-(11)) 
IV Exceptional i~s 
V Loss befon! share of profit of associates and joint ventures aod tax I(m)-(IV») 
VI Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 

VII (Loss)/ profit before tax expense [(V)+(VI)I 
Tax expense 

Current tax 
Current taX - earlier years 
Deferred tax credit 

Deferred tax reclassified from Cash flow hedge reserve on account ofh~ge settlement 
VIII Total tax expense 

IX (Loss)/profit for the year [(VII)-(VID») 

x Other comprehensive income 
A Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

Re-measurement loss on defined benefit plans 
Income tax effect 

B Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures 

C Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 
Net movement of cash flow hedges 

Income tax effect 

Total other comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) (A+B+C) 

Total comprehensive income for the year (net of tax) (IX)+(X)] 

Earning per equity share: [nominal value ofshare Rs. 10 (March 31, 2022: lb. 10)]· 

(1) Basic 
(2) Diluted 

Summary of significant acCOWlting policies 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financials statements 

As per our report of even date 
For Walker Chaodiok & Co LLP 

Chartered Accountants 
Finn Registration No.: 001076NfN500013 

y~ 
Danish Ahmed 
p-~ 

Membership no: 522144 

Place: New Delhi 
Date: May 26, 2023 

As per our report of even date 
For KS. Rao & Co. 

Chartered Accountants 
Finn Registration No. : 0031 09S 

Sudarshana Gupta M S 
Partner 
Membership no: 223060 
place: New Delhi 

Date: May 26, 2023 

Notes 

23 

24 

25 
26 
27 

28 

29 

42 and 43 

35(c) 

42 and 43 

30 

31 
31 

March 31. 2023 March 31. 2022 

3,989.97 2,914.07 

129.27 93.27 

4.119.24 3.007.34 

1,857.67 192.70 

251.98 228.45 
655.79 588.29 

810.32 862.48 
896.53 779.22 

4.472.29 2.651.14 

(353.05) 356.20 
54.14 396.66 

(407.19) (40.46) 
146.89 116.49 

(260.30) 76.03 

10.46 
7.55 

(90.75) 
(0.37) 

7.55 (80.66) 

(267.85) 156.69 

(1.82) (0.12) 

(0.15) (0.14) 

(309.91) (198.85) 

(311.88) (199.H) 

(579.73) (42.42) 

(1.09) 0.64 
(1.09) 0.64 

For and 00 behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Delhi International Airport Limited 

Managing Director 
DlN-00061686 

Videh Kumar Jaipuriar 

~'" 
Abhishek Chawla 
Company Secretary 
Place: New Delhi 
Date: May 26, 2023 

Ind.n.1~. 
Executive Director 
DIN~03482239 



Delhi lnternlltional Airport Limited 
eIN. U6J033DLI006PLC146936 
Consolidated Statement of Change in Equity for the year ended March 31, 1013 
(A.1l amounb in Rupees Crore, except otherwise stated) 

A. Equity Share Capital 

As at March 31, 1013 

Balance as at April 1, 1012 

1 As at Mareh 31, 1011 

Balance as at April I, 1011 

B. Other Equity 

l)As at March 31. 2013 

Balance as at April 1, 2022 
Loss for the year 
Other comorehensive income (net oftaxl 
Balance as at March 31. 2023 

11 As at March 31, 2022 

Balance as at April 1, 2021 
Profit for the year 

1,450.00 

1,450.00 

Par1iculaJ"!l 

Particulars 

Chang~ in equity share capital due to 
prior period errors 

Changes in equity share capilill due to 
prior eriod errors 

Reclassified to consolidated statement of pro fit and loss on account of hedge settlement 
Deferred tax-reclassified to C:~SOlidate:lstatement of profit and loss on account of hedge settlement 
Other comDrehensive income net ofm 
Balance as at March 31, 2022 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financia[s statements 

As per OUf report of even date 
For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Registration No. : 001076N1N500013 

S> ...... ~ 
Danish Ahmed 
Partner 
Membership no: 522144 
Place: New Delhi 
Date: May 215, 2023 

As per our report of even date 
For K.S. Rao & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 
Registration No.: 0031095 

Sudarshana Gupta M S 
Partner 
Membership no: 223060 
Place: New Delhi 
Date: May 26. 2023 

Restated balanc.e as at 
A.prill, 1011 

1450.00 

Restated balance as at 
A rill,1021 

1450.00 

Changes during the 
current period 

Changes during the 
current period 

Reserves and Sur Ius 
Share of other 

Retained Earnings comprehensive income 
(refer note 15) (OCI) of associates and 

'oint venhares 
273.50 (0.36) 

(267,85) 

":15 (1.82 
3.83 0.51 

Reserves and Sur Ius 
Retained Earnings Share of OCI of 

(refer note 15) associates and joint 
ventures 

116.93 (0.22) 
156.69 

":12 (0~14) 
273.50 (0.36) 

For and on behalf of the Board ofDirectonl of 
Delhi Internation:nl Airport Limited 

.B. Raju ~ 
ging Director 

D1N-00061686 

~~ 

Company Secretary 
Place: New Delhi 
Date: May 215, 2023 

Balance as at 
March 31, 1013 

1,450.0(1 

Balance as at 
March 31, lOll 

1,450.00 

Effective portion of 
Cash Flow Hedges 

(refer note 15) 

(72.98) 

(309~91 
382.89 

Effective portion of 
Cash Flow Hedges 

(refer note 15) 

127.29 

(1.05) 
(0.37) 

(198.85 
72.98 

l// 
lndana Prahhakara Rao 
Executive Director 
D1N-03482239 

Total 

200.16 

~;67.85) 
311.88 
379.57 

Total 

144.00 
156.69 

(1.05) 
(0.37) 

(199.11 
200.16 



Delhi Intemotional Airport Limited 
CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees Crore, except otherwise stated) 

Cash flow from operating activities 
(Loss)! profit before tax 
Adjustment to reOODcile (loss)1 profit before tax to net cash flows 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 
Provision for Qoubtful debts 1 bad debts written off 
Reversal of lease revenue (Refer note 44(k) and 44(n)) 
Interest receivable written off (Refer note 44 (b») 
Provision for impairment in value of non-current investment [Refer note 36 III (viii)] 
Non~current investment written off (Refer note 32(d)) 
Interest income on deposits/current investment 
Exchange differences unrealised (net) 
Gain on sale of current investments - Mutual fund 
Loss on discard of capital work in progress and property, plant and equipments 
Profit on sale of property, plant & equipment 
Prpfit on relinquishment of assets rights 
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures 
Interest on borrowings 
Call spread option premium 
Other borrowing costs 
Redemption premium on borrowings 
Rent expenses on financial assets carried at amortised cost 
Provision against advance to Airports Authority of India (AAI) [refer note 36(I) (h) and (i)] 
Interest expenses all financiaiiiability carri'ed at amortised cost 
Deferred income on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 
Fair value gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
Interest income on financial asset carried at amortised cost 

Operating profit before working capital changes 
Working capital adjustment: 

Change in non-current' financialliBbilities 
Change in non-current deferred revenue 
Change-in other non-current liabilities 
Change ill non-current provisions 
Change in trade payables 
Change in current financial liabilities 
Change in deferred revenue 
Change in other current liabilities 
Change in current provisions 
Change in other non-current financial assets 
Change in other non-current assets 
Change ,in inventories 
Change in trade receivables 
Change in other current fin9Jl.cial assets 
Change in other current assets 

Cash generated from operations 
Direct taxes paid 

Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property plant and equipments, including capital work in progress and capital adv9Jl.ces 
Proceeds from sale of property, plailt and equipment and capital work in progress 
Purchase of current investments . 
Sale/maturity of current investments 
Dividend received from associates and joint ventures 
Interest received 
Investment of margin money deposit 
Redemption of fixed deposits with original maturity of more than three months (net) 

Net cash used in investing activities (B) 

(The space has been intentionally left blank) 

March 31. 2023 March J I. 2022 

(260.30) 76,03 

655.79 588,29 
0.56 0.29 

54.14 325.16 
19.90 
51.60 
0.10 

(40.50) (63.5') 
0.75 1.85 

(19.21) (23.03) 
12.50 1.60 
(0.36) 

(59.57) 
(146.89) (116.49) 
575.17 557.48 
152.31 181.99 

1.67 4.29 
1.94 

0.62 0.90 
43.21 

75.13 73.35 
(113.91) (107.81) 

(1.09) (0.9') 
(6.50) 

880.91 1,616.09 

93.25 287.27 

33.95 452.78 
7.56 130.18 

(3.52) 3.06 
131.71 (16.44) 

2.98 (31.&3) 
(1.34) 85.32 

105.71 (23.30) 
(0.41 ) 3.42 

286.63 135.44 
(272.78) (602.22) 

1.70 (0.96) 
65.50 (64.43) 

(324.65) (37.80) 
43.73 (73.36) 

1,056.93 1,863.22 
(12.98) (11.26) 

1,043.95 1,851.96 

(2,016.37) (1,472.83) 
0.70 0.32 

(8,139.35) (7,781.29) 

8,021.05 8,240.21 
105.91 50.00 
124.25 \.49.29 

(0.01) (0.02) 
169.36 233.17 

(1,734.46) (581.15) 



Delhi International Airport Limited 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees Crore, except otherwise stated) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Principal payment of lease liabilities 
Interest payment oflease liabilities 
Repayment of short term loan from banks 
Proceeds froml (repayment at) non-cUITent borrowings 

Redemption premium paid 
Proceeds from hedge cancellation 
Option premium paid 
Borrowing cost paid 
Interest paid 

Net cash used in financing activities (C) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the begiruling of the year 
Cash and cash equivalents at tbe end of the year 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 
Cash on hand 
Cheques! drafts on hand 
With banks 

- on current account 
- on deposit account 

Total cash and casb equivalents (Refer note 12) 

Explanatory notes annexed 

March 31. 2023 March 31. 2022 

(4.99) (3.61) 
(1.34) (1.68) 

(22.00) (242.75) 
1,000.00 (2,142.77) 

(16.38) 
264.60 

(260.25) (298.87) 
(15.03) (28.14) 

(1,009.72) (852.48) 
(313.33) (3,322.08) 

(1,003.84) (2,051.27) 

1,282.93 3,334.20 
279.09 1,282.93 

0.08 0.05 
0.58 

27.87 16.43 
251.14 1,265.87 
279.09 1,282.93 

I. The above consolidated cash flow statement has been compiled from and is based on the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2023 and the related consolidated statement of 
profit and loss for the year ended March 31, 2023. 

2. Cash and cash equivalents include Rs. 3.37 crore (March 31,2022: Rs. 0.30 crore), pertaining to Marketing FWld, to be used for sales promotional activities. 

3.The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese consolidated financials statements 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees crore, except otherwise stated) 

1. Corporate information 

Delhi Ioternational Airport Limited ('DIAL' or 'the Holding Company'), is a Public Limited Company 
domiciled in Iodia. DIAL was incorporated as a Private Limited Company on March I, 2006 under the 
provisions of the erstwhile Companies Act, 1956, (replaced with Companies Act 2013 with effect from April 
1,2014) and was converted into a Public Limited Company with effect from April 10,2017. The registered 
office of the Company is New Udaan Bhawan, Opposite Terminal-III, IGI Airport, New Delhi-I 10037. DIAL 
is into the business of managing the operations and modernization of the Indira Gandhi Ioternational Airport 
(,Delhi Airport'). GMR Airports Limited ('GAL' or 'Holding company of DIAL') a subsidiary of GMR 
Airports Infrastructure Limited ('GIL' or 'Intermediate Holding Company'), holds majority shareholding in 
the Holding Company. DIAL had entered into Operation, Management and Development Agreement 
('OMDA') with Airports Authority of India ('AAI'), which gives DIAL an exclusive right to operate, 
maintain, develop, modernize and manage the Delhi Airport on a revenue sharing model for an initial term 
of 30 years, which can be extended by another 30 years on satisfaction of certain terms and conditions 
pursuant to the provisions of the OMDA entered between Holding Company and AAI. The consolidated 
financial statements have been taken on record by the audit committee and board of directors in their meetings 
held on May 25, 2023 and May 26,2023 respectively. 

2. A) Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of the Holding Company have been prepared in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
notified under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended from time to time and presentation requirement of Division II of 
Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013, as applicable to the consolidated financial statements. 

Accounting Policies have been consistently applied except where a newly issued accounting standard is 
initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting policy 
hitherto in use [refer note 3]. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost convention on an accrual basis, 
except for the following assets and liabilities which have been measured at fair value or revalued amount: 

• Derivative financial instruments 
• Certain financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments) which 

have been measured at fair value . 

. B) Basis of Consolidation 

(i) SUbsidiary 

Subsidiary includes the entity over which the Holding Company has control. The Holding Company controls 
an entity when it is exposed or has right to variable return from its involvement with the entity, and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power (that is, existing rights that give it the current ability to direct 
the relevant activities) over the entity. The Holding Company re-assesses whether or not it controls the entity, 
in case the under-lying facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to above mentioned parameters 
that determine the existence of control. 

Subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Holding Company, and 
they are deconsolidated from the date when control ceases. 



Delhi International Airport Limited 
CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees crore, except otherwise stated) 

(ii) Joint ventures and associates 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control 
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent 
of the parties sharing control. 

An associate is an entity over which the Holding Company has significant influence. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or 
joint control over those policies. 

Joint ventures and associates are accounted for from the date on which Holding Company obtains joint 
control over the joint venture / starts exercising significant influence over the associate. 

(iii) Method of consolidation 

Accounting policies of the respective individual subsidiary, joint venture and associate are aligned wherever 
necessary, so as to ensure consistency with the accounting policies that are adopted by the Holding Company 
under Ind AS. 

The Consolidated financial statements of subsidiary are fully consolidated on a line-by-line basis. Intragroup 
balances and transactions, and income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated 
while preparing the said financial statements. The un-realised gains resulting from intra-group transactions 
are also eliminated. Similarly, the un-realised losses are eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence 
as to impairment of the asset transferred. 

The Holding Company's investments in its joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity 
method. Accordingly, the investments are .carried at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the 
Holding Company's share of the net assets of investees. Any excess of the cost over the Holding Company's 
share of net assets in its joint ventures / associates at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The 
goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment. The un-realised gains / losses resulting 
from transactions (including sale of business) with joint ventures and associates are eliminated against the 
investment to the extent of the Holding Company's interest in the investee. However, un-realised losses are 
eliminated only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

At each reporting date, the Holding Company determines whether there is objective evidence that the 
investment is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Holding Company calculates the amount of impairment 
as the difference between the recoverable amount of investment and its carrying value. 

(This space has been intentionally left blank) 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees crore, except otherwise stated) 

The entities considered in the Consolidated Financial Statements in the year are listed below: 

Percentage of 
effective 

Country of Relationship Relationship ownership interest 
S. Name of the Incorporation as at March as at March held (directly or 
No. entity 31,2023 31,2022 indirectly) as at 

March March 
31,2023 31,2022 

I Delhi India Subsidiary Subsidiary - -
Aerotropolis 
Private Limited 
(DAPL)* 

2 Delhi Aviation India Joint Venture J oint Venture 50% 50% 
Services Private 
Limited 
(DASPL) 

3 Delhi Aviation India Joint Venture Joint Venture 26% 26% 
Fuel Facility 
Private Limited 
(DAFFPL) 

4 GMR Bajoli Holi India Joint Venture Joint Venture 20.14% 20.14% 
Hydropower 
Private Limited 
(GBHHPL)** 

5 Delhi Duty Free India Joint Venture Joint Venture 49.90% 49.90% 
Services Private 
Limited 
(DDFSPL) 

6 TIM Delhi India Associate Associate 49.90% 49.90% 
Airport 
Advertising 
Private' Limited 
(TIMDAA) 

7 Delhi Airport India Associate Associate 49.90% 49.90% 
Parking Services 
Private Limited 
(DAPSPL) 

8 Travel Food India Associate Associate 40% 40% 
Services (Delhi 
Terminal 3) 
Private Limited 
(TFS) 

9 Celebi Delhi India Associate Associate 26% 26% 
Cargo Terminal 
Management 
India Private 
Limited (Celebi) 

\0 DIG! Yalra India Associate Associate 14.40% 22.20% 
Foundation# 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amonnts in Rupees crore, except otherwise stated) 

*During the previous year ended March 31, 2022, Delhi Aerotropolis Private Limited has been 
struck off in Registrar of Companies and now stand dissolved. 

** W.e.f. from September II, 2017, the Holding Company has entered into a share subscription cum 
shareholder's agreement for acquisition of 17.33% of shareholding in GMR Bajoli Holi Hydropower Private 
Limited. The Holding Company holds 20.85% of shareholding in GMR Bajoli Holi Hydropower Private 
Limited as at March 31, 2019 which is subsequently changed to 20.14% as at March 31, 2020. 

# The Holding Company has invested in DIG! Yatra foundation, a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) formed 
as central platform foridentity management of passengers, as Joint Venture (JV) of Private Airport Operators 
and Airports Authority of India (AAI) as Section 8 Company (Not for Profit Organization) under the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. Further, it had been decided by AAI that initially AAI, Delhi 
International Airport Limited (DIAL) and Bangalore Iotemational Airport Limited (BIAL) will form this 
company with the shareholding ratio of 26:37:37 respectively. Currently, DIG! Yatra foundation is having 
paid up share capital of Rs. 10,000 and DIAL has invested Rs. 1,480 only (March 31, 2022: Rs. 2,220). 
Currently, 26% shareholding ofDigi Yatra Foundation will be held by AAI and remaining 74% shareholding 
will be equally divided amongst the Private Airport Operators viz. BIAL, Cochin Iotemational Airport 
Limited (CIAL), DIAL, GMR Hyderabad Iotemational Airport Limited (GHIAL), Mumbai International 
Airport Limited (MIAL) i.e. 14.8% each. 

During the year ended March 31, 2023, DIAL has transferred 74 equity shares (i.e. 7.4% equity in DYF) to 
Mumbai Iotemational Airport Limited (MIAL) on June 14,2022. 

C) Going concern 

The Delhi Aviation Services Private Limited (DASPL) had entered into Concession Agreement with Delhi 
International Airport Limited (DIAL) for a period of 10 years effective from 30th July 2010 and ending on 
29th July 2020 for provisioning services vis-a-vis Ground Power Unit (GPU), Portable Air Conditioner 
(PCA) and supplying purified water. Considering the COVID-19 pandemic and as per themutual discussion 
between DASPL and DIAL concession period was extended by I more year i.e from July 28, 2020 to July 
27, 2021 vide DIAL's letter dated June 25, 2020, which is extended upto December 31, 2021. DIAL has 
further extend the concession period till March, 2022 vide DIAL's letter dated December 30, 2021. On the 
basis of the cash reserves available with the Company as on March 31, 2023, the Company has sufficient 
cash reserves to meet its oblications for next 12 months period. Accordingly, DASPL financials are prepared 
on Going Concern basis as on March 31, 2022. 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

a. Use of estimates 

/. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to 
make estimates, judgments and assumptions. These estimates, judgments and assumptions affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date ofthe consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the period. Application of accounting policies that require critical accounting 
estimates involving complex and subjective judgments and the use of assumptions in these consolidated 
financial statements have been disclosed in note 33. Accounting estimates could change from year to year. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Appropriate changes in estimates are made as management 
becomes aware of changes in circumstances surrounding the estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in 
the consolidated financial statements in the year in which changes are made and, if material, their effects are 
discloseg in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

"'::\:.:: 'j", " " .. : \~«'~~\ 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees crore, except otherwise stated) 

b. Current versus non-current classification 

The Holding Company presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on currentl non-current 
classification. An asset is treated as current when it is: 

a) Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in nonnal operating cycle 
b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
c) Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
d) Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 

twelve months after the reporting period. 

The Holding Company classifies all other assets as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
a) It is expected to be settled in nonnal operating cycle 
b) It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
c) It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
d) There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after 

the reporting period. 

The Holding Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash 
and cash equivalents. The Holding Company has identified twelve months as its operating cycle. 

c. Significant Accounting Judgements: 

In case of DAPSPL, it has executed Concession agreement with Holding Company for operating car parking 
facilities at Indira Gandhi International Airport, New Delhi for a period of 25 years. 

Appendix A to Ind AS 115 ("Appendix A") contains provisions to cover arrangements between Built Operate 
and Transfer (BOT) referred to as service concession arrangement ("SCA"). An entity is required to make a 
careful evaluation with regard to applicability of Service concession arrangement ("SCA") guidance on every 
BOT arrangement. The applicability of service concession depends whether the grantor controls or regulates 
what services the operator must provide with the infrastructure, to whom it must provide them, and at what 
price; and also control the residual interest in the infrastructure. 

Post the concession period, the DAPSPL shall handover all the assets to DIAL and the services are open to 
general public. However, the Management demonstrated that the rates at which services are required to be 
rendered are not controlled by Holding Company (Grantor) and accordingly concluded that provisions of 
"SCA" are not applicable. 

d. Investments 

Investments that are readily realisable and intended to be held for not more than one year from the date on 
which such investments are made are classified as current investments. All other investments are classified 
as long-tenn investments. 

On initial recognition, all investments are measured at cost. The cost comprises purchase price and directly 
attri1;J.utable acquisition charges such as brokerage, fees and duties. If an investment is acquired, or partly 
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(All amounts in Rupees crore, except otherwise stated) 

acquired, by the issue of shares or other securities, the acquisition cost is the fair value of the securities issued. 
If an investment is acquired in exchange for another asset, the acquisition is determined by reference to the 
fair value of the asset given up or by reference to the fair value of the investment acquired, whichever is more 
clearly evident. 

Current investments are carried in the financial statements at fair value detennined on an individual 
investment basis. Long-tenn investments are carried at cost. However, provision for diminution in value is 
made to recognise a decline other tban temporary in the value of the investments. 

On disposal of an investment the difference between its carrying amount and net disposal proceeds is charged 
or credited to the consolidated statement of profit and loss. 

e. Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 

The Holding Company's investments in its associate and joint venture are accounted for using the equity 
method. Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at 
cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Holding Company' 5 

share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the 
associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount ofthe investment and is not tested for impainnent 
individually. 

The consolidated statement of profit and loss reflects the Holding Company's share of the results of 
operations of the associate or joint venture. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the 
Holding Company's OCt. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the 
associate or joint venture, the Holding Company recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the 
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Holding 
Company and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent ofthe interest in the associate or joint 
venture. 

If an entity's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate 
or joint venture (which includes any long tenn interest that, in substance, fonn part of the Holding Company' 5 

net investment in the associate or j oint venture), the entity discontinues recognising its share of further losses. 
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Holding Company has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture. If the associate or joint 
venture subsequently reports profits, the entity resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its 
share of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised. 

The aggregate of the Holding Company's share of profit or loss of an associate and ajoint venture is shown 
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit and loss. 
The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Holding Company. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those 
of the Holding Company. 

After application ofthe equity method, the Holding Company detennines whether it is necessary to recognise 
an impainnent loss on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Holding 
Company detennines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate or jOint venture 
is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Holding Company calculates the amount of impainnent as the 
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value, and then 
recognises the loss as 'Share of profit of an associate and ajoint venture' in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. 
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Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Holding 
Company measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the 
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the 
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in consolidated profit or loss. 

f. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials and direct services, any other costs (net ofCenvat) directly attributable 
to bringing the assets to its working condition for their intended use. 

Assets under installation or under construction as at the balance sheet date are shown as "Capital work-in­
progress (CWIP)".Expenditure including finance charges directly relating to construction activity is 
capitalised. 

Capital work in progress is stated at cost, net of accumulated impairment loss if any. Capital work in progress 
includes leasehold improvements under development as at the balance sheet date. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Holding 
Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. Further, when each major inspection is 
performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equipment if the 
recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repairs and maintenance .are charged to statement of profit and 
loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising 
on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Development fee from any regnlatory authority are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that it will 
be received / utilized and the Company will comply with the conditions attached to them. 

Development fee related to an asset, (net of direct amount incurred to earn aforesaid development fee) is 
deducted from the gross value of the asset concerned in arriving at the carrying amount of the related asset. 
The residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 
at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight line basis using the useful lives 
prescribed under Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013 except for assets individually costing less than Rs. 
5,000/-, which are fully depreciated in the year of acquisition and certain assets class i.e. Internal Approach 
Roads, Electric Panels and Transformers/Sub-station, the Holding Company, based on a technical evaluation, 
believes that the useful life of such property, plant and equipment is different from the useful life specified 
in Schedule II to Companies Act 2013. 

The following is a comparison of the useful lives of these assets as adopted by the Holding Company and 
those prescribed under Schedule 1I to the Companies Act, 2013: 
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Type of Assets Useful life as estimated by Useful life as prescribed in 
the holding company based Schedule II to the Companies 
on technical evaluation Act, 2013 

Roads - Other than RCC 10 years 5 years 
TransformerslPower Snb-Stations IS years 10 years 

I (included in Plant and Machinery) 
Electric Panels (included in Electrical IS years 10 years 
Installations and Equipment) 

The useful hfe of the property, plant and eqUipment whIch are not as per schedule II of the Compames Act 
2013, have been estimated by the management based on internal technical evaluation. The Property, plant 
and equipment acquired under finance lease is depreciated over the asset's useful life; or over the shorter of 
the asset's useful life and the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the DAPSPL will obtain 
ownership at the end oflease term. 

On June 12, 2014, the Airport Economic Regulatory Authority ("the Authority") has issued a consultation 
paper viz.05/20 14-15 in the matter of Normative Approach to Building Blocks in Economic Regulation of 
maj or Airports wherein it, interalia, mentioned that the Authority proposes to lay down, to the extent required, 
the depreciation rates for airport assets, taking into account the provisions of the useful life of assets given 
in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013, that have not been clearly mentioned in the Schedule II of the 
Companies Act, 2013 or may have a useful life justifiably different than that indicated in the Companies Act, 
2013 in the specific context to the airport sector. Pursuant to above, the Authority had issued order no. 
3512017-18 on January 12, 2018 which was further amended on April 09, 2018, in the matter of 
Determination of Useful life of Airport Assets, which is effective from April 0 I, 2018. 

Accordingly, the Holding Company's management was of the view that useful lives considered by the 
Holding Company for most of the assets except passenger related Furniture and Fixtures were in line with 
the useful life proposed by AERA in its order dated January 12, 2018, which is further amended on April 09, 
2018. 

In order to align the useful life of passenger related Furniture and Fixtures as per AERA order, the Company 
has revised the useful life during the financial year ended March 31, 2019. 

Leasehold Improvements are improvements, betterments, or modifications of leased property which will 
benefit the Holding Company for the period of more than one year. The amount of leasehold improvements 
are capitalised and amortised over the period of lease. 

Some of the joint ventures and asscoates have been following useful life for their Fixed Assets which are 
different from the lives published under Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013 based on the estimation of 

fll' d b h . M use u Ives one )y t e respectIve anagement. 
Useful life as adopted by the Life of Asset As per Sch II 

Type of Assets management of respective entities based of the Companies Act 
on technical evaluation 2013 (in years) 

Building 
25 or remaining life of the concession 

30 
period whichever is earlier 

Plant and machinery 
3- IS or concession period whichever 

IS 
is earlier 

Electrical Fittings 3-15 10 

Office Equipments 3-10 5 

Furniture and Fittings 3 - 10 10 
Computers (including 
servers and network)-

3-6 3-6 

Vehicles 5-10 8-10 
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In case of GBHHPL, with respect to plant and machinery the life of the asset is considered as 40 years. 
Leasehold land is amortised from the date of commercial operation in case of power plants. 

g. Intangible assets 

Identifiable intangible assets are recognised: 
a) when the Company controls the asset, 
b) it is probable that future economic benefits attributed to the asset will flow to the Company and 
c) the cost of the asset can be reliably measured. 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

In case of Holding Company, intangible assets include software, upfront fee paid as airport concessionaire 
rights and other costs (excluding operation support costs) paid to the Airports Authority of India (AAI) 
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the OMDA. 

In DDFS, license represents right to run and operate duty free shops and represents time value of security 
deposit amount paid to the Holding Company in accordance with the terms of concession arrangement. 

Gain or losses arising from derecognition of other intangible asset are measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the other intangible asset and are recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Subsequent costs is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure on other intangible assets is recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss, as incurred. 

Amortisation of intangible assets 

Intangible assets are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is 
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. Changes in 
the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes 
in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in these 
consolidated financial statements. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. 

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of other intangible assets over their estimated useful lives 1-
6 years for software and 5-10 years for Franchise rights fee using the straight-line method. Amortisation is 
calculated on a pro-rata basis for assets purchased! disposed during the year. 

The Holding Company amortises, upfront fee paid as airport concession rights and other costs paid to AAI 
referred to above are recognized and amortized over the initial period of 30 years and extended period of 
OMDA i.e. 60 years. Other intangible assets are amortised over the useful life of asset or six years, whichever 
is lower. 
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Service concession arrangements: 

CELEBI constructs or upgrades infrastructure (construction or upgrade services) used to provide a public 
service and operates and maintains that infrastructure (operation services) for a specified period of time. 
These arrangements may include Infrastructure used in a public·to-private service concession arrangement 
for its entire useful life. 

Under Appendix C to Ind AS 115 - Service Concession Arrangements, these arrangements are accounted 
for based on the nature ofthe consideration. The intangible asset model is used to the extent that the Company 
receives a right (i.e. a concessionaire) to charge users of the public service. The financial asset model is used 
when the Company has an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from or 
at the direction of the grantor for the construction services. When the unconditional right to receive cash 
covers only part of the service, the two models are combined to account separately for each component. If 
the Company performs more than one service (i.e., construction or upgrade services and operation services) 
under a single contract or arrangement, consideration received or receivable is allocated by reference to their 
relative fair values of the services delivered when the amounts are separately identifiable. 

CELEBI has entered into Concessionaire Agreement with Holding Company which gives it right to operate, 
maintain, develop, modernise and manage the existing Cargo Terminal for a period till March 31, 2034 and 
the new Domestic Terminal at Delhi for a period till March 31, 2021. The concession arrangement is a service 
concession arrangement under appendix C to Ind AS 115. The CELEBI has a right to charge the users for 
the services and therefore, the same has been classified under Intangible assets model. 

The intangible asset is amortised over the shorter of the estimated period of future economic benefits which 
the intangible assets are expected to generate or the concession period, from the date they are available for 
use. 

An asset carried under concession arrangements is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its future use or disposal. 

h. Government Grant and subsidies 

Grants and subsidies from the government are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that 
(i) the Holding Company will comply / have complied with the conditions attached to them, and 
(ii) the grant / subsidy will be received. 

When the grant! subsidy relates to revenue, it is recognized under other income in the Consolidated 
Statement of Profit and Loss in the period of receipts of such grant! subsidy, at the amount expected to be 
realized. ' 

i. Borrowing cost 

Borrowing costs, net of income on surplus investments directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of a qualifYing asset are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. A qualifying asset is one 
that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as 
part of the cost of the respective asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they 
occur. 

Borrowing costs consist of interest, call spread premium and other costs that an entity incurs in connection 
with the borrowing of funds. 
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j. Leases 

The Holding Company assesses a contract at inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 

Holding Company as a lessee: 

The Holding Company applies a single recogoition and measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Holding Company recognises lease liabilities to make 
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

Right-of-use assets: The Holding Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the 
lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement oflease liabilities. 
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount oflease liabilities recogoised, initial direct costs incurred, 
and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the 
same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

Lease liabilities: At the commencement date of the lease, the Holding Company recognises lease liabilities 
measured at the present value oflease payments to be made over the lease term. 

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability include fixed payments (including in 
substance fixed payments), variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected 
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Holding Company and payments of penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects the Holding Company exercising the option to terminate. 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recogoised in finance 
costs in the statement of profit and loss. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets: In case of a short term lease contract and lease contracts 
for which the underlying asset is of low value, lease payments are charged to statement of profit and loss on 
accrual basis. 

Holding Company as a lessor: 
Leases in which the Holding Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of an asset are classified as operating leases. Income from operating lease is recogoised on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recogoised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents 
are recogoised as revenue in the period in which they are earned. Leases are classified as finance leases when 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership transfers from the Company to the lessee. Amounts 
due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the Company's net investment in the 
leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the net investment outstanding in respect of the lease. 
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k. Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average 
basis and includes other directly associated costs in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 

However, in respect ofTFS, cost of inventories is determined on First in First out ('FIFO') basis. The value 
of inventories in respect of the entity is not significant and as such, has not been aligned with Holding 
Company accounting policy. 

Provision is made for items which are expired/not likely to be consumed and other anticipated losses 
wherever considered necessary. 

I. Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Holding Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impainnent testing for an asset is required, the Holding 
Company estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's 
or cash generating units' (CGUs) fair value less cost of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount 
is detennined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or group of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre­
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. In detennining fair value less cost of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. 
The Holding Company bases its impainnent calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which 
are prepared separately for each of the Holding Company's CGUs to which the individual assets are 
allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, 
a long-tenn growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year. To estimate 
cash flow projections beyond periods covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts, the Holding Company 
extrapolates cash flow projections in the budget using a steady or declining growth rate for subsequent years, 
unless an increasing rate can be justified. 

Impainnent losses of continuing operations, including impainnent on inventories, are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit and loss. After impainnent, depreciation is provided on the revised carrying 
amount of the asset over its remaining useful life. 

For assets an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that 
previously recognised impainnent losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
Holding Company estimates the asset's or CGU's recoverable amount. A previously recognised impainnent 

. loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverable 
amount since the last impainnent loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of 
the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
detennined, net of depreciation, had no impainnent loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such 
reversal is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 
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m. Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Commitments 

Provisions are recognised when the Holding Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resourCeS embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. When 
the Holding Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the consolidated statement of profit and loss net 
of any reimbursement. 

If the effect ofthe time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 
reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

Provision for Decommissioning cost: In Case of TFS, the company records a provision for 
decommissioning costs of outlets located at Indira Gandhi International Airport, New Delhi. 
Decommissioning costs are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using 
estimated cash flows and are recognised as part of the cost of the particular asset. The cash flows are 
discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the decommissioning liability. The 
unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss as a 
finance cost. The estimated future costs of decommissioning are reviewed annually and adjusted as 
appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted 
from the cost of the asset and any short / eXcess is adjusted from Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Contingent liability is disclosed in the case of: 

• A present obligation arising from past events, when it is not probable that an outflow of resources will 
be required to settle the obligation 

• A present obligation arising from past events, when no reliable estimate is possible 
• A possible obligation arising from past events, unless the probability of outflow of resources is remote 

Commitments include the amount of purchase order (net of advances) issued to parties for completion of 
asSets. Provisions, contingent liabilities, contingent assets and commitments are reviewed at each reporting 
date. 
Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized when the expected benefits to be delivered by the Holding 
Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting the future obligations under the 
contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the 
contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract.' Before a provision is established the 
Holding Company recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 

n. Contingent assets 

Contingent assets usually arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of 
an inflow of economic benefits to the entity. Contingent assets are recognized when the realisation of income 
is virtually certain, then the related asset is not a contingent asset and its recognition is appropriate. 

Contingent assets are reviewed at each reporting date. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable. 
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o. Retirement and other Employee Benefits 

Defined benefit plan 

Retirement benefit in the fonn of Provident Fund, Superannuation Fund and Employee State Insurance are 
defined contribution schemes and the contributions are charged to the statement of profit and loss of the year 
when the contributions to the respective funds/trust are due. The Company has no obligation, other than the 
contribution payable to the respective funds/trusts. 

All employee benefits payable/available within twelve months of rendering the service are classified as short­
term employee benefits. Benefits such as salaries, wages and bonus etc., are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss in the period in which the employee renders the related service. 
The Holding Company recognizes contribution payable as expenditure, when an employee renders the 
related service. If the contribution payable to the scheme for service received before the reporting date 
exceeds the contribution already paid, the deficit payable to the scheme is recognized as a liability after 
deducting the contribution already paid. If the contribution already paid exceeds the contribution due for 
services received before the balance sheet date, then excess is recognized as an asset to the extent that the 
pre-payment will lead to a reduction in future payment or a cash refund. 

Gratuity Liability is a defined benefit obligation which is funded through policy taken from Life Insurance 
Corporation of India and liability (net offair value of investment in LIC) is provided for on the basis of an 
actuarial valuation on projected unit credit method made at the end of each financial year. Every employee 
who has completed five years or more of service gets a gratuity on separation at 15 days' salary (based on 
last drawn basic salary) for each completed year of service. 

The Holding Company treats accumulated leave including sick leave expected to be carried forward beyond 
twelve months, as long-tenn employee benefit for measurement purposes. Such long-tenn compensated 
absences including sick leave are provided for based on the actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit 
method at the year-end. Actuarial gains / losses are immediately taken to the consolidated statement of profit 
and loss and are not deferred. 

The entire amount of the provision for leave encasbment is presented as current in financial statements, since 
the Company does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the obligation. 

Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts 
included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability and the return on plan assets (excluding amounts 
included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the balance sheet 
with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through OCI in the period in which they occur. Re­
measurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. Past service costs are recognised in 
profit or loss on the earlier of: 
i) The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 
ii) The date that the Holding Company recognises related restructuring costs. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit 
method. 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Holding 
Company recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expense in the 
consolidated statement of profit and loss: 

• Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and nOll­

routine settlements; and 
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• Net interest expense or income 

p. Financial Instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. 

I) Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value 
through other comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss. 

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash 
flow characteristics and the Holding Company's business model for managing them. With the exception of 
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Holding Company 
has applied the practical expedient, the Holding Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value 
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables 
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Holding Company has applied the 
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under Ind AS 115. Refer to the 
accounting policies in section (v) Revenue from contracts with customers. 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it 
needs to give rise to cash flows that are 'solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI), on the principal 
amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. 
The Holding Company's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial 
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from 
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the 
date that the Holding Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

F or purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in three broad categories: 

a) Financial assets at amortised cost 
b) Financia] assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
c) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Financial assets at amortised cost: A 'Financial asset' is measured at the amortised cost if both the 
following conditions are met: 
a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash 

flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely· payments of 

principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included 
in other. income in the consolidated statement of profit and loss .. The losses arising from impairment are 
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recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss .. This category generally applies to trade and other 
receivables. For more information on receivables, refer to Note 11. 

Financial assets at FVTOCI 

A financial asset is measured at the FVTOCI if both of the following criteria are met: 
• The asset is held within the business model, whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual 

cash flows and selling the financial assets, and 
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI on 

the principal amount outstanding. 

If the Holding Company decides to classify an equity instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes 
on the instrument, excluding dividends, are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the amounts from 
OCI to P&L, even on sale of investment. However, the Holding Company may transfer the cumulative gain 
or loss within equity. 

Financial assets at FVTPL: FVTPL is a residual category for financial assets. Any Financial asset, which 
does not meet the criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or as at Fair Value through OCI (FVTOCI), 
is classified as at FVTPL. 

In addition, the Holding Company may elect to designate a Financial assets, which otherwise meets 
amortized cost or FVTOCI criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if doing so reduces 
or eliminates a measurement or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 'accounting mismatch'). Financial 
assets included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the 
consolidated statement of profit and loss. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Holding Company of similar 
financial assets) is primarily derecognised when: 
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or 
• The Holding Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass­
through' arrangement; and either (a) the Holding Company has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Holding Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Holding Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into 
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of 
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, 
nor transferred control of the asset, the Holding Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the 
extent of the Holding Company's continuing involvement. In that case, the Holding Company also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Holding Company has retained. 

Continuing involvement tIiat takes the form of a gnarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Holding 
Company could be required to repay. 
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Impairment of financial assets 

In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Holding Company applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for 
measurement and recognition of impairment loss on the following financial assets and credit risk exposure: 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost e.g., deposits, trade receivables and bank balance. 

The Holding Company follows 'simplified approach' for recognition of impairment loss allowance on trade 
receivables or contract revenue receivables. 

The application of simplified approach does not require the Holding Company to track changes in credit risk. 
Rather, it recognises impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date, right from its 
initial recognition. 

For recognition of impairment loss on other financial assets and risk exposure, the Holding Company 
determines that whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition. If 
credit risk has not increased significantly, 12-month ECL is used to provide for impairment loss. However, 
if credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime ECL is used. If, in a subsequent period, credit quality ofthe 
instruroent improves such that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
then the entity reverts to recognising impairment loss allowance based on 12-month ECL. 

Lifetime ECL are the expected credit losses resulting from all possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. The 12-month ECL is a portion of the lifetime ECL which results from default 
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Holding Company in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the entity expects to receive (i.e., all cash shortfalls), discounted 
at the 
original EIR. When estimating the cash flows, an entity is required to consider: 

• All contractual terms of the financial instruroent (including prepayment, extension, call and similar 
options) over the expected life of the financial instrument. However, in rare cases when the expected life 
of the financial instruroent cannot be estimated reliably, then the entity is required to use the remaining 
contractual term of the financial instrument. 

• Cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual 
terms. 

As a practical expedient, the Holding Company uses a provision matrix to determine impairment loss 
allowance on portfolio of its trade receivables. The provision matrix is based on its historically observed 
default rates over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At 
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking 
estimates are analysed. 

For assessing increase in credit risk and impairment loss, the Holding Company combines financial 
instruments on the basis of shared credit risk characteristics with the objective of facilitating an analysis that 
is designed to enable significant increases in credit risk to be identified on a timely basis. 
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II. Financial liabilities 

i. Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
The Holding Company's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings 
including derivative financial instruments. 

ii. Subsequent measurement 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated as 
such at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities 
designated as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own credit risk are recognized in 
OCI. These gains/ loss are not subsequently transferred to consolidated statement of profit and loss. However, 
the Holding Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other changes in fair value 
of such liability are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. The Holding Company has 
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit and loss. 

iii. De-Recognition of Financial liability 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in respective carrying amounts is recognised in consolidated statement of Profit and Loss. 

III. Offsetting of financial instruments: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there 
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

q. Loans and borrowings 

This is the category most relevant to the Holding Company. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation 
process. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss. 
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r. Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 

Initial Recognition and subsequent measurement 
The Holding Company uses derivative financial instruments, such as call spread options and interest rate 
swaps to hedge its foreign currency risks and interest rate risks, respectively. 

Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial 
assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss, 
except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in OCI and later reclassified to 
profit or loss when the hedge item affects profit or loss. 

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as: 

a) Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or 
liability or an unrecognised fmn commitment; 

b) Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or 
the foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment; 

c) Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation. 

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Holding Company formally designates and documents the hedge 
relationship to which the Holding Company wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes the Holding Company's risk 
management objective and strategy for undertaking hedge, the hedging / economic relationship, the hedged 
item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, hedge ratio and how the entity will assess the 
effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument's fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes in the 
hedged item's fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly 
effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an ongoing basis to 
determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which 
they were designated. 

Cash flow hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as described below: 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCI in the cash flow 
hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit 
and loss. 

Amounts recognised as OCI are transferred to profit or loss when the hedged transaction affects profit or 
loss, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when a forecast sale 
occurs. 

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover (as part 
of the hedging strategy), or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, or when the hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI remains separately 
in equity until the forecast transaction occurs or the foreign currency firm commitment is met. 
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Presentation of derivative contracts in the financial statement 

Derivative assets and liabilities recognized on the balance sheet are presented as current and non-current 
based on the classification of the underlying hedged item. 

s. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalent in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term 
deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the 
Holding Company's cash management. 

t. Foreign currencies 

Functional Currency 

The Consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian rupees (INR), which is also the Holding 
Company's functional currency. 

Transactions and Translations 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Holding Company at their respective 
functional currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. However, for practical 
reasons, the Holding Company uses an average rate if the average approximates the actual rate at the date 
of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency 
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

Exchange differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the dates of the intial transactions. 

In case of DDFS, non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items that are 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date when the fair 
value is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is 
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation 
differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognized in OCI or statement of profit and loss are 
also recognized in OCI or profit or loss, respectively). 

u. Fair value measurement 

The Holding Company measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet 
date, 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on 
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
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• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Holding Company. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their best economic interest. 

The Holding Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and 
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Level 1-Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable. 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Holding Company detennines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re­
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Holding Company detennines the policies and procedures for recurring fair value measurement, such as 
derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value. External valuers are involved 
for valuation of significaht assets or liabilities such as derivative instruments, unquoted financial assets and 
contingent consideration. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether 
professional standards are maintained. 

For impainnent testing purposes and where significant assets (such as property) are valued by reference 
to'fair value less costs of disposal, an external valuation will nonnally be obtained using professional valuers 
who have appropriate market knowledge; reputation and independence 

At each reporting date, the Holding Company analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities 
which are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per the Holding Company's accounting policies. For 
this analysis, the Holding Company verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the 
infonnation in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Holding Company has detennined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given in the 
relevant notes as mentioned below. 
a) Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 38) 
b) Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy (note 39) 
c) Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) 
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v. Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Holding 
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue 
is measured at the amount of the transaction price, excluding the estimates of variable consideration that is 
allocated to that performance obligation, considering contractually defined terms of payment, and excluding 
taxes or duties collected on behalf of the government. 

Revenue from contract with customer 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the services are transferred to the 
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Holding Company expects to be entitled 
in exchange for those services. The Holding Company has generally concluded that it is the principal in its 
revenue arrangements, because it typically controls the services before transferring them to the customer. 

, Revenue from Operations 

Significant financing component 

Generally, the Holding Company receives short-term advances from its customers. Using the practical 
expedient in Ind AS 115, the Holding Company does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for 
the effects of a significant financing component if it expects, at contract inception, that the period between 
the transfer of the promised service to the customer and when the customer pays for that service will be one 
year or less. 

The Holding Company also receives long-term advances from customers for rendering services. The 
transaction price for such contracts are discounted, using the rate that would be reflected in a separate 
financing transaction between the Holding Company and its customers at contract inception, to take into 
consideration the significant financing component. 

Contract balances 

Contract assets 
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for services transferred to the customer (which 
consist ofunbiIIed revenue). If the Holding Company performs by transferring services to a customer before 
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned 
consideration that is conditional. 

Trade receiva bles 

A receivable represents the Holding Company's right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional 
(i.e., only the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting 
policies of financial assets in financial instruments - subsequent measurement. 

Contract liabilities 

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the Holding Company has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays 
consideration before the Holding Company transfers services to the customer, a contract liability is 
recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are 
recognised as revenue when the Holding Company performs under the contract. 
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Income from services 

Revenue from airport operations i.e. Aeronautical and Non Aeronautical operations are recognised on accrual 
basis, net of Goods and Service Tax (GST), and applicable discounts when services are rendered. 
Aeronautical operations include user development fees (UDF), Passenger Service Fee (Facilitation 
Component) [PSF (FC)], Baggage X-ray Charges, Landing and Parking of aircraft and into-plane charges. 
The main streams of non -aeronautical revenue includes duty free, retail, advertisement, food & beverages, 
cargo, ground handling, car parking and land & space- rentals. 

Land & Space- rentals pertains to granting right to use land and space primarily for catering to the need of 
passengers, air traffic services and air transport services. 

Revenue from commercial property development rights granted to concessionaires is recognized on accrual 
basis, as per the tenns of the agreement entered into with the customers. 

Cargo revenue 

Revenue from cargo operations are recognized on accrual basis, net of Goods and Service Tax (GST) and 
applicable discounts, when services are rendered. In case of cargo handling revenue, revenue from outbound 
cargo is recognized at the time of acceptance of cargo with respect to non-airline customers and at the time 
of departure of aircraft with respect to airline customers and revenue from inbound cargo is recognized at the 
time of arrival of aircraft in case of airline customers and the point of delivery of cargo in case of non -airline 
customer. For non -airline customers, Holding Company follow the tariff approved by the airport economic 
regnlatory authority. In other cases, mutually agreed contract price. The Holding Company collects GST on 
behalf of the government and, therefore, it is not an economic benefit flowing to the Holding Company. 
Hence, it is excluded from revenue 

In case of service concession agreements, revenue are recognised in line with the Appendix C to Ind AS 115 
- Service Concession Arrangements 

Income from the concession arrangements earned under the intangible asset model consists of: 
i) fair value of contract revenue, which is deemed to be fair value of consideration transferred to acquire 

the asset; and 
ii) payments actually received from the users. 

Revenues and cost of improvements to concession assets 

In confonnity with appendix C ofInd AS 115, the CELEB! recognizes revenues and the associated costs of 
improvements to concession assets which it is obligated to perfonn at the cargo tenninal as established by 
the concession agreement. Revenues represent the value of the exchange between the Ce\ebi and the grantor 
of concession with respect to the improvements, given that the Celebi constructs or provides improvements 
to the cargo terminal as obligated under the concession agreement and in exchange, the grantor of concession 
grants the Celebi the right to obtain benefits for services provided using those assets. The Celebi has 
detennined that its obligations per the concession agreement should be considered to be a revenue earning 
activity as all expenditures incurred to fulfil the concession provisions are included in the maximum tariff it 
charges its customers and therefore it recognizes the revenue and expense in statement of profit and loss 
when the expenditures are perfonned. 

The cost for such additions and improvements to concession assets is based on actual costs incurred by the 
Celebi in the execution of the additions or improvements, considering the requirements in the concession 
agreement. The amount of revenues for these services is equal to the amount of costs incurred, as Celebi does 
not obtain any profit margin for these construction services. The amounts paid are set at market value. 
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Food and Beverage Operations 

a) Sale of goods (food, beverages, liqour and others) 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods have passed to the customer, which coincides with the point of delivery of the goods to the customer 
from restaurant delivery outlets, at which time all the following conditions are satisfied: 

- The Holding Company has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods; 
- The Holding Company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated 
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; 
- The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
- It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Holding Company; 
and 
- The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

b) Mangement Fee 

Management fees are recognised on an accrual basis in the accounting period in which the services are 
rendered and in accordance with the agreement entered into with the food and beverage outlet operator. 

c) Sales Incentive Fees 

Sales Incentive fees is recognised on an accrual basis in the accounting period to which it pertains. 

Advertisement & Installation Services 

Revenue from developing, operating, maintaining and managing the sites at airport for display of 
advertisement are recognized on pro-rate basis over the period of display of advertisements. 

TIMDAA provides installation services that are either sold separately or bundled together with the sale of 
display services to the customer. Contracts for bundled sales of installation services are comprised of two 
performance obligations because the promises to provide display services and provide installation services 
are capable of being distinct and separately identifiable. Accordingly, the TIMDAA allocates the transaction 
price based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of the display and installation services.TIMDAA 
recognizes revenue from installation services at a point of time of billing to the customers, that generally 
coincides with the satisfaction of the performance obligation. 

Bridge Mounted Equipments Operations 

Revenue from Operations i.e. Ground Power Unit (GPU), Pre Conditioned Air (PCA) and potable water are 
recognized on accrual basis when the services are rendered. 

Parking Operations 

The Holding Company's revenue is generated from parking services and revenue from these services is 
recognised as and when the amounts are received from users i.e. recognised as revenue on receipt. 
Similarly revenue from airport entry ticket for visitors and from left luggage facilities are recognised as and 
when cash/money is collected. 
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Power Plant Income 

In case of power generating and trading companies, revenue from energy units sold as per the terms of the 
PPA (,Power Purchase Agreement) and Letter OfIntent ('LOl') (collectively hereinafter referred to as 'the 
PPAs') is recognised on an accrual basis and includes unbilled revenue accrued up to the end of the 
accounting year. Revenue from energy units sold on a merchant basis is recognised in accordance with 
billings made to customers based on the units of energy delivered and the rate agreed with the customers. 

Revenue is recognized after netting off purchase of power, transmission charges and E-tax paid and recovered 
from customers. The Claims for delayed payment charges and any other claims, which the Holding Company 
is entitled to under the PPAs, are accounted for in the year of acceptance. 

Interest income 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the 
rate applicable except the interest income received from customers for delayed payments which is accounted 
on the basis of reasonable certainty / realisation. 

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the effective 
interest rate (EIR). EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over 
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Holding Company estimates the expected cash flows by considering all the contractual terms 
of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, call and similar options) but does not 
consider the expected credit losses. Interest income is included in other income in the consolidated statement 
of profit and loss. 

Claims 

Claims on contractors / concessionaires are accounted on the basis of reasonable certainty / realization. 

Rental income 

In case of DAFFPL, rental income from operating leases is generally recognised as per the terms of the lease 
agreement. As the rentals are structured soley to increase in line with the expected general inflation to 
compensate for the Company's expected inflationary cost increases, such increases are recognised in the 
period in which such benefits accrue. 

Income from Mutual Funds 

Mutual fund income are recognized based on the fair valuation as on each reporting date for the respective 
period. Profit/loss on sale of mutual funds is recognized when the title to mutual funds ceases to exist. On 
disposal of above, the difference between its carrying amount and net disposal proceeds is charged or credited 
to the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss. 

w. Taxes 

Tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. 
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Current income tax 

Current income tax is measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authorities in accordance with 
Income Tax Act, 1961. 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted 
or substantively enacted, at the reporting date. 

Current income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss 
(either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken 
in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation 
and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
i) When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

ii) In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary, associates and 
interests injoint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except: 
i) When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

ii) In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiary, associates and 
interests injoint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be 
recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
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Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss (either in 
other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying 
transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority. 

Minimum Alternate Tax ('MAT') paid in a year is charged to the consolidated statement of profit and loss 
as current tax. The Holding Company recognises MAT credit available as an asset only to the extent that 
there is convincing evidence that the Holding Company will pay normal income tax during the specified 
period, i.e., the period for which MAT credit is allowed to be carried forward. In the year in which the 
Holding Company recognises MAT credit as an asset in accordance with the Guidance Note on 'Accounting 
for Credit Available in respect of Minimum Alternative Tax' under IT Act, the said asset is created by way 
of credit to the consolidated statement of profit and loss and shown as 'MAT credit entitlement'. The Holding 
Company reviews the 'MAT credit entitlement' asset at each reporting date and writes down the asset to the 
extent the Holding Company does not have convincing evidence that it will pay normal tax during the 
specified period. 

Taxes, cess, duties such as sales taxi value added taxi service taxlgoods and service tax etc. paid on 
acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of taxes paid, except: 
• When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets, goods or services is not recoverable from the taxation 

authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense item, as applicable 

• When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included 
The net amount oftax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet. 

x. Operating segments 

The Holding Company has only one reportable operating segment, which is operation of airport and 
providing allied services. Accordingly, the amounts appearing in the consolidated financial statements relate 
to the Holding Company's single operating segment. 

y. Proposed dividend 

As per Ind AS -10, 'Events after the Reporting period', the Holding Company discloses the dividend 
proposed by board of directors after the balance sheet date in the notes to these consolidated financial 
statements. The liability to pay dividend is recognised when the declaration of dividend is approved by the 
shareholders. 

aa. Earnings per sha re 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable to 
equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for 
the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares. 
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abo Cash Flow Statement 

Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby profit for the period is adjusted for the effects of 
transactions of a non-cash nature, any deferrais or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or 
payments and item of income or expenses associated with investing or financing cash flows. The cash flows 
from operating, investing and financing activities of the Holding Company are segregated. 

3.1 Recent accounting pronouncement issued but not made effective 

Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") notifies new standard or amendments to the existing standards under 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On March 31, 2023, MCA 
amended the Companies (indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 by issuing the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023, applicable from April 1, 2023, as below: 

Ind AS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements 

The amendments require companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant 
accounting policies. Accounting policy information, together with other information, is material when it can 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions of primary users of general-purpose financial statements. 

Amendment to Ind AS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors 

The amendments will help entities to distinguish between accounting policies and accounting estimates. The 
definition of a change in accounting estimates has been replaced with a definition of accounting estimates. 
Under the new definition, accounting estimates are "monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject 
to measurement uncertainty". Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies require items in 
financial statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty. 

Amendment to Ind AS 12, Income Taxes 

The amendments clarify how companies account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and 
decommissioning obligations. The amendments narrowed the scope of the recognition exemption in 
paragraphs 15 and 24 of Ind AS 12 (recognition exemption) so that it no longer applies to transactions that, 
on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. 

The Holding Company is in the process of evaluating the impact on consolidated financial statements. 

(This space has been intentionally left blank) 
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4 Property. plant and equipment 

Leasehold 
Bridges, 

Buildings Culverts, 
improvements 

Bunders,etc. 

Gross block (at cost) 
As at April 1,2021 4,570.29 20.79 399.72 

Additions 167.75 9.69 

Adjustments [n:fer note (a) below] (3.84 (002 
As at March 31, 2022 4,734.20 20.77 409.41 
Additions (refer Dote (b) below) 169.51 4.90 1.36 
Disposals [refer note (c) below] (002 (0.02 -

As at March 31, 2023 4,903.69 25.65 410.77 

Accumulated depuciation 

As at April 1, 202] 1.584.15 16.50 153.96 

Charge for the year 199.15 3.97 14.15 

Adjustmeut (094 (0.01 
As at March 31, 2022 1,782.36 20.46 168.11 

Charge for the year 198,11 0.45 13.57 
Disposals - -

As at March 31, 2023 1,980.47 20.91 181.68 

Net block 
As at March 31, 2022 2,951.84 0.31 241.30 

As at March 31. 2023 2,923.22 4.74 229.09 

Electrical 
instaUations and 

etluipments 

1,108.68 
282.54 

(0.77 
1,390.45 

17.14 
(27.15 

1,380,44 

910JI2 

32.94 
(0.17 

943.59 

58.83 
(4.43 

997.99 

446.86 

382.45 

RoacJ.s..Other 
Runways, 

Plant and Office 
Computer and 

Taxiways & data processing 
than RCC 

Apron etc. 
Machinery equipments 

units 

245.62 2.309.74 2,507.12 13.43 114.87 
5.60 341.51 145.11 6.35 19.79 

(016 (004 (035 - (0.89 
251.06 2,651.21 2,651.88 19.78 133.77 

9.39 413.58 286.98 1.78 46.02 

- (80.71 (5.23 (21.14 
260.45 3,064,79 2,858.15 16.33 158,65 

218.39 1,041.09 1,691. 13 11.48 76.94 
2.90 106.76 178.03 1.14 15.25 

(0.05 (0.01 (005 - (025 
221.24 1,147.84 1,869.11 12.62 91.94 

3.00 129.33 195.88 2.07 16.06 

- - (57.82 (5.19 (20.76 
224.24 1,277.17 2,007.17 9.50 87.24 

29.82 I,S03.37 782.77 7.16 41.83 
36.21 1.787.62 850.98 6.83 71.42 

II. Includes reduction of cost due to reduction ofliability of vendors on final settlement amounting to Rs. Nil crore (March 31, 2022: 8.78 crores) pertaining to construction of various capital assets. 

b. During the year Input tax: credit pertaining to Goods and Service Tax on civil works has been capitalised amounting Rs. 176.87 crores (Refer note 44 (j» 
c. Tenllinal arrival building were decapitalized during the year for Rs 33.60 crures 

During the year certain high value assets written off due to physical verification amoWlting to Rs. 124.85 crores 
Assests sold liS SCfllP during the year ofRs. 6.61 crores 

Buildings include space given on operating lease: 
Gross block Rs. 227.25 crore (March 31, 2022: Rs. 222.27 crores), 
Depreciation charge fur the year Rs. 9.42 crore (March 31, 2022: Rs. 7.38 crores), 
Accumulated depreciation Rs. 98.19 crore (March 31, 2022: Rs. 75.04 crores) and 
Net book value Rs. 129,06 crore (March 31, 2022 : Rs'-147.23 crares) 

e. ReIer note 36 (1II) (A) for disclosure of contractual commitments for the acquisition of property. plant and equipment. 

Furniture 
Vehicles Total 

and Fitting! 

333.73 19.45 1l,643.44 
28.62 0.46 1,007.42 
(2.71) - (8.78-

359.64 19.91 12,642.08 

36.64 11.24 998.54 
(26.86) (393 (165.06' 
369,43 27.22 13,475.56 

214.24 9.78 5,928.48 

16.94 1.91 573.14 
(0.56 - (2.04' 

230.62 11.69 6,499.58 

2145 2.49 641.24 
(26771 (3.61 (118.58' 

225.29 10.57 7,022.24 

129.03 8.22 6,142.50 

144.13 16.65 6,453.31 

f. As per the Development right given under OMDA (Operntion, management and development agreement) entered with Airports Authority oflndia, the Holding Company has constructed all immovable properties included under the head Property, plant 
and equipment and accordingly, considering the said deve!opmentright, title deed of all immovable properties included under the head Property, plant and equipment are held in the name of Holdiug Company. 

g. The Holding Company has not camed out any revaluation of Property, plant and equipment dwi..ng current and previous year. 
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Delbi loteroational Airport Limited 
elN. U63033DLZ006PLC146936 
Notes to tbe consolidated financial statements (or the yeai'" ended March 31, 2U23 
(All amounts in Rupees Crore, except othenYise stated) 

5 Intangible assets 
Airport concessionaire rights'" 

Gross block <at cost) 
As at April 1,2021 
Additions 
As at March 31, 2022 

Additions 
Disposals 
As at March 31. 2023 

Accumulated amortisation 
As at April I, 2021 
Charge for the year 

As at March 31, 2022 

Charge for the year 
Disposals 
As at March 31, 2023 

Net Block 
As at March 31, 2022 

As at March 31, 2023 

490.52 

490.52 

490.52 

121.57 
8.21 

129.78 

8.21 

137.98 

360.74 

352.54 

Computer soltware Total 

46.90 537.42 
0.52 0.52 

47.42 537.94 

0.36 0.36 
(017) (017) 
47.61 538.13 

42.81 164.38 
1.16 9.37 

43.97 173.75 

1.10 9.31 
(017) (0.17) 
44.90 182.89 

3.45 364.19 

2.71 355.25 

* Airport concessionaire rights are recognized and amortized over the initial period of 30 years and extended period of 30 years of OMDA i.e. 60 

years. 

(fhis space has been intentionally left blank) 



Delhi International Airport Limited 
CIN. U630330L2006PLC146936 
Notes to the tonsolidated financial statements as at Manh 31. 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees Crore, except oth~rwise stated) 

6d {)fher Non Current Investments 

Carned at fair value throul!;h profit and Inss 
Easl Delhi Wa:!I~ Processing Company Privat..: LQni~d 
1,839 shares ofR... 10 ~aoh (March 31, 2022.7,839 shares ofR.. 10 eaoh) 

6.2 Current Investments 

Investments <arrid at fair v.alue throu!:h profit or 1058 
Investment in mutual funds 
Unquoted iovestments 

Invesco Mutual Fund 
[Nil units (March 31, 2022 209,347.97) ofRs, 1,000 each] 
Sundaram Money Fund Re.ilular~ Growth 
1203,167,728 uni~ (March 31,2022 : Nil) orRs 1,000 eaoh] 

HSBC Overnight Fund Direct - Gro\\1h 
[309,602,196 uni13 (March 31, 2022: Nil) ofRs. 1,000 each] 
L&T Ov~rnight Fund-G'ffi'lth 
[NJ! units (March 31, 2022: 228.703.58) ofR... 1,000 each] 
IClel Prudential Overnight Fund-Gmwth 
[414,042233 units (March 31, 2022 5,161,423,23) ofRs, 100 each J 
5081 Overnight Fnnd-Growlh 
[22,808,123 units (March 31, 2022 : 121,256 677) orRs 1.000 each 1 
Adityll Bid" Overnight Fund-Growlh 
[270.781.618 units (March 31, 2022 : 117,615,36) orRs 1,000 ~ach] 
UTI Overnight Fund-Grol11h 
[186,662.092 omls (March 31, 1022 88.24621) ofRs, 1,000 each] 

Axis Owmight Fund- Growth 
[687,038.697 units (March 31, 2022 : 388,586,24) ofRs 1,000 each] 
Tala Overnight Fund- Growth 
[195,958,525 uml5 (March 31, 2012 : 353,726 57) ofRs 1,000 each] 
KoLak Overnight fund 
[792,542202 units (March 31, 2022 353,728.63) ofRs 1,000 ~aoh] 

NIPPON Ovemight Fond-Direct-Growtil 
[NIL units (Marl'h 31, 2022 : 2,953,899.98) ofRs 100 each] 

Investments carried at amortised coB! 
Investment in Commercial Papers 

EeL Finan,e Limit.:d 
[5,140 (March 31, 2022: 2:,3(0) of 500.000 each] 
Edel Finence Company LimiLcd 
[4,940 (March 31, 2022: NIL) of500,OOO each] 
TUlle Technopla.,j Limited 
[NIL (March 31, 2022: 1,4(10) of500,nOO each] 
Edelweiss Rural and Corporate 5Oen;ccs Limitcd 
[2,50(1 (March 31, 2(122: NIL) ofson,Ooo ~ach] 
Edelweiss Asset RecOJlstnocoon Limited 
[NIL (March 31, 2022: 5,300) of5.00,OOO each] 

A~gregate book value of un quoted investment 

March 31. 2023 March Jl. 2022 

0,01 0,01 
0,01 0,01 

Marth 31, 2021 March 31, 2022 

22.49 

24,20 

3/i,32 

37,93 

50,04 59,15 

8.32 41.97 

32.83 13.52 

57.28 25.68 

81.45 43,67 

23.17 39.67 

94.77 40,11 

3371 

146,82 106,62 

236,79 

65.46 

122,26 

245.67 

914.25 775.65 

914,25 775.65 

(ThIs spac~ has b~en im~"monally I~ft blank) 



Delhi Inlernational Airport Limited 
CIN. U63033DL2006PLCI46936 
NOles 10 the consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2023 
(AU amounts in Rupees Crllfe except otherwise stated) 
7. Other financial assets 

Derivative Instrument carried at fair value throu&h OCI If 
Cash now hcdgc- Call spread <lption 

Unsecured, considered goud 

Carried at amortised cost 
Security d~posits 
Unsecured, considered good 

lnillrest accrued on fi.,<cd deposIts and others 
Non-trade rec.oivable [refer 1'Ote 44(b)] 
(n~t<lfprovision of doubtful debts &s 0.81 crores (March 31, 2022 &s. 0.16 crores)] 
Unbill~d rec~ivables 

Debentures for provident fund" 
Other recoverable from relaled panics (refer nOle 34(b)] 
Uruccurud, consid~red good 
Dnublful 

Less: provision for doubtful advanClOs 

Margin mnney deposit' (refer note 12) 
Total other linancialassets 

Non cnrn",t 
March 31, 2023 March 31,2022 

1.06S.92 

101.11 
107.11 

84.01 

0.31 
1.257.41 

723.01 

411.12 
411.12 

1130 
1.134.43 

Cnr .... nt 
March 31. 2023 March 31, 2022 

30S.47 3.23 
30S.41 3.23 

20.22 2101 
63.4S 3UO 

200.05 174.55 
0.11 

0.80 1.31 
48942 4119.42 
490.22 490.19 

(489.42) (489.42) 
0.80 137 

590.16 238.42 

#Fill3llcialll5scts at fair value reflect the change in liIi. value of call spread options 8lId coupon only hedge, designated ar.; casb flnw bedges to hedge the futurc cash outflow in usn <In senlement offorclgn exchange borrowings ofUSD 
1,022.60 million (&s 8,402.70 Crore) [March 31, 2022· usn 1,022.60 million (Rs 7.750.54 Cror.:)] 011 seruor secured foreign currency notes and enupan payment in usn on borrowing of usn 150 Million ( Marcb 31. 2022 ]50 

millioo) 

• Rs 0 31 Crore (Malcl! 31, 2022: Rs 0.30 Crore) .gainst License fee to Soulb Delhi Municipal Cnrpo .... tion. 

"Deocnlues were takell over by the company at the time of surrender of provident fund \rust 

8, Other am1s 

Capital advances 

Advances otber Iban capital advance 
Advance to suppliers 

Others 
Prepaid expenses 
Deposit with government authorities including paid under protest [refur note 36 (I) (a)1 
Other borrowing cost to the extent nol amortl""d 
Lease equitisation assets [refer note 30l] 
Good and scrvic.: tax refund receivable 
Balance with slatutory I government authontlcs (refer 1101" 44(jl] 

Total other assets (A+B+C) 

(A) 

18) 

(0 

(This space has b(en mlmllima/ly I~fl blank) 

Non ~nrrent 
March 31. 2023 Marcb 31. 20n 

471.35 612.27 
47135 612.27 

25.72 14.73 

5.25 6.14 
1,661.33 1,412.19 

754.18 
1,692.30 2.248.44 

2.l63.65 2.860.71 

Current 
March 31. 2<123 March 31. 20n 

131.92 119.11 
131.92 Jl9.17 

] 1.79 11.09 
10.12 10.12 
1.53 1.48 

0.08 
21.70 78.29 
45.14 101.06 

177.06 220.23 



Delhi Intemationlll Airpon Limited 
CIN. U63033DL2006PLCI46936 
Notes to Ihe consolidated financial statements as SIt Mar(h 31, 2023 
(Amount in Rupees Crore. unless otherwise slated) 

9. Inalme 111~ deferred tax 

Current meODie tHX 
Deferred tax: 
Deferred tax reclaSSIfied from Casb flow hedge reserve on account ofhedge settlement 
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 
Income tllX expense repor1ed in the <;consolidated statement of pl'ofit or loss 

Other comprehensive in<;come (OCIl 
Deferred tax related to items recognised in OCI during in the year: 

Re-me.asurement gains (losses) on defined benefit plans 
Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 
Ineome tax <;charged to OCI 

Re<;conciIiation oflllx fxpllllse lind the ac:counting profit multiplied by IDdia'$ domestic tax rate for March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022: 

Accounting (Ioss)/ profit before tax 
Share of profit of associates andjomt ventures (net) 
Loss before taxes aud share of profit of associates aod joint ventures (net) 

Tax al the applicable tax rate of 34.94% (March 31, 2022: 34.94%) 

Tempomty differences on which deferred tax is not recognised 
Pemlanent differences 
Adjustment of Lax relating to earher years 
Undistributed profit/loss of equity accounted investments 
Impact on expenses disallowed as per Income lax Act, 1961 
Other adjustmenlli 
Total tax npense 
Totllltax expense/(credlt) reported In the conslidated sLatement of profit and loss 

Deferred tax: 

Deferred tax liability 
Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 
On account of up front fees being amortized using effective intererst rate (FIR) method 
Fair value of investment m mutual fund 
Right-of-use assets 
Rent Equalization reserve 
Cash flow hedge resef'Je 
Deferred tax on undistributed profits 

Deferl'ed tax asset 
Unabsorbed depreciation and business loss 
Others disalloWllnces/adjustments 
Unrealised forex loss on borrowings 
Intangibles (Airpon Con<:ession rights) 
Lease liability 
Interest income credited in capital work in progress 
Non trade receivable deferment 
Unpaid liability of AAI revenue share 
Other borrowing cost to the extent not amortised 
Provision for diminution in wIue of non-current Investment 

Net deferred tax assets'" 

Balance sheet 
Man:h 31. 1023 March ]1, 2022 

(746.50) 
(36.00) 

(0.38) 
(3.77) 

(580.54) 
(23.85) 

(122.16) 
(1,513.20) 

1,232,67 
14,64 

47,09 
4,40 

117,09 

231.88 
32,90 
11.66 

1,692.33 

(783,39) 
(39.69) 
(034) 
(428) 

(514,44) 
(i 7,26) 

(106,10) 
(1,465.50) 

1,050,57 
15.83 

51.01 
3.67 

93.10 

201.48 
36.71 
18.03 

1,470.40 

March 31, 2023 
7.55 

7.55 

March 31, 2023 

March 11, 20ll 

(260,30) 
146.89 

(407.19) 

(142,29) 

64.34 
30.88 

7.55 
45.39 

1.68 

7.55 
7.55 

March 31. 2012 
10.46 

(0.37) 
(90,75) 
(80,66) 

March 31. 2022 

March 31. 2022 

76.03 
116.49 
(40.46) 

(1414) 

(1202) 

(66.91) 
LS6 

10.83 
(80.66) 
(80.66) 

Statement of pro lit or loss 
Man.h 31.2023 Mllr(h 31, 2012 

36.g9 68,20 
3.69 10,55 

(0.04) 0.97 
0.51 2,02 

(66.10) (i [3,26) 
(6.59) 75.10 

(16.06) (15.35) 
(47.70) 28.23 

182.09 268.31 
(Ll9) (154,06) 

(78.40) 
(H2) (3,93) 
0,73 (2,62) 

23,99 23,37 
(10,13) 

30,40 16,98 
(3,82) (IO.!3) 
(6,37) 18.03 

221.91 67.42 

90.75 
* The Holding Company has significant unabsorbed depreciation and busilless losses as per income tax laws Considering the Holding Company has been incurring losses. deferred tax asset has been recognised only 
to the extent of the available taxable tempomry differences 

Reeonciliations of net deferred tax liabilities 
Opening balance as at beginning of the year 
Deferred tax reclassified to consolidated statement of profit and loss on account ofhcdgc scttlement 
Deferred tax reclassified from consolidated cash flow hedge reserve on account of hedge settlement 
Tax income during the period recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss 
Tax expenses during the period recognised In OCI 
Movement during the year 

Closmg b",lance 

(A) 
(B) 
(C) 
(0) 

(A+B+C+D) 

March 31,1023 M",rth 11. 2012 

90.75 
(0.37) 
0.37 

(90.75) 

(90.75) 

The Holding Company offsets Lax assets and liabilities ifand only If It has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assell; and current tIlx liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same tax authority. 

(This space has been intentionally Ie/I blank) 



Delhi hltemational Airpor1 Limited 
CIN. U63033DU006PLC146936 
Notes to the consolidated finllJ1dal statements as at MalTh 31. 2023 
(AU amounts in Rupees Crort. except othe ..... ise stQted) 

10. Inventories 
(vailled at lower of cosl or net ~lIlb:able value) 
Stores and spares 

II. Tnlde ",c .. ivables 

Tl'1Ide receivables 
Related parties (refer note 34(b» 

"",," 
Bnak up fur security details: 
Trade receivables II" 

Stew-I'd, eoruidered good~· 
Unsecured, oonsidered gOOod (refer note 44(b)) 
Trade Receivables- credit Impaired 

Impairment Allowance (allowanu for credit loss) 
Less: Unsecured, considered good 

** Trade receIvable to the e>dent covered by securiTY deposits or bank guarantees are considered as Secured trade receivables 
# Payment is generaUy reeeived frOom cutomers in due eOourse as per agreed tcnns of contract with customers which usually ranges from 7-30 days 
"NOo trade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the HolcJmg company either severally or jointly with any other person 

Trllde receivllbles includes:-

DUfs from entities in .... hi~h the Holding Company's non-eututive dindor is II director 
GMR Power and urban infi'8 limited 
GMR Warora Energy Limited 
GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
GMR Aviation Private Limited 
GMR Airports Limited 
GMR Kamalanga Energy Limited 
GMR Air Cargo and Aerospace Engineering Limited 
GMR Airport DevelOopelS Limited 
GMR Hydenwad International Airport Limited 

Refer nOote 32(a)(ii) for ageing of Trade receivables 

12. Cuh and Cash Equivalellts Non-tlllTent 

Balances with Banks 
-On current accounts# 

-Deposits with. Ooriginal matunty of less than three mOonths 
Chequao; / drafts on hill1d 
Cash onhlltld 

Other hank balll1lces 
- MargUi money depOosit 
ArnOWlt disclosed WIder other non-current JinlltlciaJ assets (refer note 7) 

Tota) (A+B) 

Much.n,1023 

'Al 

0,31 
(OJ\) ,B, 

# Cash iIJld cash equivalents includes balance on current account with banks for Rs. 3 37 crore (March 31, 2022: Rs 0 30 crore) in r~ect of Marketing Fund 

Manh 31.1021 

0,30 
(0,30) 

At March 31, 2023, ille Holding COompany has aV81lable Its 454.40 crore (March 31, 2022: Rs 432.50 crore) ofundrav.n borrowing facilities fur future operating activities. 

(Thi.\' space has heen inUntional1y I~fl blank) 

MAfth 31. 2023 Mllfth 31. 2022 
5.53 7,23 

'.3 7.23 

CUlTent 
Mllrrh 31 2023 Mal'C'h 31. 2022 

2l.70 24.35 
55.10 134,63 
76.80 158.98 

35,00 93.08 
41.80 6590 

2.51 2,04 
79,31 161.02 

(2,51) (2.04) 
76,80 158.98 

CUlTent 
Man:h 31, 2023 Manh 31, 2021 

2.77 2.44 
4.38 4.32 
1.20 0.03 
0.19 009 
0.10 1.13 
4.14 1.77 
0.14 0.06 
0.02 

0.25 

Cnmnt 
Man:h 31, 1013 Mal'C'h 31,1022 

27,87 1643 
251.14 L265.87 

0,58 
0.08 0.05 

179.09 1.282,93 

179.09 1,281.93 



Delhi Intemational Airporl Limited 
CIN. U6J033DL2QO(iPLCI46916 
Notes to the (on~olidated linandal statements lIII at MaroCh 31, 2023 
(AJI amounts in Rupees Cro~, except otherwise stated) 

13. Blink hall\1lu$ other than cash and cash equivalents 

Balances with banks: 
- Deposits ",.jth original maturity of more than dlree monlhs but less than 12 months# 

It Deposits \VIlh bank includes Rs. 47.27 crore (March 31. 2022: Rs. 45.63 crore) in rer;pect of Marketing Fund 

Break up of finandals R.'l.'Itfs (llnied al amortised CDst Qnd at fair value throuGh profit and loss Qnd at fair value through OCI 

Y!naodal assets tarried at Rmor1i~d cost 
Investment in commercial papers (refer note 6.2) 
Trade receiV\l.b\es (refer note 11) 
Cash ElIId cash equivalents (refer note 12) 
Bank balance other then cash a.nd cash equivalents (refer note 13) 
Other financial assets (refer note 7) ,A, 
Y!nandal a&llets tarried at Fa:irvalue thruugh OCI 
Cash flow he.:ige- Call spread option (refer note 7) ,., 
Y!nandal aasers tarried at FRirvaluf thruugh profit or luss 
Investment in mutual funds (ref-er note 6.2) 
Investments in Equity Shares (refer note 6.1) 

To-tallinancial assets (A+B+C) 

(this space has been inlentiollally lefl blank) 

Cumot 
March31,2023 Man:h 31, 2022 

47.27 216.63 
47.27 216.63 

Non cnmot Cumot 
March 31, 2023 Manh 31, :W2:! March 31, 2023 Manh 31, 2022 

505.87 417.75 
76.80 158.98 

279.09 1,282.93 
47.27 216.63 

191.49 411.42 590.16 23842 
191.49 411.42 1,499.19 2,314.71 

1,065.92 723.01 

1,065.92 723.ot 

408.38 357.90 
0.01 0.01 
0.01 0.01 408.38 357.90 

1.257.42 I.U4.44 U07.S7 



Delhi International Airport Limitd 
CIN. U63<133DLlOO6PLCl46936 
Notes to the consolidated tinandal statements as at March 31, 2023 
(All amonnts in Rup ... s Crore. e"~ept otherwi5e stated) 

14. Eqnity Share Capital 

Authorised shares 
300 !:rore (March 31, 2022: 300 crore) equity shares ofR.<!. 10 each 

Issued, subscribed and fully paid_up sbares 

245 crorc (March 31. 2022: 245 crore) equity shares ofRl;.IO each fully paid up 

a. Reconciliation of share. outstanding at the beginning and end or tile repol"ling year 
Equity Shares 

At the beginning afu.e yoar 
Issued during th~ year 
Outstanding at the end afthe year 

b. TermEIRights Attaehed to equity Shares 

Mardi 31, 2023 
No. (in {rores) 

2" 

'" 

(Rs. in Crores) 
2,450 

2.450 

March 31. 2023 

3,000 

'"00 

2,450 

2150 

March 31. 2022 

3.000 
3.(100 

2,450 

2.450 

March 31, 2022 
No. (in crores) 

2" 

"" 

fRs. in Crore.) 
2,450 

2.450 

1hl Holding C"",pany has only IlIlC class a[ equity ShaNS having a par value af R.s.IO/- po, ""are E3ch hald~r afequiry shan: is entith:d ta one vOle pc .. share. The dividend pmpooed bv the Baam afD,r.;ctars is subject 
ta the approval afthe shrn:halders ia the ensuing Annual General Meeting 

In the event of liquid at ian afthe Halding Cwnpany 1IIc hn]ders of equity shares would be entitled 10 n:CeLVe remaining asscls afthe Hnlding Company, after distributioo afall preferenlial amounts. The dlstributian will be 
in prap(}ruan to 1IIe number ofeQuilY shares held by the sru,n:holders. Further the sharehaldcrs haw entered inla shanl halders agreement wh.crcby special righu have been assign.d ta the Ai'l'mts Anth(}rilyoflndia (A AI) 
in respect afappaintment of the namin"" dlreCl<!r in Ibe B()lIrd of D'n:ctal1i, approval afrescrved Sharchalders a:nd Board matters by affimlatiw vote afthe AAL Further irt Cll.<e if any sharehalder intends ta the transfcr 
il'; shares subject ta r.:s!,lctian of lock in periCld in Operation, Manag~~nenl and Develapmeat Agn:emenl between sh.:trchalders, ather shar.halde,s will have fir~ right of refusal in accardancc with 1IIc telms af the 
shan:haldcrs agreement. 

t. Shares held by holdingl inttrmediate hilidin; company and its snbsidiary 
Out afeqnity shares ,ssued by the Haiding Compauy, shares hold by il'; holding campany, tntelmcdiatc holdmg campany and its subsidiary are as belaw 

Name of Shar~holder 
GMR Airplll"ls Infradrudure Limited, the intermediate Holding Company 
lOO (March 31, 2022: 100) equi~ shan: ofRs,IO .""h fully paid up 

GMR Ene'1lY Limited, Subsidiary ofthe GMR Enterpr;"'" Private Limited (ultim.te Holding Company) 
100 (March 31, 2022: 100) equity shan: ofRs, 10 each fully paId up 

GMR Airports Limited ailing with Mr.Srinivas Bommklala 
I (March 31, 2022: I) equity 5har~ afR.<!.lO each fully paid up 

GMR Airports Limited along with Mr. Grandhi Kiran Kumar 
I (March 31. 2022: I) equity share afR.<!, 10 each fully paid up 

GMR Airports Limited, the holdins: company or DIAL 
156.80 "rore (March 31. 2022' 156,~0 crare) equily share afR.<!, 10 each full) paid up 

d. Debils of Shareholders IIl1lding more than S% of eqnity share.! in the Holding Company 
March 31, 2023 

March 31, 2023 Mauh 31, 2022 

0,00 0.00 

0,00 0,00 

0,00 0.00 

0,00 0.00 

1,568 1,568 

March 31, 2022 

Numbers % holding in ClaSl Numbers % Holding in CI8ss 

Equity shares ofRs. 10 each fully paid 
Airpaf\.o; Authority af Judia 
GMR Ai!p"rts Limiteod 
Fl1Lp<lIT AG Fl1Lnkfurt Ailpart Servi.;es Warldwidc 

637,0()(),OOO 
1,567,999,798 

245,000,000 
2,449.999,798 

26% 
64% 
10% 

100% 

637,000,000 
1,567.999,798 

245.000.000 
2.449,999,798 

As pcr rccords afthe Halding Company including il,s register of share haldcrs/m~m""N and Cl!her declaratioas re",eive"", frOlln share holders regarding beneficial inten:sl, lb. abow share holding represents legal and 
beneficial awncrship of.manls as at the balan.;e sh~et d"'~. 
TI,e Halding Campamy has nat issued any wnus slLarcs nar has there been an)' buy_back afsha~~s in cumnt reporting year and in last 5 years in"n~diately pn:eeo:ding the curnut rcparting year 

Refer nole 32 (b) far PralUoler's sharcholdinS. 

IS. Other Equity 

26% 
64% 
10% 

100°/. 

March 31. 2023 March 31, 2022 
Ret.ined earnings" 
Opening balance 
(Loss)/pmfit for the ~car 
Re-mea'lurement lass an defined benefit plalls 

Closing balance 

Sh8re of OCI of a""ociates and joint ventures 
Balance as pcr last financial statements 
Current year share OCI 
Closing balance 

A 

273,50 116.93 
(267,85) 156.69 

(1,82) !O.l2) 
3,83 273,50 

(036) (0,22) 
(0.15) (0.14) 
(051) (0,35) 

TOlal retQined earnings 3.32 273.14 (A+B)====:2E:====:!jj~ 
Other items of Comprehensive Incllme 
Cash flow hedge reserve' 
Opening balance 
Reclassified to cansalidated slat<:ment afprofit and Joos CQ\ aecaunl afhedgc senlemcnt 
Less:- De£em,d lax n:classified ta t<l!lsolidated statement ofprnfit and IClSs on account oflLedge settlement 
Net movement during the year 
Closing Balan~e 

Total (A+B+C) 

"R~lained ~"l"uings arc profits/ (lasses) that the GmOJp has earned/incnn'cd till date less utilzatian far dividend <lr other distribution o,transaction with shareh?lders 

c 

(72 9g) 127,29 
(1.05) 
(O,n) 

(309,91) (19g,85) 
(382.8Q) (72,98) 

(379.57) 200.16 

* The Holding Company had entered inta "call spread aptian" w,th variaus banks for hedging the .. payment of6.125% Scniar secured nales (2026) ofUSD 522,60 million BrLd 6 45% Seniar secured nmes (2029) ofUSD 
500 millian which are rcpa)1lblc in Octabcr 2026 and June 2029 rcsp~cti\·dy The Halding Campany has adapted Cash flow Iwdg~ accounting far Call sp .. ad aptians:u per Ind AS 109. Accordingly, the elfectiv~ portion 
<f gain a' loss an the hedging instruments is rucagnised in Other Comprehensive Incame in the CB.'ih flo\\' hedge re""""" while (lJI}' incffeClin portion is recognised tmmcdiately in lbe con5alida~d sliItel!ll:nt of profit and 
lrus ..-~"~~ 
#Dunng the preV1<lUs ;car ,:h(Hnldmg Company had cancdledhmtured Call spread Opt'o", an pnnelpal afUSD 288 75 mdhan .nd Call spread Opt,an. an mterest lIabllLl) for full rcptf:(~,St.Q1nU 18Q.;288 75 
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D"", ]nlunali<>.,.1 Aj'l'~rl Limilcd 
CIN. UU033DUOO6PLCl46936 
Nol •• 10 Ihe con.olldalod nnandol .' .. I< .... nl> u. a' M .. rch ll. 2023 
(All amoun .. 'n R.i.ru. Crn .... ...,.,pt oU.e .... i,. ~Ial"') 
16. Borrml"inlJ 

Secll",d' 
(I)BOIId. 

6 125% (2(126) "oiol" secured IOreil!" cur"mo), pote, (Note-!) 
6.45% (2029) ... mul" ,.cured I<.r.,i'" cun'cncy noM (Noto_2) 

(il) Deben"' .... 
10 964% (202S) Non ConvertIble DcbentUIe, (NCO) 
(2027) Neon Con\'ertible Delx",ture. 

N",,_Cur"'llt 

March ll, 21123 Ma,..,h 31, 20U 

4.27969 ;,94419 
4.1:l5.74 '\,81987 

3.21083 '.I96.S0 
987.92 

116' .... 18 10 !Hi0.76 

a (\ 125% Sen,,,, ScoUJ<d F",elgll Curroney Nole, (NoI ... l) nfUSD 520 8~ m,llion (Maroh ,I. 2022 ]JSD 520.42 m,3hnn). I'lmo'l"'l nU!'I.nd",~ of {JSD 522 60 m,Il"", (March ~l. 20n USb 522 60 m,lhon) from Inlernalion.l c'p,1lI1 market 
,""yJll~. fixed mt,,:ro,t '",. of6 125% p. pi .. , .ppl,e.hle withhold,nS !.~ Tho No-'o_1 oro duo for Tcpaymont III Ootob., 20U; Tho," ,,<>t .. ",0 ,"",urod b)' (",t fonk 1"'''1',",u ch.r~o "".11 tho futuTe revenue" roe<l\'obks, Tm,1 and Ret"nhon 
.000,lnt .• nv o,hor "".""', o!hor bonk ."""nnl, and i",nran"" plo_d, <.>f'l1e Holdin~ Con,p.nr .nd .11 tho fi~hl', till~" inlorest'. p<rm\!, on ''''poot of ,h. prolect do<"menlS OS d.t .. lod in the londer, aJl,loemonl<, 10 tho ..:tenl permi"ibl" tlnJ"r 
b, 6.45% Senior Seowed Foroign ClI"onO)' N"t., (Note-2) ~rUSD 501,;9 mllh~n (Mar.h ,1, 2022.USb 501 98million), prinOlpal out.landing QrllSD 51){) m,ll",n (Mareh 31, 2022: USD SOOmilHon1 from Intern'lional CIIpilol marke! earrying' 
li.o:J in'c~~'t ml< of645% p.a. plu, .pplieoblo wiOlhold",g t.x The NOle-2 O'e duo for ,.el"'y,nenl in June 2029 Proceed., from Ihe,e nole, ,h.1l bo ut,ltzo:J lor lin.no,ng ofPh.",lA .xl"'n,ion proj<OL The'. 1\<)1<'",0 ""cwed IN first rank I"'ri-
1"'"'" "horgo on ull the lulor" r'''''nue,. ,"""w,bl~ •. T,.usl .nd R<1Cm,OII ",oount, ~ny othel" re'erW. olh<r h:mk o<:<oun'" und ",'m,nce pro",",d, of th< Holding Company .nd 011 tllO ril'hts, till.,. int<1"o"'. p<1n,it. in "e'pect of the pro"d 
<locurn""I,., dot"iled in til. loud"," O!!leonl."I •. to the e~t.nl pernl""ble undor OMDA 

c (11 The Holdmg Companyh.d ",uodNon-Converl,ble Debent", •• (NeDs) of R. 3,257 10 orore on M.roh ,0. 2021 NCD< wore ,ssued on an upfront d""oun' of 1.:>,;% Prooecd, from NCD, W<1"" ulIhzod 10 rcpay Ihe ""h,o 2022 nole, and f~r 

rm.n,in~ ofPh.",,'A o~p"n.ioll pr~'''''t 

,i) 10,%4% Non-Con"ertiblo Der..nluru. of R.! 1,21083 cr",e (M"a,.ch 31. 2022: 3.196.50), prinoil"'l on"'tanding of R..o J,257 ]{I orore (lIAoTch ;1, 2022' 3.257 ID) i"uo:J t" Chmun Llmited (" Foreign PurUol", Invoslor reBi"o",d \\;th SEBII 
O<Ort'ym~" Ii,c'<l inl.1'." "Ie of]{l %4% P' I"'yahle ,emi-.)tnual1v (plu. ,pl'lic.bk ,,,lhl,,,lding I'~) The NCb"," duo 1m rCl"'ym.nt in 0010"'" 2025, NCD, .. e ,eou,«1 by lirst ,onk pori-p'''u dwrge ,m.lI the fUl\ll'c "" .... n"" •. receiVable" 
"f,u'l .nd Retenti"n .oc~unl. an)' "'her re,,,,w. ,rth~r bank accounl< a"d )",urance pr=d, oflhe Holdin~ Comf'lll1}' .nd.lI tile n~h!>. 11110,. intere,I,. pCfmjl, In ,e'p"d of the I'r~,ec! d""um<l1t, a, de""led ,n the lender.' 'greemont,. to 'he 

d Du"ns the year ended M'1',h J I, 2023, thellnldin~ Comp.ny has i""cd LISled Non-Collvertlblo Debentllr., (NCO,) ("" ...... ",""., per Coml"'llIe' A~!) ofR. ],000 O<Or., "",,IT)'in~ fixed '"terest ,ale of9 52% p.R pavablo m<mlhly f~, rn,l;r, 
mOllth. and 9 98% p.a ]»yabl" monthly lhero.ft<I" till m.tuoity NCO. w .... 1loUetl on J,,"" 22, 2022 by tho HolJ,ng C"'npany to eli~ibl¢ Q""lifiod ImlilutiOlla] Buyers (QlB") witl, p"noipal malurity due ,n Jun. 22, 2027 P,oco<d, lioO} NCD. 

'hall t", ulih"ed I", 1"'11 f,".n~ing of Ph"e3A ex...,n.iun pn>j<el NCO. me =Uled by 111.<1 fOnk P"'l'assu oharso on .11 tho fuluI"e 1OV<l1""" rc"ei ... bb, "[,U,I "nd Rdenllon '"""'ml, OUI' uthe) ,e,"rve, oihe, bonk. oe'ount, ""d m"",'." .. 
p,oc"".u Qfthe Holdong Dlmpon}' ond.lI the rIghts. litle., intere'I', permil. III l"e,poc( ufU,. p,o,i<c( .!00l1menlS" J<ta,letl in tholend,~. "groemenl" lothe ,--",Ienl permi"ibl. undo) Op<rnti<m M."agerncnl Devel"l'm<nl AI!I"""""( (OMDA) . 

• Wi!h rO'"(loct to Noto_1. Ncle_2 .nd NCb 000"". the H>lding Coml'o"y ha, to 1<.ll"wF"ed Charge CovcraseRatlo.s proVldcd undar Ihe Indenl1lJ"e fm .ny add,lional 'ndebledne" und olh" hmil!!I,,,nS The Holdong Comp,ny lo., cOlllplioJ 'Vllh 
,10< rm~ne,ul e<,''''n.,,', pre,cnbed In th~ fin.noln~ <locumc",'" and the Indenlure 

r Subsequ.,,1 to the Y'" endoJ Morel, '11, 2023,!h~ HoIJin~ Compony has issued t,st.J NOII-c.:m'~rtJble Dehenrure, (NCD,! (un'<cnred ns P'" Comp"",e, ht onJ SEBI (LODR) Regul~lion', 2015) orR, l,200 erQre, c~'rylng lix.J in'e,e" 1'.le 

of9 75% p .• , 1"'~'~~le qunrterly fur fll''' 61J month, lind """Jl<lll re..,1 rote ,,,' he]'n"" 24 m,,,,th, .ubjo"" to floor of I,SUo/, and O<Op ~f5 50% """I" tho R.p<> rate.t tho,.><1. doto. a, pe.r the pro""on' ofD<~ontllr" Tro.« D<od NCD, """ •• Jlol1<d on 
Arn] );1, ~on bj-' !he B<Mmg C'>mp~ny '" ~ltl!,\ll~ Q\t~hfied Instilutioml Buy". (QI6"l tVl!h pri"Clp~1 m~tuIlty ~~e (In Ap!Jl]:I, 20:10 
Proc<ed, from bolh NCO. ( h'led in BSE) 'hall be- utihz«l f'" parI fiMnelll~ of Pha..,3A ""pan"on pro,!«1 NCD •• re ,ecured (un",ou,«l os per Dlml"'lllcs Ael and SEBI (LObR) Re.l!u]allon" 2(15) by firsl mnk I"'''-I'''ssu charge on all Ihe 
future re""nue,. f~cei"abl.,. Tru,t and R,,'entton ao<ounl, any othor ,"..,r\"c. olh« hank """ount. ,nd insur.nce p,oceed, ~f tho Holdin~ ComJ>llllY and .llth< "sht,. li!le,. in!<t""I'.l""m,l, in TO.""ct ofth. pro)«t doc"",ent, n, d<todod 111 the 
l""dor. '!!'''''Illenl., to the exl",,! permlS,ible unde,. Operation Man.~em<nl Devdopmen' Agreement (OMDA) 

g Dur,ng Ihe ",e,'lOu, ye ... m April 2011 .nd J.nuary 2022 U,e Holdmg C<>mp.ny hold potd USD 10542 rrulilon (It. 77074 "ore) as Jl'" tendef ac,,<,pta,,'e .nd USD 181 'l3 (R, 1.369 87 Crore) '.'p.ouwly 10 ""lStlng USD 28S 75 milhan 
bonJboldor., out ofptoceod.o ofNCD 

h The obo". m<rllion.d oo"o"'nl') h.' .... been mih.od., p<r tho plJrpo<c they have boo" t.ken 

Chau 0' inliabilitie, aTi,in from finonoin oe",illo,:-

Parti<ul.on 

A. al Mat"<h 31, 21122 
Cosh 110w, 

Fm.nceoo.<! 

Fom"n exchon~e nuotu.llon 
Alld" ion<lnlOJuk"li"n ,n le",o, 
Chon e III F'''I" ,~Iue' 

At al Maroh J] lOU 

17. Dthor FIn.onelal Li"hllltt .. 

Olher Onaud,,1 Uahlll.i .. lIt amortl ... d cuI 
S .... urily DcI"'Slts Irom Indo COnce,,,,,,,a,,e,_ others 

S .... w,(y Del"'sit. from comrnerci.ll"0port;i d"'~1"1"''' 
Earn ... m""ey depo,il, 
Cop" .. l CreJ,~",. 
R ....... nttonmotl"Y 
Annu.1 fee. [>O)'obk (oAAl [rel.r n{~e 34(h)] 

Int.re.t aCCl"lled hut n<>1 due on borro",ng' 
Employee benefil expen,es I"'yoblo 
ToM other fin~n.ialllabl1llie. at .m~.,b.d ~o,1 

18. Do,,,,",,d R~v ... u. 

Dl:f<rred mcomo On fin.neial ],ab,hh., ca",ed al .mortlzed 0"" (rder no(e. below) 
tTne.rno:J r<von.,< (refer noto b below) 

(ajDe1o"ed inoome on Iinonoi~III>d'ilitl .. urri.d "I "mn.I.,.d c~st 

Openin)/. 
D<fe, red during Ihe ye,1' 

Re1eoso:J to th~ ''''trrn.<nt ufpr<Jfil "nd 10," 
Clo.lng 

(b) Unur".d .", .. nUe 

Openmg 
Def< .... d dwinS I"" yea" 
Rclc"o:J 10 Ih~ ".Iement of prof" and 1o," 
CIo.in~ 

Nolo: 

Borrowings 

10,982.76 
9780U 

"" 653 2S 

n~14.IB 

Info,..,ot ,,~",ed "" 
bOTT01l"ingo 

lJ7.I>l 
(1,0(1972) 

1.01599 

14.40 
(613) 

134 

A ... " hdd tnhodg. Inng ler", 

hO"""'ings 
Jh,r!vatk .. ibot." .... bl- C •• h fill .. 

hedge 

723.01 
(260,25) 

260,6? 

342,49 
I,065.!/2 

NOh c..rrenl c..rrent 
Ma .. h ll. 2023 MIl .... h 31 2022 MIl .... h ll. 2023 March H, 2022 

44850 405 12 
18587 18244 

715 4.51 
66357 57658 

1.30s..0~ 11/ili.6$ 

NonCu~ ... nt 
Marth 31, 2023 Morch 31, 2022 

2,126,31 
4,1'\ 

2.130.44 

2,206 31 
4.10 

2,210.41 

25665 24914 

'" 1.05 
816,28 725,81 
140 '18 11662 

~4190 ~37 (" 

2(.0 4,51 
1 ~1il.10 1434.76 

=~, 

MolTh 31, 2023 Ma...,h 31, 2021 
9974 1009., 
90,% 91 II 

1!lll.70 1~2.04 

M • ...,h 31. 20!l March 31, 20%2 
2,~07 24 1.8416., 

1273 57>42 
(ll] 921 ~107 811 
2.!2~,O5 1.MI7.24 

Mllteh 11 20ll M .. ...,h 1I, 2022 
9521 9,14 

58027 9095(, 
(S80 ~91 181~ 491 

95.09 95.21 

•. In!ere'l tree ,e,uril,. J"I",,,I rece,ve'll ITom ce,""oo""""irc and oonunc-rcinl p""pe,tv d"vd"p<.~s (!h,1 .'0 ,e'Undabl, in c.m 01, complche,." of,t, t.,m) oro ca""oJ a( .morti .. J «." D,IT."enoe belw,on Iho "mo"ti,oJ vol"" "nd tH,n,nclion 
1'.1". "fth< ,eounly dep,,,,I, r""cll'Cd h., been rocogn"od., def~n~d rewnue 

b U"e,mo:J ,ewnUe.S al MarGh ,I, 20B rOJll'~,cn" ·",.nlnel hab,],h •• ' due '" adop"~1l ofmod'fiod rClrosp"C',."" app,o.oh "flr.n.,m"" in aOC<lrJane<: ""h Ind AS II) 



~Ihllhl.th.tlonal AlrpDr1 Umlt<d 
CIN, U6JOJ3DLlOIMiPLC146~36 
NDI., 10 tho ~"1I"'Dlid.ol~d fjnan~ial "~I.bl.n" u al Maroh 31, 2U23 
(All .m" .... " in Run ••• Cr."', u"'pl olh .. .,.i"" ,tated) 

Ad"floes ti"m ""mUle,c,"1 prop.,'" dC"ol"""" 
Ad"oJl"" f,..,m cu,lom., 
Mo,kclrn~ fund h.blilly 
T"~ deducted at ,ou,eelTax Colle<lodat source poyahl< 
Good, and SO"",. l'x payable 
Olh"" ,latulo[V due., 
Olh", li,h,hl". 

NQto., 

Non egnenl Cur",,,1 
MM",h 31, 21123 March 31. 21122 Monh 31, 2013 March 31, 2022 

185.29 
() IG 

177 73 
lUG 

1S.~,4S 177.l1li 

7~ 7fj .13.73 
49.64 .11 99 
4>74 40M 
8426 5074 
, .. ". 3,49 2,22 

32.88 ;079 
196.65 192.28 

) Ad,,,,,,,,,,, Jj"",comme,,,,,,1 p"'p"nv ,",,'dol'''''' and AIJ\,.nco, ~om custome" ,."' MofOh 31. 2(\2.1 repr'"",n!' 'conl,acl h,h,li11'" due!o adoplion ~fmodilied 'Ol'''pcO!'''o ,ppro,ch or~an"non in """"d'n,,, wi!h Ind AS 115 
2 Appl;'ing the p,"cti",,1 expWi.nt a, S,V"" lJl Ind AS 115, lite Holding Compony I"" nol disclQ.."j tho romuining p..-fOIl"""ce obhso!;on rcllll.d Ji,cio,ule, [0" "ontract, wh",e!he cc'VCnue f<C<)j!nlZed """«pond, dil«tly wiU, ~l. ",,1,," 10 
tire cu,t"",e" Oflh, onlili' p,,,fo:rmancc romplel.d to doto, lvpically !hose C<lnU'.ct. whem in\'Oicmg" on lint. "nd malerial hom 
3 Conlr.elll.brli~ •• include lTOn,.~t'on prr«. olher thon tho,e meettng the ""oEu",,,,, onton. ment1<>ncd aoo"e. TClaled Ii) porformanoe obliS"I,,,,, te> be •• t"fiod w,thin ono ...... [0' R, 12840 oror., (Marcil 31. 2021 R, 65 72 ~r",e.) and 
oft.r one yea .. fo, It. 18545 eTO,., (March :\1. 2022 RI 177 N9 or",e,) 

20. Cllrrent Dorr_ng. 

Short Telm L~an. 
from hanKs ("cured)' 

Matdo 31 2013 Mardo 31, 2022 

22,00 
22,00 

• Th" HolJ,ng COlnp.n)" h"' "voiled W",klng capll.1 f"~ilily from ICICr bonk, wh,eh i. p,yahle betwe.n ]2(1!o ISO u.y, from lhe 0010> of<.lr<hUT'emenl, in ,;ngle mSlolimenl und e.ni«i On int.,e,IIO!e of 7.5% p<J' ~nnum (MOTeh 31, 2022 
R. 2Zcn"o,), The cur,,""! working capll.l f.ciltty" ",lid lill Mel' 211. 20n, The wmkiog O.pilollacllily" ,eour'cd wrtlr 
(t)A fi,,! r.nkio!,porr p."u clt",~d ..... ~nm.m oroll ""urono< pobele,. mnt,actor,' gtlll,.nlee, and bquld.t",j damages!o the m.x'mum ."ont permiSSIble ",,<blh. OMDA ond the E,c,-o\V Accounl Aweelnent. 
(ll) A fitst ranking pan P""U c"",~e/."isnmcnl of at! the "girt,: lItle •. pcrrnil •. 'prJo\'al. ond Inleto,(, of tho Borro,,"e, In, !o and m '«p.Ol of lbo Pr~leol Oo.:umonl,. m .cc",d~nee ,,"h.nd l~ 1Iw m"~'mum ext.nt pennltle<i under the 
OMDA and the E,crow Aeoo~nl A(u.emcnl; 
(iii) A firs! '''nkmg po" pe"'" ehaT~eon all!h~ '."'n,," I,e""wable, oftho B",.01"'" (c""clud",!, d"e. 10 tho Aulhority) S\l~jocl!O tire p'~'ision' of til. E,.tow A""<lllnl A~'''''nle''l alld lheOMDA 

21. T .... d. payablt. 

To!"1 oUl't"n<.lin~ due, ofmlero .morpriso. ami small ent"",,,, •. ' 
To!"1 ~ul,t'u':ling due, ofcreJlt",. olh", lhan m;c,-o enterp""o, and "",11 onlerrl'i,e, 

"Rdal.d pOll,.. [101-"- nolo> J4{hll 
-Othor.' 

Matdo31,.20H 

3602 

18128 
22874 
.... '.04 

Ma.~h 3\, 2012 

17,4:\ 

]474 
2'14,47 
J06,6rj 

'Inch.Jes blll< l'.yobloofRs 0,]] erO,. (Moroh .11, 2022 Rs 8 56 ",ore) lo",.,d, good' and ,.,"'ee" whl"h .,. m,tt.llj' paid ~ hank' m.~le thoro i' no,,,,,,,,,,-,,, on !h. Company 

The prine,p.l amount and lh~ onto,.,. duo (ho,,,,," fem.mrn~ un!"',d 10 
onY'''ppli", 

- Prrnc,palan,ounl 
-Int.,,",t tI',"e"n 

Th~ a"'"Un! "r"''''r~ pOld by !he bUVe, in telms o[,octiun 16, ,I,mg Witll tl,o um01.l.llt' ofth~ p"jmonl mado to!h~ ,uppher hoj·ond!h. apl"'mtod da)' 
The ,mount "rmtor"l dt'" and payable I'D' 1I,e pen,\d of ddoy ,n rruJl;"ng r.yment (whloh h.ve boon p.o,d bUI beyond the appomted day dUfln~ IheyeaT; bul 
wrlhollladdmJ:llhe tlIl .... llIp<C'ficd und., thi' Aot 

Tho ,moUnl "ffm1h,.,- inl,.,-.. t ,om"m,nl!. due .nd pa!-,abk~wn tn Ihe ,""<ceding years, unul.uch dal~ ",hon!he Inl,,,,'l du", obow m •• elually p"d lothe 
,,,,,,11 inve,"'l 

Tel'ms "nd conJil,"", "fthe .1.,,,, fi"'lnci.lli.bili~e, 
Trode p.yabl., .,0 "on-mte,e" bc',mg and a,o,,(lfm.ny ,.1l]ed on 10..(,0 day Lorm' 
Rel.led 1',,,1><, ""y.blc Ill. payable on domand once thc'Y ~Cl dl'" 
p", o"planal,onson Ihe Holdln~ Campeny', c,od" mk ItUlnOsemont ",<>CC""", ,erer 10 NOl, 40 

JU.fo, no'" 321.)(iil) fo, .geing "fT,.d< l"'y.hl~' 

Pn ....... n rot .IIIJI",-~e b.".lil, 
P,o';"on f<>r 100", bcndil' [,of., nolo U(.)] 
Pro,i.,on f'" gmtutty [rof .. , Ml~ ,5(c)J 
l',oviSlon for ,up .. '.nn"OIion 

Olhon 

Break up o(rlllanoiolliabUlIi." 

Fllland.1 lI.bilily corned at ~martl.ed <D.I 
Do,w\\1ng. (,,:fo, nolo 16) 
Currenl bOlro"';ng< (' ej" "ote 20) 
TI',," po}'ahl., (,oj", "ole 21) 
Lea"" li,bihtt~' [rotc, note 44(1)J 
OIhe, fin.nclal h.b,litt<s (rol-', nol' 17) 

(1'1", sp~ce ",,' bem "'lml'Q"~11y l~fI blank) 

Ma.~h 31, 21123 M.r~h 31, 1022 

]602 :17.4, 

Non Current Current 
Ma".,h JI 21123 Mareh 31 !0Z2 Mat<h 31 2023 M~reh 31 1021 

iIZ.52 1292 
;00 (, 59 

033 11.34 

1197, 11971 
3.06 6.~~ 152.M l~U~ 

Non CuM'<:"1 Cu .... ,,' 
Maroh3l21123 M ... ohlI2022 M ... hl11023 Mardo312022 

12,61418 IO,%(l76 
22 O~ 

44604 J06(>4 

859 10,5] ,0. :;.89 

lJ051J9 U6H5 156110 IA'476 

13927.86 t2,13U2 2011.1} 1,767.29 



Delhi InterMtional Airport Limited 
CIN. U630lJDL2006PLCt469J6 
Notes to the consolidated finandal statements as at March Jl, 20U 
(All amounts in Rupees Crore, except otherwise stated) 

23. Re ... enue From Operations 

Revenue from contract with customers Irefer note 44{mlJ 
Aeronauti.eal (A) 
Non - Aeronautical 

Duty free 
Retail 
Advertisement 
Food and Beverages 
Cargo 
Ground Handling 
Parking 
Land and Space - Rentals 
Others 

Totfll Non -Aeronllutical (B) 

Other operating revenue 
Revenue from commerCIal property development (C) 

TOTAL (A+B+C) 

24. Other income 

Interest income on linllncial asset carried at amortised CO/It 
Bank deposill! and others 
Security deposits given 

Other non-operllting income 
Gain on sale of financial asset carried at faIr value through profit and loss 

Current investments-Mutual fund 
Fajr value gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss· 
Inlerest income on financial asset carried at amortised cost 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 
Profit on relinqushment of assell! rights 
Miscellaneow. income 

~ Fair value gain on financial instrument at fair value through profit and loss relates to current investment in mutual funds 

25. Employee Benefits Expense 

Salaries, wages and bonus 
Contribution to provident and other funds 
Gratuity expenses [refer note 35{c)] 
Staff welfare expenses 

26. Depreciation and IImorti:l:lltion expense 

DepreCIation on property, plant and equipment (refer note 4) 
Amortiution of intangible as.<lets (refer note 5) 
Depreciation on Right to use the Asset [refer note 44(1)] 

27. FinAnce Costs 

Interest on borrowings 
Call spread op110n premium 
Interest expenses on financial liablhty carried at amortised cos! 
Other interest 
Other borrowing costs 

-Bank charges 
-Other cost 

Redemption premium on borrowmgs 

(This space has beell inleilliunally left hlank) 

MarchJl, l02l March ll, 2022 

937.63 627.40 

507.22 211.75 
179.17 92.67 
166,53 95.28 
213,08 110.13 
336,10 331.43 
161.12 94.62 
73.08 34.77 

537.20 49703 
303,75 190.30 

2,477.25 1,657.98 

575.09 628,69 

3.989.97 2,914.07 

March 31, 20U MarchJl,1022 

39.78 63.58 
0,71 1.01 

19.21 23.03 
1,09 0.98 
6,50 
0.36 

59.57 
2,04 4,67 

129.27 9J.Z7 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

122.20 203.43 
16.00 13.58 
2.73 2,90 

11,05 8.54 
251.98 :U8.45 

March31,2023 Mllrch ll,20:U 

641,24 573.14 
9.31 9.37 
524 5,78 

655.79 588.29 

March 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

575.17 557.48 
152.31 18199 
75,73 73.35 
5.06 41.72 

0.38 ],71 
].67 4,29 

1.94 
810.32 862.48 
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28. Other expenses 

Utility expenses 
Repairs and maintenance 

Plant and machinery 
Buildings 
IT System~ 
Olhers 

Manpower hire charges 
Airport Operator fees 
Security related expenses 
Insurance 
Consumables 
Professional and consultancy expenses 
ProvisIOn against advance to AAI paid under protest [refer note 36(D(h) and (i)] 

Travelling and conveyance 
Rates and taxes 
Rent (including lease rentals) 
Advertising and sales promotion 
Communication costs 
Printing and stationery 
Directoflj' sitting fees 
Payment to auditors 
Provision for doubtful debts! bad debts written off 
Non current Investments written off 
Exchange difference (net) 
Corporate cost allocation 
Collection charges (net) 
Donatiorul 
CSR expenditure (refer note A below) 
Property, plant and equipment written off 
Loss on discard of Capital work in progress and Property, plant and equipment 
Expenses of commercial property development 
Miscellaneous expenses 

A. Debiils ofeSR expenditure: 

a) Gross amount required to be spent by the Holding Company during the 

b) Amount spent during the year ended: 

i) Construction/acquisition ohny asset 
ii) On purposes other than (i) above* 

c) Amount spent during the year ended: 

i) Construction/acquisition of any asset 
ii) On purposes other than (i) above* 

Yet to be paid in c~h 

Yet to be paid in cash 

MlIrch 31, 2023 March 31, 2022 

7650 44.42 

1l7.61 107.23 
4110 30.57 
34,26 39.95 
2271 21.02 

145.51 139,55 
6467 50,]4 
20,88 23.42 
21.42 19.83 
24,90 27.99 

104,45 67,96 
43,21 

45.53 35,93 
19,57 1441 
5.60 259 

15.64 10,80 
1.08 375 
1.21 1.60 
0.24 0,20 
l.08 0,73 
0.56 029 

0.10 
0.75 1.85 

68.33 6632 
7.18 5,63 
0.38 0.81 
4.42 3.67 

12.50 
1.60 

32.84 9.11 
5.61 4.54 

896.53 779.22 

March 31, 1023 March 31, 2022 

March 31, 1013 
In cash Total 

4,42 4.42 

March 31, 2011 
In cash Total 

3.67 3.67 

• Includes Rs } 00 crores (March 3 I, 2022 Rs 1,77 crores) contnbutlon to GMR Varalabmi Foundation for various CSR achvihes as approved by CSR commIttee [refer note 34(a) and 

29, Exceptional items 

Reversal oflease revenue (net ofMAF) (Refer note 44(k) and 44(n)} 
Interest receivable written off (Refer note 44 (b) 
Provision for impairment in value Clfnon-<:urrent investment [Refer Note 36 (lII)(B)(viii)) 

(fhis space has ber!/! intentionally I~(I blank) 

March 31, 2023 

54,14 

54.14 

March '31, 2011 

325.16 
19.90 
51.60 

396.66 
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30. Components orOCI 
The disaggregation of changes to oel hy each type of reserve In equity is sho'Wtl below: 

Cash Flow Hedge Reserve (net) 
Less: reclassified to consolidated statement of profit and loss 

31. Earnings Per Share (EPS) 
The following reflects the (loss)1 profit and share data used in the basic and diluted EPS computatIOns 

(Loss)! profit attributable to equity holders oflhe Holdmg Company 
Weighted average number of equity shares used for Computing Earmng Per Share (Basic and Diluted) 

Earning per share (Basic) (Rs) 
Earning per share (Diluted) (R5) 

Face value per sbare (Rs) 

(Ibis space has been jnlenlionally le}i blank) 

March 31, 2023 

(308 84) 
(1,07) 

(309.91) 

March 31,2023 

(267.85) 
245.00 

(1,09) 
(1,09) 
1000 

MArch 31, 2011 

105.99 
(304,84) 
1198.85) 

Marc.h 31, 1021 

156,69 
245,00 

0.64 
0.64 

]0,00 
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32. Other disclosures required as per Schedule III 

(a) Ageing schedules 

(i) Capital-Work-in-Progress (CWIP)# 

Amount in CWIP ror a period of 

As at March 31, 2023 
Less than 1 

1-2 years 2-3 years 
More than 3 

year years 
Total 

Projects in progress 2,541.73 2,542.07 1,479.21 1,519.87 8,082.88 

Amount in CWIP for a period of 

As at March 31, 2022 
Less than 1 

1-2 years 
More than 3 Total 

year 
2-3 years 

years 
Projects in progress 2,570.12 1,416.95 1,491.19 59.43 5,537.69 

# No project IS temporanly suspended. 

Details of capital-work-in progress (CWIP), whose completion is overdue 

As at March 31, 2023 
To be completed in 

Less than 1 yea r 1- 2 years 2 - 3 years More than 3 years 
Phase-3A Project ~ 7,766.09 - -

, , 
A Due to COVID-19 pandemIc overall project completIOn date shIfted from June 2022 to September 2023 and project 
cost increased from Rs. 10,550 crares to Rs 11,550 crores on account of additional interest during construction / 
expenditure during construction [refer note 44(0)]. 

As at March 31, 2022 
To be completed in 

Less than 1 year I - 2 ),ears 2 - 3 years More than 3 years 
NIL - - -

(ii) Trade Receivables 

As at March 31 2023 , 
Outstandin!! from the due date of navment Total 

Not Less than 6 6 months- 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 
due months I vear 3 vears 

Undisputed trade 

-

-

receivables - - 17.80 29.93 18.74 4.75 5.58 76.80 
considered ~ood 
Undisputed trade 
receivables -
which have - 0.51 0.01 - - 1.99 2.51 
significant increase 
in credit risk 
Disputed Trade 
Receivable~ - - - - - - -
Considered good 
Disputed trade 
receivables -
which have - - - - - - -
significant increase 
in credit risk 



Delhi International Airport Limited 
CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees crore, except otherwise stated) 

Less:- Allowance 
for bad and - (0.51) (0.01) - - (1.99) 
doubtful debts 
Trade Receivables 
as on March 31, - 17.80 29.93 18.74 4.75 5.58 
2023* 

'Unbilled receivables are shown as part of other financials assets (refer note 7), not included above. 

As at March 31 2022 , 
Outstandine from the due date of pa ment 

Not Less than 6 months 1-2 2-3 More than 3 
due 6 months -1 year years years years 

Undisputed trade receivables - - 124.10 13.29 8.57 8.49 4.53 considered good 
Undisputed trade receivables -
which have significant increase - - 0.61 - 0.11 1.32 
in credit risk 
Disputed Trade Receivable- -Considered good - - - - -
Disputed trade receivables -
which have significant increase - - - - - -
in credit risk 
Less :- Allowance for bad and 

(0.61) (0.11) (1.32) 
doubtful debts - - -
Trade Receivables as at March 

124.10 13.29 8.57 8.49 4.53 31,2022' -

'Unbilled receivables are shown as part of other financials assets (refer note 7), not included above. 

(iii) Trade Payables 

As at March 31 2023 , 
Provisions Not due Outstanding from the due date of payment 

Less than 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
1 vear vears 

Micro and small 27.50 7.58 0.85 0.03 0.06 0.00 
enterprises 
Others 20Q.43 128.93 79.91 0.24 0.44 0.07 
Disputed dues - MSME - - - - - -
Disputed dues - Others - - - - - -

As at March 31, 2022 
Provisions Not due Outstanding from the due date of payment 

Less than 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
1 year years 

Micro and small 23.76 12.24 1.36 0.05 0.01 0.01 
enterprises 
Others 204.64 45.21 17.55 0.48 0.89 0.44 
Disputed dues - MSME - - - - - -
Disputed dues - Others - - - - - -

(2.51) 

76.80 

Total 

158.98 

2.04 

-

-

(2.04) 

158.98 

Total 

36.02 

410.02 
-
-

Total 

37.43 

269.21 

-
-



Delhi International Airport Limited 
CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2023 
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(b)Promoter Shareholding in Holding Company: -
Name of promoter As at March 31, 2023 As at March 31, 2022 

Number of %of % Number of %of % 
shares total Change shares total Change 

shares during shares during 
the year the year 

GMR Airports Infrastructure 100 0.00% Nil \00 0.00% Nil 
Limited 
GMR Energy Limited 100 0.00% Nil 100 0.00% Nil 
GMR Airports Limited 1,567,999,798 64% Nil 1,567,999,798 64% Nil 
GMR Airports Limited along I 0.00% Nil 1 0.00% Nil 
with Mr. Srinivas Bommidala 
GMR Airports Limited along I 0.00% Nil 1 0.00% Nil 
with Mr. Grandhi Kiran 
Kumar 

(c) The Holding Company does not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or 
pending against the Holding Company for holding any Benami property. 

(d) The Holding Company has no transactions/balances with companies struck off under section 248 of the 
C . A 2013 th b t fth kn I d fC b I ompames ct, to e es 0 e ow elge 0 ompany' s management except e ow: 

Name of the Struck Nature of March 31, 2023 March 31, Relationship with Struck 
off Company Transaction 2022 off Company 

Delhi Aerotropolis Write off ofTnvestment - 0.\0 Subsidiary 
Private Limited 

(e) The Holding Company has not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual currency. 

(f) The Holding Company, its associate companies and joint venture companies have not advanced or loaned 
or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (intermediaries) with the 
understanding that the intermediary shall: 

(i) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Company (Ultimate Beneficiaries); or 

(ii) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; 

(g) The Holding Company, its associate companies and joint venture companies have not received any fund 
from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the understanding (whether 
recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Holding Company shall: 

(i) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Funding Party (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or; 

(ii) provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. 

(h) The Holding Company has used borrowings from Banks and financial institutions for the specific purpose 
for which it was taken at the balance sheet date. 

(i) The Holding Company has not been declared willful defaulter by any bank or financial Institution or other 
lender. 

(j) The Quarterly return/statements of current assets filed by the Company with banks and financial institutions 
in relation to secured borrowings wherever applicable are in agreement with books of accounts. 

t,f:~~j:o:':~'~~~:~,~, 
'?0')---~CCj~' il Cna:'tf)IPU )1 i!(:-.c:r 9·' 
.~. ~"'.''':';i'.\'~"; 
\..~~·-~\:f'~.:/ 
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(k) The Holding Company does not have any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts 
that has been surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income 
Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or surveyor any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 196\). 

33. Siguificant accounting jUdgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Holding Company's consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

33.1 Judgements 

In the process of applying the Holding Company's accounting policies, management of the Holding Company 
has made the following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Discounting ra te 

The Holding Company has considered incremental borrowing rate of Airport sector as at transition date for 
measuring deposits, being fmancial assets and financial liabilities, at amortised cost. The incremental borrowing 
rate have been revised for period starting from April I, 2022 for all the deposits taken/received post March 31, 
2022. The impact has, accordingly, been duly accounted for in these consolidated financial statements. 

Consideration of significant financing component in.a contract 

The Holding Company sells pouring rights at airport for which contract period is for more than one year. The 
Holding Company concluded that there is a significant financing component for those contracts where the 
customer elects to pay in advance considering the length of time between the customer's payment and rendering 
. services, as well as the prevailing interest rates in the market. 

In determining the interest to be applied to the amount of consideration, the Holding Company concluded that 
the interest rate implicit in the contract (Le., the interest rate that discounts the cash selling price of the equipment 
to the amount paid in advance) is appropriate because this is commensurate with the rate that would be reflected 
in a separate financing transaction between the entity and its customer at contract inception. 

Non applicability of Service Concession Arrangement (SCA) 

The Holding Company had entered into Operation, Management and Development Agreement ('OMDA') with 
Airports Authority of India (' AAI'), which gives Holding Company an exclusive right to operate, maintain, 
develop, modernize and manage the Delhi Airport on a revenue sharing model for an initial term of 30 years, 
which can be extended by another 30 years on satisfaction of certain terms and conditions pursuant to the 
provisions of the OMDA. Under the agreement, AAI has granted exclusive right and authority to undertake some 
of the functions of the AAI being the functions of operation, maintenance, development, design, construction, 
upgradation, modernization, finance and management of the Airport and to perform services and activities at the 
airport constituting' Aeronautical Services' and 'Non-Aeronautical Services'. For prices, aeronautical services 
are regulated, while the regulator has no control over determination of prices for non-aeronautical Services. The 
management of the Holding Company conducted detailed analysis to determine applicability of Appendix D of 
Ind AS 115 and concluded that the same does not apply to the Holding Company. Holding Company's concession 
arrangement has significant non-regulated revenues, which are apparently not ancillary in nature, as these are 
important from holding Company, AAI and users/passengers perspective. Further, the regulated and non­
regulated services are substantially interdependent and cannot be offered in isolation. The airport premise is 
being used both for providing regulated services (Aeronautical Services) and for providing non-regulated 
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services (Non-aeronautical Services). Accordingly, the management of Holding Company has concluded that 
SCA does not apply in its entirety to the Holding Company. 

Applicability of Service Concession Arrangement (SCA) 

Management of CELEB! has assessed applicability of Appendix C to Ind AS 115 - "Service concession 
arrangements" to Concessionaire agreement entered into by the CELEBI which gives it right to operate, maintain, 
develop modernise and manage the existing Cargo terminal for a period tiII March 31, 2034 and the new domestic 
terminal at Delhi for a period till March 31, 2021. In assessing the applicability, management of CELEB I has 
exercised significant judgement in relation to the underlying ownership of the assets, terms of the arrangement 
entered with the grantor, ability to determine prices, fair value of construction service, assessment of right to 
guaranteed cash etc. Based on detailed evaluation, management of CELEB I has determined that this arrangement 
meet the criteria for recognition as service concession arrangements. 

Annual Fee to AAI 

As per the Concession Agreement (OMDA) entered into with AAI in April 2006, the Holding Company is 
required to pay to AAI annual fee (AF) each year at 45.99% on its projected revenue and same shall be payable 
in twelve equal monthly instalments (MAF), to be paid in each calendar month. As per Article 1.1 of Chapter I 
of OMDA, "Revenue," is defined to mean all pre-tax gross revenue of Holding Company with certain specified 
exclusions. 
Management of the Holding Company is of the view that the certain income / credits arising on adoption of Ind­
AS was not in contemplation of parties in April 2006 when this Concession Agreement was signed / entered. 
Further, these income/credits in Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss do not represent actual receipts from 
business operations, from any external sources and therefore, these incomes/ credits should not be treated as 
"Revenue" for calculation of MAF to AAI. Accordingly, the Holding Company, basis above and legal opinion, 
has provided the monthly annual fee to AAI based on Revenue as per the Ind AS financial statements after 
adjusting such incomes/credits (refer note 36 (I) (h), (i) and 44 (h». 

33.2 ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year, are described below. The Holding Company based on its assumptions and estimates on 
parameters available when the standalone financial statements were prepared, existing circumstances and 
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising 
that are beyond the control of the Holding Company. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they 
occur. 

Taxes 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future 
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. 

Defined benefit plans 

The cost of the defined benefit plan and other post-employment benefits and the present value of the gratuity 
obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions 
that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, 
future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term 
nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are 
reviewed,at each ,reporting date. 

',;, ""', 
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The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In determining the appropriate discount rate for plans 
operated, management of the Holding Company considers the interest rates of government bonds in currencies 
consistent with the currencies of the post-employment benefit obligation. 

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specific countries. Those mortality tables 
tend to change only at interval in response to demographic changes. Future salary increases and gratuity increases 
are based on expected future inflation rates for the respective countries. 

Further details about gratuity obligations are given in Note 35(c). 

Provision for periodic maintenance 

As part of the CELEB!'s contractual obligation to maintain the cargo terminal to a specified level of 
serviceability, CELEBI has recognised a provision for planned maintenance in their financial statement. In 
determining the fair value of the provision, assumptions and estimates are made in relation to discount rates, the 
expected cost to replace the assets, inflation percentage and the expected timing of those costs. CELEBI has 
calculated the provision using the discounted cash flow (DCF) method based on the-following assumptions: 

- Discount rate: 7.25- 8.44% p.a. 

- Inflation percentage: 4 % p.a. 

Provision for Leave encashment 

The present value of leave encashment is determined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves 
making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the 
determination of discount rate, future salary increases, and withdrawal rates. Due to complexities involved in the 
valuation and its long-term nature, provision for leave encashment is sensitive to changes in these assumptions. 
All assumptions are reviewed at each consolidated balance sheet date. 

Contingencies 

Contingent liabilities may arise from the ordinary course of business in relation to claims against the Holding 
Company, including legal, contractor and other claims. By their nature, contingencies will be resolved only when 
one or more uncertain future events occur or fail to occur. The assessment ofthe existence, and potential quantum, 
of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant judgement and the use of estimates regarding the 
outcome of future events. 

Fair value measurement of financial instrnments 

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the balance sheet carmot be measured 
based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques. The inputs to 
these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity 
risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of 
financial instruments. See Note 38, 39 and 40 for further disclosures. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal 
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm's length, for similar 
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation 
is based on a discounting cash flow (DCF) model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five 
years, arid do Jlotjnclude restructuring activities that the Holding Company is not yet committed t\M)f'.~gni~cant 
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future investments that will enhance the asset's performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount 
is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the 
growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. 

(This space has been intentionally left blank) 
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.14. Relltted Party Transactions 

IF,uO'" "b,idi,,,i,, (includmg subsidiary companies ofthc ultImate/Intermediate 
iho!ding company) 

[Joint ventures 
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LThe Company had approved to strike off its investment in the Subsidiary Company in its board meeting dated February II, 2020. Purnuant to this, the Board of Directors ofDAPL, 
in its meeting held on June OS, 2020 had approved the .filing of application with the Registrar of Companies (ROC) for strike off. TIle application had been filed with the ROC on 
August 11,2020 and the approval for striking off and dissolution Wa5 received on December 09, 2021. DAPL was now struk-off and dissolved 

2.The Company had invested in DIGI Yatra foundation, a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) fOllned as central platform for identity management of passengers, as Joint Venture (JV) of 
Private Airport Operators and Airports Authority of India (AAI) as Section 8 Compan~ (Not for Profit Organization) under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. Further, it had 
been decided by AAI that initially AAI, Delhi International Airport Limited (DIAL) and Bangalore International Airport Limited (BIAL) will fonn this company with the shareholding 
ratio of 26:37:37 respectively. Currently, DIGI Yatra foundation is having paid up share capital of Rs. 10,000 and DIAL has invested Rll. 1,440 only (March 31, 2022: Rs. 2,220). 
Currentl~, 26% shareholding ofDigi Yalra Foundation will be held by AAI and remaining 74% shareholding will be equally divided amongst the Private Airport Operators viz. BIAL, 
Cochinlntemational Airport Limited (CIAL), DIAL, GMRHyderabad International Airpon Limited (GHIAL), Mumbai International Airport Limited (MIAL) i.e. 14.8% each 

3.GMR Aero Technic Limited has demerged the Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul (MRO) division and merged into GMR Air Cargo and Aerospace Engineering Limited. Therefore, 
the MRO business is now operated unde:r the new name "GMR Air cargo and Aerospace Engineering Limited" 

4. Due to !Dordmate delay in commencement of operation in GMR Bajoli Holi Hydropower Private Limited and basis the valuation report of the external valuer as at MlITch 31,2022, 
the Holding Company had created a provision for impairment in its investment in GMR BaJoh HoI! Private Limited for Rll 5160 crores in previous year. 

S. Change in the Name of 'GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited" from "GMR Infrastructure Limited" with effect from September 15, 2022 

6. The composite scheme of amalgamation and all"angement for amalgamation ofGMR Tuni-Anakapalh Expressways Limited (GTAEi..) and GMR Tambaram TlndlvanamE"pressways 
Limited (GTTEL) with GMR Highways Limited was approved by the Hon'ble National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai bench vide its order dated August 03, 2022 with AppOInted date 
of April 01, 2019. The said Tribunal order was filed with the Registrar of Companies b~ the Compan~, GTAEL and GTTELon August 11,2022 thereby the Scheme becoming effective on 
that date. 



Delhi Intemational Airport Limited 
CIN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements (or the year ended March 31, 2023 

(All amounts in Rupees Crore. except otherwiJle stated) 

34.Ji:l) Summary of balances with the above related._parties are as follows: 
Balances as at Date 

Investments in subsidiary. associates and Joint Ventures 
Investments in Unguoted Eguity Share 
Associates 
Celebi Delhi Cargo Terminal Management India Private Limited 
Travel Food services (Delhi Terminal 3) Ptivate Limited 
TIM Delhi Airport Advertising Private Limited 
Delhi Airport Parking Services Private Limited 
Digi Yatra Foundation 
Joint Ventures 
Delhi Aviation Services Private Limited 
Delhi Duty Free Services Private Limited 
Delhi Aviation Fuel Facility Private Limited 
GMR Bajoli Holi Hydropower Private Limited [refer note 36 (III) (B) (viii)J 

Provision for dimunition in value ofNon~Current Investments 
Joint Ventures 
GJ\.1R Bajoli Holi Hydropower Private Limited [refer note 36 (III) (B) (viii)] 

Trade Receivables <including marketing fund) 
Intermediate Holding Company 
GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
Holding Company 
GMR Airports Limited 
Associates 
TIM Delhi Airport Advertising Private Limited 
Fellow subsidiaries (including subsidiary companies of the ultimate! Intermediate holding company) 
GMR Aviation Private Limited 
GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited 

GMR Air Cargo and Aerospace Engineering (Formerly known us GMR Aero Technic Limited) 
GMR Highways Limited 
GMR Energy Trading Limited 
G:MR Pochanpalli Expressways Limited 
GMR Airport Developers Limited 
Raxa Security Services Limited 
GMR Consulting services Private Limited 
GlVIR Power and Urban Infra Limited 
GMR Green Energy Limited 
Joint Ventures 
GMR Bajoli Holi Hydropower Private Limited 

Joint Venture of Member of a Group of which DIAL is a Member 
GMR Warora Energy Limited 
GMR Vemagiri Power Generation Limited 
GMR Kamalanga Energy Limited 

GMR Megawide Cebu Airport Corporation 
Fellow associates (including associate companies of the ultimate! Intermediate holding company) 
GlVIR Tenaga Operations and Maintenance Private Limited 

Other Financial Assets - Current 
Unbilled receivables 
Intermediate Holding Company 
GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
Holding Company 
GMR Airports Limited 
Associates 
Delhi Airport Parking Services Private Limited 
TIM Delhi Airport Advertising Private Limited 
Celebi Delhi Cargo Terminal Management India Private Limited 
Travel Food Services (Delhi Terminal 3) Private Limited 
Joint Ventures 
Delhi Duty Free Services Private Limited 

Delhi Aviation Services Private Limited 

Fellow subsidiaries (including subsidiary companies of the ultimate! Intermediate Holding Company) 
GMR Aviation Private Limited 
GMR Air Cargo and Aerospace Engineering (Formerly known as GMR Aero Technic Limited) 

GMR Energy Tradjng Limited 

GMR PQwer a~d Urban:'Irafra Limited 
GMRAirpo~ D~-vekil;¢fs'.Ljmited 
EnterPrises in respect M,~bich the company is a joint venture 
Airobrts Authoritv of Indi\l,: 'i 

March 31, 2023 

54.69 
10.88 
51.14 
44.63 

(0.13) 

14.48 
285.69 

67.43 
67.13 

51.60 

1.20 

0.10 

0.65 

0.19 
. 

0.14 
1.14 
0.78 
2.84 
0.02 
D.26 
D.01 
2.77 
0.03 

0.14 

4.38 
2.83 
4.14 

0.07 

D.01 

7.91 
29.53 
17.98 

2.70 

12.92 

0.01 
0.06 

0.01 

March 31 2022 

76.37 

6.52 
39.86 
32.71 
(0.17) 

21.73 
234.58 

63.24 
109.41 

51.60 

0.03 

1.34 

142 

0.09 
0.25 

0.06 
4.71 
1.87 
2.96 

· 
0.12 

-
2.44 

· 

· 

4.32 
2.83 
1.77 
0.14 

· 

0.02 

0.01 

4.68 
18.69 
19.66 

(0.12) 

32.12 
1.82 

0.02 
0.02 

0.01 

0.60 

0.01 



Delhi International Airport Limited 
ClN. U63033DL2006PLC146936 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended Mar-ch 31, 2023 
(All amounts in Rupees Crore, except otherwise stated) 

34 (b) Summary of balances with the above related parties are as follows: 
Balances as at Date 
Other recoverable (('(lm related parties 
Joint Ventures 
Delhi Aviation Services Private Limited 
Delhi Duty Free Services Private Limited 
Associates 
Delhi Airport Parking Services Private Limited 
Celebi Delhi Cargo TerminaJ Management India Private Limited 
TIM Delhi Airport Advertising Private Limited 
DIG! Yatra Foundation 

Enterprises in respect of which the company is a joint venture 

Airports Authority ofIndia (including advance to AAI paid under protest) 
DIGI Yatra Foundation 

. 

Fellow subsidiaries <including subsidiary companies of the ultimatel Intermediate Holding Company) 

GMR Goa International Airport Limited 
GMR Pochanpalli Expressways Limited 
Advances recoverable in cash or kind 
Intermediate Holding Company 
GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
Joint Ventures 
GMR Bajoli Holi Hydropower Private Limited 

Provision against advance to AAI paid under nrotest 
Enterprises in respect of which the Company is a joint venture 
Airports Authority ofrndia [refer note 36 (I) (h) & (i)] 

Other Financial Assets ~ Current 
Non~ Trade Receivables (including marketing fund) 
Intermediate Holding Company 
GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
Holding Company 
GMR Airports Limited 
Enterprises in respect of which the company is a joint venture 
Airports Authority of India 
Fellow subsidiaries (including subsidiary -companies of the ultimate! Intermediate Holding Company) 
GMR Energy Trading Limited 
GMR Power and Urban Infra Limited 
GMR Airport Developers Limited 
Joint Venture of Member of a Group of which DIAL is a Member 
GMR Warora Energy Limited 
GMR Kanlalanga Energy Limited 
GMR Vemagiri Power Generation Limited 
Associates 
Celebi Delhi Cargo Terminal Management India Private Limited 
TIM Delhi Airport Advertising Private Limited 
Enterprises in respect of which the company is a joint venture 
Airports Authority of India 
Trade payable !including marketing fund)~Current 
Intermediate Holding Company 
GMR Airports Infrastructure Limited 
Holding Company 
GMR Airports Limited 
Associates 
TIM Delhi Airport Advertising Private Limited 
Travel Food Services (Delhi Terminal 3) Private Limited 
Joint Venturts 
Delhi Aviation fuel facility Private Limited 
Enterprises where significant influence of key Management personnel or their relative exists 
GMR Varalakshmi Foundation 
Fellow subsidiaries (including subsidiary companies of the ultimatel Intennediate Holding Company) 
Raxa Security Services Limited 
GMR Energy Trading Limited 
GMR Airport Developers Limited 
GMR Hyderabad International Airport Limited 
GEOKNO India Private Limited 
GMR Hospitality & RetajJ Limited 
GMR Power,aM lTrl:llln'Jrlfr.a limited 
Enterpris~ in"re~pect of'ivtii~h the company is a joint venture 
Airports Authority of India \ \ 
Fraport A:e 'Frankfurt Airport S'e~~ices Worldwide 

.....•.••• ,:(j/ 

March 31, 2021 

-
0.09 

0.05 
0.11 
0.11 

-

489.42 
0.17 

0.27 

-

2.22 

62.31 

489.42 

0.02 

0.08 

84.50 

0.46 
0.37 
0.57 

28.55 

13.23 

37.80 

0.11 

2.09 
0.10 
1.59 

March 31, 2022 

0,10 
0.08 

0.05 
0.10 
0.59 
0.16 

489.42 

-

0.27 
0.02 

-
6.82 

489.42 

0.05 

7.94 

0.11 
0.02 

0.46 
0.10 
0.57 

3.92 
0.45 

7.94 

0.70 

8.68 

0_25 
0.28 

0_03 

0.01 

7.70 
O.ot 
0.04 
0.01 

0.01 

17,02 
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